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Definitions

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following ~RANFERAP - BrXE B BRI » A N AE

expressions shall have the following meanings:

“Articles” or “Articles of Association”

(AR Sk [AEBEIZAA

“Audit Committee”
[EZLE g

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

-

“BVI
[RBRZES ]

"CEO"
[1TER AR

“CG Code”

[EEERTA

“China” or “PRC”
[

“Company”

YNGR

“Compliance Committee”

[ARZEE]

“Controlling Shareholders”

[ AR

HEBEUTRE

the amended and restated articles of association of the Company, adopted on 7 September
2020 and took effect on the Listing Date, and as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time fo time

ARARZZEZFNALBERARN LT EHREBNLETREST BB EIZM
Al (BATBER] - MR A H 75 &2k

the audit committee of the Board
EETEEZRLXEY

the board of Directors

B¢

the British Virgin Islands
EERELHS

the chief executive officer of the Company

ARAITHARE

the “Corporate Governance Code” set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (version up to
31 December 2021) in force during FY2022

RZZEZ_FUHRFEERN LTRANETMUAEM X LT (BEZF
Z—FFZ A=+ —AHMRAN)

the People’s Republic of China, which excludes, for the purpose of this annual report only,
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
hEARAME  EREAFHEME  TREESE  RFIREE

Skymission Group Holdings Limited (X 1 5 #1225 BR 2 R), a company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on 31 May 2019 under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands

REEEZERBRLAF —RARERSHESARVER - NAFHAA=+—HEHM
ERSTMRIZERRERAA]

the compliance committee of the Board
E=ZgAH%ES

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, unless the context requires
otherwise, collectively refers to Sky Mission and Mr. Leung Yam Cheung, who, together,
controls the exercise of 30% or more of the voting power at general meetings of the
Company

AR FTARAETFZANRELGRXESAREIN  BRRERREFRLE (BEH
RIRARRRRARE EZEHITT630% 3k A ER)IRERE) B4
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“Director(s)"

=&

“ESG”
[ESG

“ESG Committee”
[ESCZEE]

“FY2021"
—E-—FURFE]

“FY2022"
TR FYPHEE]

“Group”, “our Group”, “we” or “us”

[AREE ]3]

"HK$" or "Hong Kong dollar(s)" or
“HKD” and “cent(s)’

[PE7T] R [l

“Kennex”

Bl

“Listing”

[ ]
“Listing Date”
[ £ A8
“Listing Rules”
[ EmAR A

“Model Code”

Definitions

the director(s) of the Company

RABE=R

Environmental, Social and Governance
RIE - -2 kEAR

the ESG committee of the Board

EESSCEE®

the financial year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ZE-_—F=A=+—HULBHBFE

the financial year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_T-_—_F=-A=1+—ALFBEE

the Company and its subsidiaries
RATREKHBAR

Hong Kong dollar(s) and centls), respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
DRREREEEE BT RB

Kennex Scaffolding Systems Co., Limited (& /7 B4 X & BB 2 7)), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 23 March 2015 with limited liability and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company
BAOBREZFERLAR  —HRZZE-—MF=ZAZT=REAEBTMEATHNERR
AIRAARRRIREEEEN BT

the listing of Shares on the Stock Exchange by way of placing and public offer on the Listing
Date
BONRERARABEN TN LT B BER AT L/

29 September 2020, the date of listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

“ECTRFAACTAR  ROEBZATIRET B

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

B prag  E AR B (EAEHERT - Wit AR 7T g2

the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
AR EETATE ETRBITAESETIE SR ZHELESFE]
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Definitions

“New CG Code”

[T EER<TA
“Nomination Committee”
B3

“Prospectus”
(R EE ]

“Remuneration Committee”

[FZE 2|
“SFO”
(587 M ' 1R P ]

“Share(s)”

[ B 2

“Shareholder(s)’
[ %2R

“Sky Mission”

[ RE]

“Stock Exchange”

[ B 32 7 |
“Temmex”

[ R3]

“Temmex Brothers”

[RELH]

vop
[%]

the new Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules which
came into effect on 1January 2022 and shall apply to the Company’s corporate governance
report for the financial year commencing on 1 April 2022
EFHRRMETOMBEZR — T - —F - A - BERNHEERERTR - SEARN
RRAFRR T __FHA - HRABNTBRFENERE RS

the nomination committee of the Board

EXeRE%EE

prospectus of the Company dated 15 September 2020
AARBBHAZE-_TFNLATHANBRER

the remuneration committee of the Board

ETeVMEES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEREDIESNERZ 7 REEHRD - KB ARHEET » FiFEs AR 77 (82K

the ordinary sharels) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
RRATRATFIREE 0.0 A E B

the holderl(s) of the Shares
fEHEE A

Sky Mission Group Limited (X F#% % B PR 2 A1), a company incorporated in the BVI with
limited liability on 12 February 2019 and wholly owned by Mr. Leung Yam Cheung
AAERERAR  — MR- NF_A T+ ERBERHES MK ER
RE AHRREREEZERSR

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMER AR RDF

Temmex Engineering Limited (X3 T 28 R A 1), a company incorporated in Hong Kong
on 21 October 1998 with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

REIRBRAR  —HR—NAANEFTAZT+—BEEEIMAINBR AR K
BRARNGIMEL2ENRB AR

Temmex Brothers Engineering Limited (X 3& 5. 25 T2 B PR A &), a company incorporated
in Hong Kong on 9 October 2008 with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Company

REABIRBRAR  —HRZZEZNGFTANBEEEIMAINBR AT R
RANGIMEL2ENB AR

per cent.
ALl
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

On behalf of the Board, | am glad to present the annual results of the Group for
FY2022 to our Shareholders.

REVIEW

During FY2022, our Group revenue has increased by 0.8%, from approximately
HK$534.3 million for FY2021 to approximately HK$538.4 million for FY2022.
The increase is mainly attributable to the net effect on decrease in revenue of
approximately HK$128.8 million recognised from the Projects TMB-75, TMB-82,
TMB-87 and TMB-94 which were completed during FY2021 and the increase of
revenue recognised from new Projects TMB-107, TMB-115, TMB-117 and TMB-118,
which altogether contributed approximately HK$132.9 million to the total revenue
for FY2022.

Our Group has recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$56.1 million for
FY2022, representing a decrease of approximately HK$15.8 million or 21.9% from
approximately HK$71.9 million for FY2021. The decrease in gross profit was mainly
resulted from the increase in sub-contracting costs due to an increasing use of
sub-contractors to meet tight project timelines and price competition for new
formwork works contract in the industry.

Basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HK1.80 cents for FY2022, and approximately HK4.32 cents for
FY2021.

During FY2022, some of the potential customers postponed or delayed tender
and technical meeting scheduled with us as part of their social distancing policy
or due fo the work from home arrangement of the project owners, which in turn
prolonged the tender process. The potential customers opted for postponement
as they found virtual meetings unconducive to project planning and contract
negotiation.

PROSPECT

Looking ahead, as the COVID-19 pandemic subsists and the tendering process
continues to delay, the Group is expecting fewer number of newly-awarded
projects in the near future, which will in turn affect the financial performance of
the Group adversely. We will continue to adopt a cautious and prudent approach
to business enquiries, tenders, quotation invitations and project planning and
use its best endeavours to maintain profitability in individual projects by factoring
in a higher profit margin, taking into account the intensifying competition in the
formwork works industry and the increasing wage level of formwork workers in
Hong Kong. Moreover, we will continue to use its best efforts to identify suitable
opportunities in line with its cost control policy and risk management policy and
submit tenders for potential projects.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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REZZBZFHPHRFEHHE  A&EERAR
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The Board is optimistic towards the outlook of the industry and is confident that
the Group’s business will continue to operate in a stable way in the long run with
the HKSAR government's plan to gradually avert the current supply-demand
imbalance in housing units in Hong Kong through the Long Term Housing
Strategy.

APPRECIATION

The Group’s achievements are attributable to the effective hard work of all
employees, the steadfast trust of partners, and the unwavering strong support
of Shareholders. On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my heartfelt gratitude to our management team, staff members,
Shareholders, clients, suppliers, subcontractors and business partners.

We will try our every best to overcome all such coming challenges by our team
efforts and to strive forward and create better returns for Shareholders.

Leung Yam Cheung
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022

Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

ESUATEMRBFEBEE  YAE
BE & &8 1 R BN At 81 BB & B E 55 BB
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEENWR DN

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND FUTURE PROSPECT

The Group is an established formwork works subcontractor in Hong Kong with
an operating history of over 20 years. During the year ended 31 March 2022 and
up fo the date of this report, the Group has been providing traditional formwork
works services to its customers by using timber and plywood and system
formwork works services using aluminum formwork.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group secured 6 new contracts with
total original contract value of approximately HK$328.1 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 51.9% compared to the year ended 31 March 2021 of
approximately HK$681.9 million. All of these projects started contributing revenue
to the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022.

The contract rates expected by the main contractors in some potential projects
were lower than the confract rates the Group could offer to maintain the gross
profit margin at the current level. Further, the Board noficed the rising wage level
of formwork workers in Hong Kong. Therefore, the Group adopted a cautious
approach in preparing tenders in pursuance of potential projects, and avoided
undertaking thin-margin projects which could ultimately be loss-making due to
unforeseen circumstances. As a result of the foregoing, the Group secured fewer
new contracts during the year ended 31 March 2022 compared to the year ended
31 March 2021.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has a total of 13 projects on hand with the
estimated total outstanding contract value of approximately HK$481.1 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 8.5% as compared with the estimated
total outstanding contract value of approximately HK$526.0 million as at 31
March 2021. With the projects on hand, it is expected that the performance of the
subcontract works will remain steady for the coming years.

In light of the challenging situations arising from the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic, the management of the Group closely monitored the projects
progress, maintained close communication with other stakeholders on the
project works schedules and arrangements throughout the year ended 31 March
2022 to keep operational progress on track and to avoid any material supply
chain disruptions due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group
will continue to adopt a cautious and prudent approach to business enquiries,
tenders, quotation invitations and project planning and use its best endeavours
to maintain profitability in individual projects by factoring in a higher profit margin,
taking into account the intensifying competition in the formwork works industry
and the increasing wage level of formwork workers in Hong Kong. The Group
will continue to use its best efforts to identify suitable opportunities in line with its
cost control policy and risk management policy and submit tenders for potential
projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year ended 31 March 2022, some of the potential customers
postponed or delayed tender and technical meeting scheduled with us as part
of their social distancing policy or due to the work from home arrangement of
the project owners, which in turn prolonged the tender process. The potential
customers opted for postponement as they found virtual meetings unconducive
to project planning and contract negotiation. Looking ahead, as the COVID-19
pandemic subsists and the tendering process continues to delay, the Group is
expecting fewer number of newly-awarded projects in the near future, which will
in furn affect the financial performance of the Group adversely.

With the HKSAR government's plan to gradually avert the current supply-demand
imbalance in housing units in Hong Kong through the Long Term Housing

BEERWR DT

REBEE_E-_—_F=ZA=+—HUILFE" A
BFHR E%ﬁ*iEFEE%ﬁAﬁﬁ
TEREE  BLBERPHEIEERER
@ﬁﬁ?ﬁ%&ﬁ?% Him<BIZERFE
H ARBERFEREREZTMNIER
HEREHEN BESFEEHEERZE B
£51EJK B COVID-19 B BB E I X HIZE
BIREEKE  ANEBEBEFRN T AN RN
FIRIBEMNHEE SRS EMEEH AR
MR EX T E -

%F%%ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁﬂLﬂﬁ%%F”
ZAAEE I EEEERELAENHM -

Strategy, the Board is optimistic towards the outlook of the industry and is =& HITER SIFLBEE - ]IE:{Z%?P‘H@
confident that its business will continue fo operate in a stable way inthe long run.  #EERHETES -

FINANCIAL REVIEW B %% 151 8

Revenue A

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$538.4 million, representing an increase of 0.8% comparing with that of
approximately HK$534.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2021, which mainly
attributable to the net effect on decrease in revenue of approximately HK$128.8
million recognised from Projects TMB-75, TMB-82, TMB-87 and TMB-94 which
were completed during the year ended 31 March 2021 and the increase of
revenue recognised from new Projects TMB-107, TMB-115, TMB-117 and TMB-118,
which altogether contributed approximately HK$132.9 million to the total revenue
for the year ended 31 March 2022. Set out below is the revenue breakdown of the
Group derived from public sector projects and private sector projects for the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021:

REBEE-_ZE-_—_F#=A=+—HIEEE XK
EEBEWALSBAEEET BKREZ
S F=ZA=+—HIFENH53438
BB MN0s% WMNEZEREE =
T F®=ZA=Z+—HIFERTINAE
B TMB-75 - TMB-82 - TMB-87 } TMB-94 % :2
W AR D #)128.8 8 &8 T & B #1718 B TMB-
107 * TMB-115 » TMB-117 }2 TMB-118 &AM A I8
mEEREE=_E-_—F=A=+—A1
FERERABEOI13298 88T (FY
B TXEIAEERBEZ_T =
&_7_f¢ A=+—HILEFERER
EEPIIEE MALEEPITE B MU A RBA ¢

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZRA=t—-HLEFE
2022 2021
—E-CF T

No. of Percentage No. of Percentage
projects Revenue of revenue projects Revenue of revenue
EWA fEA
HEEE A BAk EHEHE WA B
HK$°000 (%) HK$000 (%)
FHET (%) FET (%)
Public secfor projects NEEPIEE 14 398,983 74.1 19 334,828 627
Private sector projects ~ FL&E#FIIEE 1 139,372 25.9 18 199,452 373
Total Bt 25 538,355 100.0 37 534,280 100.0

1
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEENRR DM

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately HK$15.8 million or 21.9%
from approximately HK$71.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$56.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The Group’s gross profit margin decreased from approximately 13.5% for the year
ended 31 March 2021 to approximately 10.4% for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The decreases in gross profit and gross profit margin were mainly resulted from
the increase in sub-contracting costs due to an increasing use of sub-contractors
to meet tight project timelines and price competition for new formwork works
contract in the industry.

Other income

The Group’s other income decreased from approximately HK$21.5 million for the
year ended 31 March 2021 to nil for the year ended 31 March 2022. This was
mainly due to the receipt of government grants in respect of anti-epidemic fund
for the year ended 31 March 2021 while no such grant was received during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

Administration and other operating expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses and other operating expenses increased
from approximately HK$17.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$20.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2022, representing
an increase of approximately 18.7%. The increase was mainly attributable to
an increase in staff costs during the year ended 31 March 2022 mainly due to
an increase in number of administrative and operating staff and an increase in
business development activities during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs increased from approximately HK$0.5 million for the
year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$1.1 million for the year ended 31
March 2022 which was mainly aftributable to an increase in interest on interest-
bearing borrowings fo finance the Group’s working capital during the year ended
31 March 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Income tax expense

The Group’s income tax expenses decreased from approximately HK$9.3 million
for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$5.7 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022, representing a decrease of approximately HK$3.6 million
or 38.9%. The decrease was mainly attributable to a decrease in assessable
profits of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, profit attributable to owners of the Company
decreased by approximately HK$31.8 million or 52.5% from approximately
HK$60.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 compared to approximately
HK$28.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Final Dividend

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of any final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group principally finances its operations from its business operations,
interest-bearing borrowings and equity contribution from its shareholders. As
at 31 March 2022, the Group had net current assets of approximately HK$321.4
million (31 March 2021: HK$286.2 million) and cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$32.4 million (31 March 2021: HK$56.7 million).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's total equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$360.2 million (31 March 2021:
HK$331.4 million), and the Group’s total interest-bearing borrowings and lease
liabilities amounted to approximately HK$51.9 million which are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars (31 March 2021: HK$43.7 million).

The Directors have confirmed that the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to meet its obligations as they fall due for at least the next twelve
months from the end of 31 March 2022 and accordingly, our consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

BEERWR DT

Friemp X

AEBNASHASHBEE S —F=
A=+—BLFEMNHIISEEETLRLE
BHE-_T-_F=RA=+—HItFEEMNHS57
BEBT RIEALY36EBEBIITHIB8.9%
WO EEZHRAEEREBEEZE_T -

Z A=+ —BUEFENERE RN AT

ARTHAABEARFEEZFRZEIR
A

R BISCFT AR RHAE ARG R BE
E-FE - FZA=ZT—HILFEMHL606
BEEBTRAHNSEEBITH525%EE,
BT —HFZA=+—BHILFEHHL?288
AEBTT

KREAIR R

EFQCRBTERBE_ZT-__F=A
=t—BUEFENEAMRARS (T~
FE) -

RBETRUBER

AEBETZEEKEE  FFEERRRER
BIEAELBRHEES RZT__F=
A=+—H ZAEENRHEEFEAY
A4 ERBT(ZE—F=—A=+—H:
2862B BB URIBERIBITEHKR AL
NIEEBET(ZE-_—FE=A=+—8":
56.7EBEIT) °

RZZE-_—F=A=+—"H KRB EEA
JEME A EEBER ABH3602B 85T (=
T-—FZA=+—H:3B4EEBT) X
REBMUBTHENETEERLEEAR
BHSNIIBEAL (ZE—F=ZA=1+—
H: 4378887 °

BEEOHR AEESERRMEERRT
HE-Z-—F=A=+—RHEzEDIK
R+Z@ARHENZET  WRMOGE
PHRRCIEFELCEEERE -

KESEERBERA R F3k 2021/22

13



Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On 29 September 2020, the Group’s shares were successfully listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing”). There has been no change in the
capital structure of the Group since then. The share capital of the Group only
comprised of ordinary shares.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2022, the gearing ratio (calculated on the basis of total debts
divided by total equity of the Group) was approximately 14.2% (31 March 2021:
12.7%).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no significant capital commitments as at 31 March 2022 (31 March
2021: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2022 (31
March 2021: Nil).

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

The Group had no charges on assets as at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021: Nil).

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Company does not have significant exposure on foreign currency risk as most
of the monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
The management will consider suitable hedging instruments against significant
currency exposure should the need arises.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

TREASURY POLICY

The Group continues to follow a prudent policy in managing the Group’s cash
and maintaining a strong and healthy liquidity to ensure that the Group is well
placed to take advantage of any future growth opportunities. To manage liquidity
risk, the Directors closely monitor the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the
liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments can
meet its funding requirements from time to time.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group principally operates in one business segment, which is providing
formwork works services in Hong Kong.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries or associated companies.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group had no significant investment
held.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and the announcement dated 28 September
2020, the Group does not have other plans for material investments and capital
assefs.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed 1,212 employees (31 March 2021: 1,161).
The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its workforce by
providing them with adequate and regular training. The Group remunerates its
employees mainly based on industry practices and individual's performance and
experience. On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus may be granted
to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s performance as well as individual's
performance.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no important events affecting the Group subsequent to 31 March 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEENRR DM

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The net proceeds from the Listing (after deducting the underwriting fees and other
related expenses paid by the Company in connection with the Share Offer) which
amounted to approximately HK$81.1 million was/will be used for the intended
purposes as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
of the Prospectus and the announcement of the Company dated 28 September
2020. The Group adjusted the allocation of the use of net proceeds for the below
purposes on a pro rata basis in the same manner as shown in the Prospectus.

The below table sets out the use of net proceeds, the unutilised net proceeds and
the expected timeline for utilising the unutilised net proceeds from the Listing up
to 31 March 2022:

LHARAERIRFEE AR

E TS RIRF R (R R AR B B A 3
EXNZBHEERREMABRRKR) G
BLIASBEBLE, BRBREIERKE
EFSHRERZ] — SR ARRBEHRAE-F
“EENAR-TNBZAERERERE
A BBRARERMAR BRI - K&
Bz PIHE T Mg 2 SRR R E
A EC

TREFINBELELTREZE T -__F= A
=+ HABREFENRR  KBAME
REFEARBBRPEMEHRIBFENSE
HABF IR -

Actual use of

net proceeds Unutilised  Expected
upto  balance asat  timeline for utilising
Planned use of 31 March 31 March  for unutilised net
net proceeds up in total 2022 2022 proceeds
EE
“EC-CE ®
ZA=+-H —EICE
R ZAZt-H BRXBA
ARABHEFEN REN WABA FERERE
B sk ERAZ g NEARR
HK$ million % HKS$ million HKS$ million
BEET % BEET BEET
Enhancing the Group’s financial position for the 493 60.8 493 - Not Applicable
purpose of securing additional and large-scale
formwork works projects and expanding its
capability to offer system formwork work services
BEREZEMSBMN  NESESNARRRIRER ok
TEAHRERGER TRREME
Increasing the Group’s stock of metal scaffold 17.5 21.6 17.5 - Not Applicable
equipment and related parts
ENMASENSBRERBREBENER ek
Further strengthening the Group’s manpower to 7.3 9.0 5.6 1.7 By 30 September
cope with its business development 2022
E-IMEAEENA NN EHEBER “T--FNA
=1RH
General working capital of the Group 7.0 8.6 7.0 - Not Applicable
AEEN-ReEES TR
Total 81.1 100.0 79.4 1.7

st

The unutilised proceeds has been deposited in the bank accounts with licensed
banks in Hong Kong.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THE RISK ON THE OPERATION AFFECTED BY THE COVID-19
PANDEMIC

The number of COVID-19 cases increased significantly in the fifth wave of
COVID-19 pandemic. In response, the HKSAR government introduced stringent
“dynamic zero COVID” policies to control the pandemic from further deteriorating.
If the development of COVID-19 pandemic intensifies and/or further social
distancing policies are infroduced, the economy in Hong Kong may be adversely
affected. In such event, the resultant unfavourable economic conditions of Hong
Kong, dampened market sentiment and decreased purchasing power of the
general public could be a disincentive for property developers or other ultimate
customers to commence new construction projects, thus delaying or reducing the
number of new projects to be awarded to us.

Health and safety risks during the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic may also lead
to labour shortage, increase in construction costs, and interruption of our business
operation. If any personnel working in the project site has been confirmed positive
for COVID-19, he/she will be subject to mandatory quarantine for seven days
or longer. Stringent rules imposed on construction workers, including frequent
mandatory testing and limitations on on-site activities, may reduce the supply of
skilled labour, increase in wages of the workers, and delay in our work schedules.
Some construction workers may not report duty immediately after vaccination due
to side effects from vaccination of the COVID-19 vaccines. The wages of workers
may therefore be increased and thus the construction costs if we face any labour
shortage or if we need urgent replacements. Progress of such projects may be
delayed and our business operations would be interrupted.

These adverse impacts, if materialise and persist for a substantial period, may
adversely affect our business operation and financial performance.

However, since the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020, the Group has
implemented measures, including frequent workspace cleaning with disinfectant,
arranging COVID-19 vaccine holiday, conducting temperature screening at entry
of construction sites, and hand sanitising, etc. The Group will continue to closely
monitor the development of COVID-19 pandemic and will take necessary actions
to maintain environmental hygiene. We are confident that we are able to weather
through the pandemic crisis.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s right-of-use assets of approximately HK$0.6
million (2021: approximately HK$1.5 million) were included in the property, plant
and equipment, and its lease liabilities were approximately HK$0.7 million (2021:
approximately HK$1.6 million). The related right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are all located in Hong Kong.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEBNEREFS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung

Mr. Leung Yam Cheung (formerly known as Leung Wah Fei) (“Mr. Leung/Mr.
Leung Yam Cheung’), aged 64, is the chairman of the Board and an executive
Director. He was appointed as a Director on 31 May 2019 and re-designated
as an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board on 4 November
2019. He is also a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee. Mr. Leung is primarily responsible for formulating the
overall development strategies and business plans, and overseeing the general
management and daily operations of the Group. Mr. Leung has been serving as
a director of all the operating subsidiaries, including Temmex, Temmex Brothers
and Kennex, since December 1998, October 2008, and March 2015, respectively.

Mr. Leung commenced working as a formwork works apprentice and has gained
extensive working experience. Eventually, he started carrying out the business of
the Group through Temmex, Temmex Brothers and Kennex.

Mr. Leung aftended primary school in Shenzhen, China.

Mr. Leung is the father of Mr. Leung Wing Hoi and Mr. Leung Wing Chun. Mr.
Leung Wing Hoi is an executive Director and the CEO and Mr. Leung Wing Chun is
an executive Director.

He is the sole director and sole shareholder of Sky Mission, which directly holds

75% of the Shares, as disclosed in the “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in
Shares and Underlying Shares” section of the Directors’ Report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Leung Wing Hoi

Mr. Leung Wing Hoi ("Mr. WH Leung”), aged 41, is an executive Director and the
CEO. He was appointed as a Director and re-designated as an executive Director
on 4 November 2019. He is also a member of ESG Committee. With effect from
10 January 2022, Mr. WH Leung has been appointed as the CEO, the member
of each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee and
the chairman of Compliance Committee. Mr. WH Leung is mainly responsible
for overseeing the computer and system design functions, the sales, quantity
surveying and the client communication functions of the Group.

Mr. WH Leung first joined the Group as an operation manager of each of Temmex
and Temmex Brothers in November 2017, worked until March 2018, and has then
rejoined the Group with the same positions since November 2018.

Mr. WH Leung has over 16 years of experience in the digital media and
information technology industry. In this regard, which includes Mr. WH Leung
began his career as a junior designer at iConcept Design & Multimedia Co.
Limited from June 2004 to August 2004 and i010.com (International) Limited from
August 2004 to August 2005. Mr. WH Leung later worked at Pacificlink iMedia
Limited from October 2006 to July 2015, with his last position being an associate
creative director. Mr. WH Leung also enjoyed a short stint at Pixo Punch Limited
as a creative director from July 2015 to March 2016. Mr. WH Leung served as a
creative director of each of Accenture Plc from April 2016 to November 2017 and
As One Interactive Limited from April 2018 to April 2019.

Mr. WH Leung obtained his bachelor of arts degree (visual communication)
maijoring in digital media from the KvB Institute of Technology (now known as the
Raffles College of Design and Commerce) in Australia in July 2005.

Mr. WH Leung is a son of Mr. Leung Yam Cheung and an elder brother of Mr.
Leung Wing Chun. Mr. Leung Yam Cheung is the chairman of the Board and an
executive Director and Mr. Leung Wing Chun is an executive Director.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSNERENERFE

Mr. Leung Wing Chun

Mr. Leung Wing Chun (“Mr. WC Leung”), aged 37, is an executive Director. He
was appointed as a Director and re-designated as an executive Director on 4
November 2019. He is also a member of the Compliance Committee. Mr. WC
Leung is mainly responsible for overseeing the overall project management and
the operations of the business of the Group.

Mr. WC Leung underwent his apprenticeship as a personal assistant to Mr. Leung
Yam Cheung from July 2002 to May 2013. Mr. WC Leung then joined the Group as
a project manager of Temmex since June 2013, and is primarily responsible for
overseeing and supervising various projects of Temmex and acts as the key point
of contact at work sites. After four years of training as a project manager, he was
promoted and has been a director of Temmex Brothers since July 2017.

Mr. WC Leung obtained his Certificate of Safety Supervisor (Construction Industry)
issued by Origin Production Limited trading as The Hong Kong Safety Training
Association in April 2007.

Mr. WC Leung is a son of Mr. Leung Yam Cheung and a younger brother of Mr.

WH Leung. Mr. Leung Yam Cheung is the chairman of the Board and an executive
Director and Mr. WH Leung is an executive Director and the CEO.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang

Mr. Yau Sheung Hang (formerly known as Yau Ngan Fei) ("Mr. Yau”), aged 48, is
a non-executive Director. He was appointed as a Director and re-designated as
a non-executive Director on 4 November 2019. Mr. Yau is mainly responsible for
providing strategic advice to the Broad.

Mr. Yau has gained over 14 years of experience in audit, tax, accounting and
company secrefarial matters. In this regard, he worked as an audit clerk at Simon
Choy & Co. from May 2009 to March 2013 and a senior audit manager at W.H.
Shum & Co. from November 2017 to November 2018. He is a shareholder (who
owns as to 50%) and since June 2007 has been a director of Charmway Strategic
Limited (formerly known as Global Prospect Limited, which was the former
corporate secretary of each of (i) Temmex from October 2010 to August 2018; (ii)
Temmex Brothers from October 2008 to August 2018; and (iii) Kennex from March
2015 to January 2019). Mr. Yau has been the sole director of Harold Accounting
Services Limited from April 2016 to June 2021.

Mr. Yau obtained his bachelor of arts degree in translation from the Lingnan
College Hong Kong (now known as the Lingnan University) in November 1997,
and his master of science degree in professional accounting and corporate
governance from the City University of Hong Kong in February 2009. Mr. Yau has
been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
October 2017.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEBNEREFS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ng Lin Fung

Mr. Ng Lin Fung ("Mr. Ng“), aged 81, is an independent non-executive Director
appointed on 7 September 2020. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee. He is responsible for the supervision and provision of independent
judgement to the Board.

Mr. Ng has over 51 years of experience in the banking and finance industry in
Hong Kong. He worked at Nanyang Commercial Bank in Hong Kong from 1965
t0 1999, with his last position being a deputy general manager. Mr. Ng has been
the chairman of International Po Fung Finance Holdings Limited since 1999.

Mr. Ng has held and currently holds advisory positions in various institutions. In
this regard, he (i) was the Hong Kong affairs adviser to each of the Hong Kong
and Macao Affairs Office of the State Council and Xinhua News Agency (Hong
Kong Branch) on Hong Kong affairs between 1995 to 1997; (i) was a committee
member of each of the 6th, 7th and 8th of the Fujian Province Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference between 1992 to 2001;
(iii) has been a member of the Election Committee of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the National People’s Congress since 1998; (iv) was
the president and has been an honorary president of the Hong Kong Chinese
Importers’ & Exporters’ Association from 1995 to 1998 and since 1999, respectively;
(v) was a committee member and has been an honorary committee member of
The Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, Hong Kong from 1999 to 2014 and
since 2015, respectively; and (vi) has been the president of The Hong Kong Chi
Tung Association Limited since 2017.

Mr. Ng attended the Beijing Institute of Physical Education (now known as the
Beijing Sport University), majoring in physical education theory, from 1961 to 1962.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chu Hau Lim

Mr. Chu Hau Lim (“Mr. Chu”), aged 56, is an independent non-executive Director
appointed on 7 September 2020. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee,
a member of each of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Compliance Committee. With effect from 24 September 2021, Mr. Chu
was re-designated from a member of the Nomination Committee to the chairman
of the Nomination Committee. He is responsible for the supervision and provision
of independent judgement to our Board.

Mr. Chu is a professional accountant with over 30 years of experience in auditing
and business advisory services as well as corporate finance and financial
management work. He was the Chief Financial Officer of companies listed
in Hong Kong. In addition, he was an independent non-executive director of
Power Financial Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 397) from September 2017 to April 2020.

Mr. Chu obtained his master of business administration (MBA) degree at the
Heriot-Watt University in the United Kingdom in July 1997. Mr. Chu has been an
associate of The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants (now known as
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants) from October 1990 to October
1995, and has then been a fellow of The Chartered Association of Certified
Accountants since October 1995.

Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond

Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond (“Mr. Leung KH"), aged 54, is an independent non-
executive Director appointed on 7 September 2020. He is also a member of the
Remuneration Committee. He then appointed as a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 24 September 2021.
He is responsible for the supervision and provision of independent judgment to
the Board.

Mr. Leung KH has over 33 years of experience in the construction industry and
possesses extensive knowledge in planning and managing construction projects
of various nature. Mr. Leung KH is currently an executive director, the chairman
and the chief executive officer of Chi Ho Development Holdings Limited, a
company principally engaged in renovation, maintenance, alteration and addition
works and fitting-out works services in Hong Kong, and a company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8423).
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Mr. Leung KH worked inifially as a trainee quantity surveyor and was promoted to
assistant quantity surveyor in Shui On Building Contractors Limited from January
1989 to June 1990. He was then employed as an assistant quantity surveyor and
was promoted to quantity surveyor from June 1990 to September 1991 in Maeda
Corporation where his duties included quantity surveying works, tendering works
and civil engineering measurement works. From August 1992 to September 1993,
he was employed by Wecon Limited initially as an assistant site agent and was
promoted to site agent. From November 1994 to March 1996, he joined Laws
Real Estate Agency Limited as an assistant project manager where he took lead
of building development, ongoing maintenance, re-fitting-out and renovation
projects from the conceptual design to implementation. For the period from July
1996 to September 1998, Mr. Leung KH worked initially as a project manager
and was promoted to confracts manager in Wang On Construction Company
Limited where his responsibilities included, among other things, taking up
project management, monitoring site progress and confrol and coordination
among subcontractors. He then joined Tat Hing Construction Company Limited
in September 1998 as a director and resigned in April 2002. From August 1998
to August 2002, Mr. Leung KH also joined Lee Shing Yue Construction Company
Limited initially as a project manager and was then elected as a technical director
where his duties included, among others, overall contract administration and
project management.

Mr. Leung KH obtained his higher diploma in building from City Polytechnic of
Hong Kong (currently known as the City University of Hong Kong) in November
1991 and a bachelor’s degree of science in building from the South Bank University
in the United Kingdom in June 1992. Mr. Leung KH obtained his master's degree
of science in architecture from the University College London in the United
Kingdom in March 1995.

Mr. Leung KH has been a member of Australian Institute of Building since March
2001, a member of the Chartered Institute of Building since July 2002, a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers (previously known as Hong
Kong Institute of Builders) since April 2007, and a member of the Contractor's
Authorised Signatory Association Limited since December 2008. Mr. Leung KH
had served in Government body. For the period from January 2011 to December
2012, Mr. Leung KH was appointed by the Building Authority as a member of
Minor Works Contractors Registration Committee Panel.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Chung Chun Piu

Mr. Chung Chun Piu ("Mr. Chung”), aged 67, is a project manager of the Group.
He is mainly responsible for overseeing and monitoring projects, operations, on-
site staff training as well as the supervision of employees’ overall on-site safety,
and for providing advice to the Company’s project tendering team during the
tender process including formwork designs and quality control matters of the
Group’s projects.

Mr. Chung joined the Group as a project manager and a director of Temmex
since December 1998. He also was a director of Temmex Brothers from October
2008 to July 2017 and has been a project manager of Temmex Brothers since
October 2008.

Mr. Chung commenced working as a formwork works apprentice in 1979 and has
gained nearly 42 years of working experience in the formwork works industry.

Mr. Chung completed primary education in Huizhou, China in 1970.

Mr. Luk Chun Yip

Mr. Luk Chun Yip ("Mr. Luk’), aged 30, is a contracts and estimating manager of
our Group. He is mainly responsible for overseeing the tender submissions and
providing contfractual advices on project management and cost control to the
Group.

Mr. Luk first joined the Group as a contracts and estimating manager of Temmex
since November 2018.

Mr. Luk has over nine years of experience in quantity surveying and contracts
management. Prior to joining the Group, he worked at Leighton Contractors (Asia)
Limited from July 2013 to July 2017, with his last position being a project quantity
surveyor. He also worked at Turner & Townsend Limited as a cost manager from
September 2017 to November 2018.

Mr. Luk obtained his bachelor of science in building engineering and
management at The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2013. He has
been a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors since March 2017. He
has also been a registered professional surveyor (quantity surveying) with the
Surveyors Registration Board since July 2018.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Teh Lai Ching

Ms. Teh Lai Ching ("Ms. Teh”), aged 50, is the company secretary of the Company
appointed on 4 November 2019. She is mainly responsible for the general
secretarial affairs of the Company. She is a director of KCAT Company Secretarial
Limited (TCSP Licence No.: TC006895), a professional service provider specialising
in company secretarial services.

Ms. Teh has over 20 years of experience in company secretarial work in
international professional firms and listed companies in Hong Kong. She gained
extensive knowledge and experience in corporate governance, regulatory
compliances and other general commercial matters. Ms. Teh is currently also a
company secretary of a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
in August 2020 since her appointment with the Company.

Ms. Teh obtained her higher certificate in company secretaryship and
administration in October 1995 from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
She later obtained her master of business administration from the University of
Strathclyde in Glasgow, Scotland in July 1999 and her bachelor of laws (external
programme) from the University of London in the United Kingdom in August 2006.
She is an Associate of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered
Governance Institute of the UK & Ireland since November 1997.
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Corporate Governance ReporT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company and the Board are devoted to achieve and maintain high
standards of corporate governance, as the Board believes that good and effective
corporate governance practices are fundamental to obtain and maintain the
trust and safeguarding interest of the Shareholders and other stakeholders of the
Company. Accordingly, the Company has adopted sound corporate governance
principles that emphasise a quality Board, effective internal control, stringent
disclosure practices and transparency, and accountability to all stakeholders.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report in force and
applicable to the Company during the year ended 31 March 2022 as set out in
Appendix 14 (version up to 31 December 2021) to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code”).
In the opinion of the Board, the Company has fully complied with the CG Code for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

The requirements under the current version of the Corporate Governance Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules which came into effect on 1 January
2022 (the “"New CG Code") shall apply to the Company’s corporate governance
report for the financial year commencing on 1 April 2022.

The key corporate governance practices of the Group are summarised as follows:

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct regarding
dealings in the securities of the Company by the Directors and the Company’s
employees who, because of their offices or employments, are likely to possess
inside information in relation to the Company and/or its securities. Upon specific
enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the Model Code
during FY2022.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors. The Board is accountable
to the Shareholders for their leadership and supervision over the Group's
operation and is committed to achieving the goal of increasing Shareholders’
value.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Yam Cheung (Chairman)

Mr. Leung Wing Hoi (CEO) (appointed as CEO with effect from
10 January 2022)

Mr. Leung Wing Chun

Mr. Cheung Kit Hung (former CEO)
(resigned on 10 January 2022)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Yau Sheung Hang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Lin Fung

Mr. Chu Hau Lim

Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu (refired on 24 September 2021)

Biographical details of the Directors including relationship between Board
members are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 18 to 24 of this annual report.

The current proportion of independent non-executive Director is higher than what
is required by Rule 3.10A and 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules whereby independent
non-executive directors of a listed issuer must represent at least one-third of the
board and the board must include at least three independent non-executive
directors. The Company has three independent non-executive Directors, which
represents more than one-third of the Board.

Furthermore, we have complied with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules of having
at least one of the independent non-executive directors has appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

With the various experience of the Directors and the nature of the Group’s

business, the Board considered that the Directors have a balance of skills and
experience for the business of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive directors shall
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election, whereas code provision
A.4.2 (part of which was rearranged to Code Provision B.2.2 of the New CG Code)
states that all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to
election by Shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment and that
every director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to arficle 84(1) of the Company’s Arficles, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall refire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Pursuant to arficle 83(3) of the Company’s Articles, any Directors shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an additional to the existing
Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Each Director (including non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors) has entered into a service contract or letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of 3 years commencing from the Listing Date and
shall be subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

Pursuant to article 84 of the Company’s Articles, Mr. Leung Yam Cheung, Mr.
Leung Wing Hoi and Mr. Leung Wing Chun will retire from office at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election. At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company,
separate ordinary resolutions will be put forward to the Shareholders in relation
to the proposed re-election of all retired Directors as executive Directors.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE
BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs.
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All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a
balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on corporate
actions and operations.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides
direction to management by laying down strategies and overseeing their
implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and financial performance,
and ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems are in
place.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated o the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage to protect Directors
from possible legal action against them. The insurance coverage would be
reviewed on an annual basis.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board as
they bring an impartial view on the Company’s strategies, performance and
control, as well as to ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are taken into
account. The requirement regarding the representation of independent non-
executive Directors is, that there must be more than one-third of the members
of the Board with at least one of them having appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. None of
the independent non-executive Directors held any other offices in the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or is interested in any shares of the Company. The
Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an annual
confirmation of his independence, and the Company considers such Directors to
be independent in accordance with the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code (which was rearranged o code provision C.2.1
of the New CG Code) stipulates that the roles of the chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The
Company's roles of the chairman and chief executive are separate and exercised
by different individuals. Mr. Leung Yam Cheung is the chairman of the Board and
Mr. Leung Wing Hoi is the CEO.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME

The Group acknowledges the importance of adequate and ample continuing
professional development for the Directors for a sound and effective internal
control system and corporate governance. In this regard, the Group has always
encouraged the Directors to aftend relevant training courses to receive the latest
news and knowledge regarding corporate governance, in order to effectively
perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director had received a formal and comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors participated in appropriate continuous professional development fo
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally facilitated briefings for
Directors were arranged and reading materials on relevant topics were provided
to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to aftend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.

The records of continuous professional development relating fo director's duties,
regulatory and governance updates and business development that have been

received by the Directors for FY2022 are summarised as follows:

Name of Directors

ERERRE

ESZHEERREE

AEERNEETRGRARANHERE
HREBREMITZIBERNABEZERR R
CEERNERNE - Bt AEE—HHE
EEHFERBAEIRE  AEREFHAEEE
SARRITHE R HME  AEARETHERE -
VRERESESSFELEYRR

BEHZEEENAREZEREERE
AREENARBEI - UEFRLEEZER
NRAEBREE UY2AMEERE LTHH
AR EARENESBRERET -

EFE2HEXBERUBYLEHFAFHOM
B EEE  ARFIEHBEBA TRESRR
HAFENTERMESTHHAEEIEN
B - NRARSEMBEES L FERBRE
RiZ - BRABARERSE -

EERN T _FUBRFEMERXEME
ERE BEEREARMERNMEBEREN
SEEXBREICEMANT

Type of Training Mt

BENE 1E 58 B
Executive Directors: HITES

Mr. Leung Yam Cheung AR A A B
Mr. Leung Wing Hoi REFHEA A B
Mr. Leung Wing Chun RS A A B
Mr. Cheung Kit Hung (resigned on 10 January 2022) sREEBEAE(R-_T - —F— A+ HET) A'B
Non-executive Director: FHITES :

Mr. Yau Sheung Hang w4 A'B
Independent Non-executive Directors: BYFHTES:

Mr. Ng Lin Fung RiBELAE A B
Mr. Chu Hau Lim REREE AB
Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond RRIETAE A B
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu (refired on 24 September 2021)  #EIFTEE(RZZE=—FNAZTHHEF) A B
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Note:
Types of Training:

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,
conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant
publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established five Board committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee, the Compliance
Committee and the ESG Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been established with defined
written terms of reference, which are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website at
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at www.skymission.group and in
compliance with code provision A.3.2 (which was rearranged to code provision
B.1.2 of the New CG Codejw. All Board committees should report to the Board on
their decisions or recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their
duties and each Director, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s expenses.

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in the CG Code which included developing and reviewing the
Company's policies and practices on corporate governance, carrying out training
and continuous professional development of Directors, and reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the code provisions in the CG Code and disclosures
in this CG report.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS

According to code provision A.1.1 (which was rearranged to code provision C.5.1
of the New CG Code), regular Board meetings should be held at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. During FY2022, four Board meetings
were held.

During FY2022, the chairman held one meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other executive Directors on 28 June
2021.
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Details of all Directors’ attendance at general meeting, Board meetings and

==

i%%/ﬂ#

EFEHER T -__FUBRFESETZ

Board's committee meetings held during FY2022 are set out below: RRE EXZCERNEFZ A%@E%Z
BEENAT
Number of Meetings Attended/Held
B/ RTEERY
Audit ~ Remuneration  Nomination  Compliance ESG
General Board  Committee Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee
Meefing Meefing Meefing Meefing Meefing Meefing* Meefing*
=g %Héa ¥MZEE REZEE ASHEEE CZES
RRAE B B EE EE EEM M
Executive Directors: HiTES:
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung PEREE n 4/4 N/A n n N/A N/A
@A Nl Nl
Mr. Leung Wing Hoi 2EBRE n 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 2/2
T~ER NER NER TiEH
Mr. Leung Wing Chun PEELE 7 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 2/2 N/A
@A ¥l ¥l ¥l
Mr. Cheung Kit Hung REBLE n 2/3 N/A 0N 0N 0N N/A
lresignedon 10 January 20220  (R=Z==# T~ER NER
—ATBEA)
Non-executive Director: FHTES:
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang EmiE N 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
TEH Nl Nl Nl Nl
Independent Non-executive BUKHTES:
Directors:
Mr. Ng Lin Fung REBEE 7 4/4 2/2 n 7 N/A N/A
Nl Nl
Mr. Chu Hau Lim REREAE n 4/4 2/2 "N "N 2/2 N/A
TiEm
Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond** REEFE N 4/4 N 17 N/A N/A N/A
TNER NER TNER
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEKEE n n n n n N/A N/A
Irefired on 24 September 2021 (R=T=—% TER TER
NAZTHERE)
* The committees consist of other members which are not Board members. * ZEZEEBREWIFETEHNENEMKE o

* Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond was appointed as a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 24 September 2021.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Group established the Audit Committee pursuant to a resolution of the
Directors passed on 7 September 2020 in compliance with Rule 3.21 and
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules which mandate that the Audit Committee must
comprise non-executive Directors only, comprising a minimum of three members.
the majority of the members of the Audit Committee must be independent non-
executive Directors and must be chaired by an independent non-executive
Director; and at least one of the members of the Audit Committee is an
independent non-executive Director who possesses appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

o DRELARTTAERZTEERIES
ZEEXBZKE BZTZ—FNA
—HPUHBER -

BEREES

AEERBER T _ZTFNALHERBHW
EERBRER EMMRAFE3215K£3.1002)
R BEZRE S HAEERZBEAE
EREFERMITE S - RD =BREAMX
BERERBE A OKE BARBILIEH
ﬁ%%ﬂbmmﬁiﬁﬁﬂ§$#ﬁif
RBEZEZBEEL —EZKERABRESR
- JIHW%%%@%EZ%I
FEHMITESE -
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Written terms of reference of the Audit Committee in compliance with code
provision C.3.3 (which was rearranged to code provision D.3.3 of the New CG
Code) have been adopted and are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and
the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make recommendations to
the Board on appointment or reappointment and removal of external auditor;
review the financial statements of the Group and make judgements in respect
of financial reporting; and oversee the effectiveness of the procedures of the risk
management and internal control procedures of the Group and monitor any
future and/or potential continuing connected transactions.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Ng Lin Fung, Mr.
Chu Hau Lim and Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond. Mr. Chu Hau Lim is the chairman of
the Audit Committee.

During FY2022, the Audit Committee held two meetings and the summary of work
performed is set out below:

(i) reviewed the reports from the auditor, accounting principles and

practices adopted by the Group, management representation letters and
management’s response in relation to the annual results for FY2021;

(il  reviewed the consolidated financial statements for FY2021 in conjunction
with the management and the auditor;

(il made recommendation to the Board on re-appointment of auditor;

(ivi  reviewed the Company’s internal control procedures and risk management
system and recommend the same to the Board for approval; and

(v} reviewed the condensed consolidated financial statements for the six
months ended 30 September 2021.

The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the consolidated financial statements

of the Group for FY2022 comply with applicable accounting standards, the Listing
Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Group established the Remuneration Committee pursuant to a resolution of
the Directors passed on 7 September 2020 in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules with written terms of reference in compliance with code provision
B.1.2 of the CG Code (which was rearranged to Code Provision E.1.2 of the New
CG Code) and are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure
relating to all Directors, senior management and general staff of the Group and
ensure that none of the Directors or any of their associates determine their own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee consists of five members, namely Mr. Leung
Yam Cheung, Mr. Leung Wing Hoi, Mr. Ng Lin Fung, Mr. Chu Hau Lim and Mr.
Leung Ka Ho Raymond. Mr. Ng Lin Fung is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

During FY2022, the Remuneration Committee met once and the summary of work
performed is set out below:

- reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band are set out in the
paragraph headed “Emoluments of Directors and Senior Management and Five
Highest Paid Individuals” of the Directors’ Report of this annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Group established the Nomination Committee pursuant to a resolution of
the Directors passed on 7 September 2020 with written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision A.5.2 (which was rearranged to code provision
B.3.1 of the New CG Code) and are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and
the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size,
composition, diversity of the Board and the board diversity policy adopted by the
Company on 7 September 2020 (the “Board Diversity Policy) on a regular basis;
implement the Board Diversity Policy and identify individuals suitably qualified
to become Board members; assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors; and make recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to appointment or reappointment of Directors. The Board
has also adopted a board nomination policy (the “Board Nomination Policy”)
on 7 September 2020, which sets out the selection criteria and process, and
succession planning considerations in relation o nomination and appointment of
Directors of the Company.
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The Nomination Committee consists of five members, namely Mr. Leung Yam
Cheung, Mr. Leung Wing Hoi, Mr. Ng Lin Fung, Mr. Chu Hau Lim and Mr. Leung
Ka Ho Raymond. Mr. Chu Hau Lim is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

According to the Board Diversity Policy and the Director Nomination Policy, the
Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the Board composition and makes
recommendations of changes to the composition of the Board. The Nomination
Committee would consider the benefits of all aspects of diversity set out in the
Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination Policy, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural, educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service and other qualities in reviewing and
assessing the composition of the Board, and all appointments to the Board will
be based on merits and will take into account of factors based on the Company’s
own business model and specific needs from time to time.

During FY2022, the Nomination Committee met once and the summary of work
performed is set out below:

(i) reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

(il  assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and

lil  made recommendations to the Board on the elections of Directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 7 September 2020.

The purpose of the Board Diversity Policy is to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board, maintain a high standard of corporate governance, and recognise and
embrace the benefits of diversity in our Board. Pursuant to the Board Diversity
Policy, candidates to the Board will be selected based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, length of service, cultural
and educational background, or professional experience. The ultimate decision
of the appointment will be based on merit and the contribution which the selected
candidates will bring to the Board. The Board believes that such merit-based
appointments will best enable the Company to serve the Shareholders and other
stakeholders going forward.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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The Company values gender diversity and will continue to take steps to promote
gender diversity at all levels of the Company and to develop a pipeline of potential
successors, including but without limitation at the Board, recognising that gender
diversity at the Board level can be improved given its current composition of
seven male Directors. In recognising the importance of gender diversity, the
Company is committed to provide career development opportunities for female
staff by ensuring that there is gender diversity in staff recruitment at the mid to
senior levels, and more resources will be devoted in training female staff who
have extensive and relevant experiences in the business, with the aim that we
will have a pipeline of female senior management and potential successors to
the Board. As female representation and the pool of qualified females in senior
roles will keep growing through the economy, we expect to have more female
representation on the Board in the future. Further, the Company has confirmed
that, subject to the development and the requirement of the business, the
Nomination Committee shall identify and recommend and the Company shall
appoint at least one female candidate to the Board within three years from Listing
Date, and continue to apply the principle of appointments based on merits with
reference to the Board Diversity Policy as a whole.

The effective implementation of the Board Diversity Policy requires that the
Shareholders are able to judge for themselves whether the Board as constituted
is a reflection of diversity, or a gradual move to increased diversity, on a scale
and at a speed which they support. To this end, the Shareholders will be provided
with detailed information of each candidate for appointment or re-election to
the Board through announcements and circulars published prior to the general
meetings of the Company.

The Nomination Committee will be responsible for the implementation, monitoring
and periodic review of the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness
and application. A summary of the Board Diversity Policy and the measurable
objectives which the Board has set for implementing the same, and the progress
on achieving those objects, have been disclosed above and will continue to be
disclosed in the corporate governance reports of the Company annually.

The Board consists of seven members, comprising three executive Directors,
one non-executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors. The
Directors have a balanced mix of experiences, including quantity surveying,
banking, digital media and information technology, leadership and management,
audit, accounting and company secretarial matters in addition to experiences in
the construction industry. Furthermore, the age range of our Board ranges from
37 years old to 81 years old. We also have a good mix of new and experienced
Directors, such that the executive Directors have been part of the Group for
between three and 24 years, who have valuable knowledge and insight on our
Group's business over the years, while the other Directors are expected to bring
in fresh ideas and new perspectives to the Group.
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After due consideration, although the Board currently has no female
representation, having taken into consideration our existing business model, the
Group business’ specific needs, and the background of each of the Directors, the
Board believes that the composition of our Board satisfies the principles under the
Board Diversity Policy.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a director nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) on 7
September 2020. The Nomination Policy is to ensure that the Board maintains
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business.

The summary of the Nomination Policy including nomination procedures and
the process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and
recommend candidate for directorship are as follows:

Director Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee utilises various methods for identifying candidates for
directorship, including recommendations from Board members, management,
and professional search firms. In addition, the Nomination Committee will
consider candidates for directorship properly submitted by the Shareholders.

All candidates for directorship, including incumbents and candidates nominated
by the Shareholders are evaluated by the Nomination Committee based upon
the candidates’ qualifications, as summarised below. While candidates for
directorship will be evaluated on the same criteria, the Nomination Committee
retains the discretion to establish the relative weighting of such criteria, which
may vary based on the composition, skill sets, and experiences of the collective
Board rather than on the individual candidate.
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The evaluation of candidates for directorship may include, without limitation, the
following:

- review of resume and job history;

- personal interviews;

- verification of professional and personal references; and
- performance of background checks.

The Board will consider the recommendations of the Nomination Committee and
is responsible for designating the candidate(s) for directorship to be considered
by the Shareholders for their election at the general meeting of the Company, or
appointing the suitable candidate to act as Director to fill the Board vacancies
or as an additional to the Board members, subject to compliance of the
constitutional document of the Company.

All appointments of Director should be confirmed by letter of appointment and/or
service contract setting out the key terms and conditions of the appointment of the
Directors.

Director Selection Criteria

In considering the nomination of candidates for directorship, the Nomination
Committee will take into account whether a candidate has the qualifications, skills
and experience, gender diversity, efc. that can add to and complement the range
of skills, experience and background of existing Directors.

The Nomination Committee considers the following qualifications as a minimum
to be required for a candidate in recommending to the Board to be a potential
new Director, or the continued service of existing Director:

the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

- proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and the ability
to exercise sound business judgment;

- skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board;

- the ability to assist and support management and make significant
contributions to the Company’s success;
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- an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is required for a
member of the Board and the commitment of time and energy necessary
to diligently carry out those responsibilities; and

- independence: the candidates for independent non-executive directorship
should meet the independence criteria as required under the Listing Rules
and the composition of the Board in conformity with the provisions of the
Listing Rules.

Other than the foregoing, there are no stated minimum criteria for candidate
for directorship, although the Nomination Committee may also consider such
other factors as it may deem are in the best interests of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole. For instance, the Nomination Committee believes
it is appropriate for at least one independent non-executive Director to have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under the Listing Rules.

Board Succession Plan

The Nomination Committee shall assess whether any vacancy on the Board has
been created or is expected due to a Director’s death, resignation, retirement,
disqualification, removal from office or other cause or due to an increase in the
authorised number of Directors as required.

Depending on the circumstances, the Nomination Committee with the assistance
of the management of the Company may endeavor to identify in advance one
or more candidates who may fill those expected vacancies. The Nomination
Committee develops the criteria to be applied in identifying candidates, based
upon the considerations described above.

The Company reviews the Nomination Policy on an annual basis having regard

to the regulatory requirements, good corporate governance practice and the
expectations of the Shareholders and other stakeholders of the Company.
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COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Group established the Compliance Committee pursuant to a resolution of the
Directors passed on 7 September 2020 with written terms of reference and are
posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Compliance Committee are to ensure compliance
with regulatory matters as well as the adequacy and effectiveness of regulatory
compliance procedures and system.

The Compliance Committee consists of four members, namely Mr. Leung Wing
Hoi, Mr. Leung Wing Chun, Mr. Chu Hau Lim and Mr. Lau Chi Shing Tommy. Mr.
Leung Wing Hoi is the chairman of the Compliance Committee.

During FY2022, the Compliance Committee met twice and the summary of work
performed is set out below:

(i) liaised with relevant government authorities and statutory bodies to ensure
proper compliance of the Group;

(il ensured compliance with the Company’s internal control procedure manual
and the relevant safety policies, and make relevant compliance-related
recommendations to the Board from time to time;

[iil  made recommendations on review measures to the Board to improve the
health and safety of workers of the Group and to monitor the safety policy,
procedures and systems of the Group;

(ivi  reviewed and approved report from relevant partylies) which certifies that
the Company has put in place compliance policies and controls and report
on the content and action plan for any remedial measures necessary to
address gaps;

(v} ensured compliance with the requirements of the publication of financial
information of the Company in accordance with the Listing Rules;

(vi  reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(vil ensured that key employees have been trained on the details of the
Company’s internal control procedure manual and the relevant safety
policies;
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(vii) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the ESG
Reporting Guide set out in the Listing Rules; prepared and submitted a
summary report every half-yearly to the Board on the overall compliance
performance and corporate governance practices of the Group. A copy of
the summary report was sent to the Audit Committee for its information;
and

(ix)  reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Employment Ordinance (Cap.
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and made recommendations on review
measures for the Board's consideration and approval.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Group established the ESG Committee pursuant to a resolution of the
Directors passed on 7 September 2020 with written terms of reference and are
posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the ESG Committee are to support the Board in
implementing the ESG Policy and collect ESG data from different parties while
preparing for the Group’s ESG report for each financial year going forward. It also
serves as a supportive role and would report directly to the Board regularly, and
oversee and monitor in implementing measures to address the Group’s ESG-
related risks and responsibilities.

The ESG Committee consists of five members, namely Mr. Leung Wing Hoi, the
site manager Mr. Ng Kam Tong, the foreman Mr. Chung Chi Ming, the safety
officer Mr. Lau Chi Shing Tommy, and our safety supervisor Mr. Cheung Pui Wah.
Mr. Lau Chi Shing Tommy is the chairman of the ESG Committee.

During FY2022, the ESG Committee met twice and the summary of work
performed is set out below:

(il supported the Board in implementing the ESG policies and collecting the
ESG data from different parties while preparing the ESG Report;

(il ensured that the ESG targets, strategies and polices agreed by the Board
are effectively implemented by the employees;

[iiil  reported to the Board on the ESG performance of the Group on a quarterly
basis on the effectiveness of these systems;

(ivi  provided updates to the Board on the latest ESG statutory requirements;

(v prepared the ESG Report, and to obtain assistance from relevant
professional parties equipped with ESG expertise, in accordance with the
ESG Reporting Guide;

(v  investigated the ESG-related activity within its terms of reference.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Teh Lai Ching (“Ms. Teh”) was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company with effect from 4 November 2019. Ms. Teh is a director of KCAT
Company Secretarial Limited, a professional services provider specialising in
company secrefarial services.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary on
corporate governance and board practices and matters. Mr. Leung Wing Hoi,
the CEO, has been designated as the primary contact person at the Company
which would work and communicate with Ms. Teh on the Company’s corporate
governance and secretarial and administrative matters.

During FY2022, Ms. Teh has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for preparing the accounts
for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company and the Group and of the results and cash flow for the year then
ended. In preparing the accounts for FY2022, the Directors have:

(il selected appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently;

[il  made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and

[il  prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

A statement by the Auditor about the Directors’ reporting responsibilities is
included in the Independent Auditor's Report on page 100.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Directors acknowledge that they have overall responsibility for overseeing the
Company’s internal control, financial control and risk management system and
shall monitor its effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The Group has an internal
audit function and a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems has been conducted by the Board at least annually.

Aimed at providing reasonable assurance against material errors, losses or
fraud, the Company has established a risk management procedures which
comprised the following steps:

o Identify risks: Identify major and significant risks that could affect the
achievement of goals of the Group;

o Risk assessment: Assess and evaluate the identified risk according to its
likely impact and the likelihood of occurrence; and

o Risk mitigation: Develop effective control activities to mitigate the risks.

Risk identification and assessment are performed or updated annually, and
the results of risk assessment, evaluation and mitigation of each functions or
operation are documented in the Risk Registry fo communicate to the Board and
management for reviews.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are, however,
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

A review on the internal control systems of the Company, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions has been
carried out by an independent consultancy company and staff in possession of
relevant expertise to conduct an independent review.

The Audit Committee reviewed the internal control review report issued by the
independent consultancy company and the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems in respect of FY2022 and considered that they are
effective and adequate. The Board assessed the effectiveness of internal control
systems by considering the internal control review report and reviews performed
by the Audit Committee and concurred the same.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 1% B4R 3 B

During FY2022, the remuneration paid or payable fo the external auditor of the K =T = —F B RFE - HEZ K IFFZR
Company, Mazars CPA Limited, in respect of the audit and non-audit services —~ #E kB AR RINIZ BRI R BRIR (B

were as follows: B) BRI ERABERARZHMAT :

Nature of services Remuneration charged

R EE Wi B B 3R B
HK$
BT

Annual audit of the Group’s consolidated financial ANEER —Z - —FHBFE

statements for FY2022 REMBRRZFEEX 1,500,000
Non-audit services in respect of agreed-upon EHBZE—_T-_—FhLA=THIEXREA

procedures on inferim financial information for the & BB i & Kt E 12 Fr 2 FEEZ R G

six-months ended 30 September 2021 200,000
Total et 1,700,000

RESEZERER AR F# 2021/22
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

One of the measures to safeguard Shareholders’ interest and rights is to separate
resolutions proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election and re-election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at shareholders’ meeting
will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company after the relevant
Shareholders’ meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Extraordinary general meeting may be convened by the Board on requisition
of Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company or by such Shareholders who made the requisition (the “Requisitionists”)
(as the case may be) pursuant to article 58 of the Arficles of Association. Such
requisition must state the object of business to be transacted at the meeting
and must be signed by the Requisitionists and deposited at the registered office
of the Company or the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.
Shareholders should follow the requirements and procedures as set out in such
arficle for convening an extraordinary general meeting.

Shareholders may put forward proposals with general meeting of the Company
by sending the proposals to the Company at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong af Room 3312, 33/F., Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi Shing Road,
Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands for putting forward proposals of new resolutions by Shareholders
at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request
the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph to consider the business specified in the
requisition.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company. Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests
in respect of their rights to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Room 3312, 33/F., Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, New
Territories, Hong Kong.
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The Company has in place “Procedures for Shareholder to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director” adopted by the Board on 7 September 2020, which
is subject to the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association in force
from time to time, the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and applicable
legislation and regulation:

o If a Shareholder, who is duly qualified to aftend and vote at the general
meeting convened to deal with the appointment or election/re-election
of Director(s), wishes to propose a person for election as a Director at that
meeting, he/she may lodge a written notice at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Room 3312, 33/F., Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi
Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
company secretary of the Company.

o In order for the Company to inform all Shareholders of that proposal, the
written notice must state (i) his/her intention to propose such person for
election as a Director, and (i) the biographical details of such nominated
candidate as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules for publication
by the Company and be signed by the Shareholder concerned and the
person who has been proposed indicating his/her willingness to be elected
and consent of the publication of his/her personal information.

o The period for lodgement of the above notice shall be a 7-day period
commencing on the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election of Director(s) and ending on the date
falling 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting.

o Upon receipt of the above notice from a Shareholder which is received after
publication of the nofice of general meeting, the Company shall, prior to
the general meeting, publish an announcement or issue a supplementary
circular disclosing the particulars of the proposed Director pursuant to Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

Shareholders who have enquiries regarding the above procedures may write to
the company secretary of the Company at Room 3312, 33/F., Cable TV Tower, 9
Hoi Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company has adopted a shareholders communication policy aiming to set
out the provisions with the objective of providing Shareholders with information
about the Company and enabling them to engage actively with the Company
and exercise their rights as Shareholders in an informed manner.

The Company has established several channels to communicate with its
Shareholders as follows:

(i) Corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports and
circulars are issued in printed form and are available on the website of
the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at
www.skymission.group;

(il  Periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company;

[iil  Corporate information is made available on the Company’s website;

(ivi  Annual and extraordinary general meetings provide a forum for the
Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the Directors
and senior management; and

(v The Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company serves the
Shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend payment and related
matters.

The Company continues to promote investor relations and enhance
communication with the existing Shareholders and potential investors. It
welcomes suggestions from investors, the public and other stakeholders.
Enquiries to the Board or the Company may be sent by post to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

There was no change to the Company’s constitutional documents since the

Listing Date. The Articles of Association is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Skymission Group Holdings Limited (hereafter, the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively known as the “Group”, “we” or “us’) are pleased to present our
Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG’) Report. The content of this ESG
Report herein focuses on providing an overview of the ESG performance of our
major operations from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 (the “Reporting Period”). The
Group is an established formwork works subcontractor in Hong Kong with an
operating history of over 20 years. The Group provides two kinds of formwork:
(1) the fraditional formwork works services to its customers by using timber
and plywood; and (2) the system formwork works services by using aluminium
formwork.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide
under Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Based
on the reporting principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency,
the two ESG subject areas, namely Environmental and Social, are disclosed
separately, highlighting the impacts of the operations of the Group in Hong Kong
during the Reporting Period. We have also provided the ESG content index that
includes the Key Performance Indicators ("KPIs”) for the ESG Reporting Guide.

During the preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has applied the following
reporting principles as stated in the aforementioned ESG Reporting Guide:
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Materiality The Group conducts materiality assessment and report relevant and significant issues that are important to
sEM stakeholders.
REBETEEMFMUTREGNSEEEMEEEEZNBHEEREE -
Balance The Group strives to reveal an unbiased picture of the Group’s performance on relevant ESG issues, without
i selections and omissions or in any form of presentation formats that may inappropriately influence informed
decisions or judgement by readers.
REERNR MR IAEHMERAEETHRE LB LEENHBRE BRAIGEGE T EE
TEBENBARRIAGOEMERE BRIEME A2 RBA -
Quantitative The Group adopts international standards and emission factors as specified in the ESG Reporting Guide
21t issued by the Stock Exchange in the computation of relevant KPIs to allow true and fair evaluation of the ESG
performance of the Group.
REBRABZIMABMHIRE L RESREREIMHENERSRERFNE I EHERRER
BE UNEE  APMAGASEENIRE HgRER/RRE -
Consistency Unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report adopted consistent methodologies to allow for a fair comparison of
— B our performance from time to time. Any changes in assumptions and methodologies will be duly disclosed.
BRIEZINGRAA  RIRIR B REAWMERAFEZEBE B UETKRERMORFETATLR -
BERRFENEME B T ABEKE -
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R HSRERBRS

This ESG Report also complies with the mandatory disclosure requirements and
“comply or explain” provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide. It is recommended
that this ESG Report is read in conjunction with the Group’s Annual Report 2022, in
particular the Corporate Governance Report and Directors’ Report.

SCOPE AND BOUNDARY

Unless otherwise specified, this report covers the Group’s ESG accomplishments
and challenges during the 2022 financial year, from 1 April 2021 to 31 March
2022 (the "Year” or “Reporting Period”). The scope of the ESG Report covers the
operations of the Group in Hong Kong during the Reporting Period.

This ESG Report contains the ESG management policies and performance of the
Group’s business activities in Hong Kong. The ESG key performance indicators
("KPIs”) data is gathered only from the operations under the Group’s direct
operational control.

STATEMENT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

To ensure that the management is practiced accordance with our policies,
the Board has established a management structure with the CEO and the ESG
Committee assuming overall responsibility of monitoring and reviewing of ESG
issues. The ESG Committee has the authority to gather relevant KPI data across
departments with the supervision of the CEO of the Company for the compilation
of management reports and put forward for the Board's approval.

BOARD
o=

ARG -HEREAMEMKERE &
REBRSHEIIMBIEERER[TET
IREIRE ZZEARE HERENR
BERAEE_T__FFER—IBE L
HRMEEAREREFTERE -

#0 B & IR

BIESERRA ARSBREAEEAR _-F
TCHBRFE@BEZE—FMNA—HE
—ECF-A=t—R)(XFEIHKIE
SHB D ERE e REASTEKRR K
BB - RIE HEREARENHERERN
SENBEHRETENE

ARE HEREAREHAETHAAEER
BRETEHEBNRE - HLERELER
BB MRE - RE 8 MNEANHEREN
EE(BAREARER) BBRECAEEE
BEBIH T RBRE

ExeEH

REREEBRBRAMNEKRANT EFE
EREVARITHRARNALIRE H@RERE
BEermBEEEREERE HEMEA
EENEERE -RE HERERZE®
BRNARAITRAHNES MBI
SERARESIEREE  WRREERS
TRRXEFSHELL -

CEO ESG Committee
TR RIE - HEREREZET
Human Resources & . Finance and Accounts Company Secretarial
Administration Department Operations Department Department Department
ADERETRE EE B = DFER
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The Group established the ESG Committee pursuant to a resolution of the
Directors passed on 7 September 2020 with written terms of reference and
are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website. The
primary duties of the ESG Committee are to support the Board in implementing
the ESG Policy and collect ESG data from different parties while preparing for
the Group’s ESG report for each financial year going forward. It also serves as a
supportive role and would report directly to the Board regularly, and oversee and
monifor in implementing measures fo address the Group’s ESG-related risks and
responsibilities.

The ESG Committee consists of five members, namely Mr. Leung Wing Hoi, the
site manager Mr. Ng Kam Tong, the foreman Mr. Chung Chi Ming, the safety
officer Mr. Lau Chi Shing Tommy, and our safety supervisor Mr. Cheung Pui Wah.
Mr. Lau Chi Shing Tommy is the chairman of the ESG Committee.

The Board of the Company has ultimate responsibility for ensuring the
effectiveness of the Group’s ESG policies. In order to carry out the Group's
sustainability strategy from top to bottom, the Board has established certain
dedicated teams to manage the ESG issues within each business division of the
Group. Designated employees have been assigned to enforce and supervise the
implementation of the relevant policies.

The Board shall review the Group’s ESG strategy based on operational
development direction from time to time, with reference to relevant and material
ESG issues that are of stakeholders” interests. The Board will also evaluate on ESG
goals and targets on relevant KPIs set out by the ESG Committee as appropriate.

This ESG Report has been reviewed by the ESG Committee and approved by the
Board of the Company. The ESG Report can be accessed at Company’s website
(https://skymission.group/) and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s
("HKEX") (https://www.hkexnews.hk).

RIZ - HERERRE

AEBREBE-_ZS-_ZEFNLALHBBNE
ERFZENLRE HENEREZEES I
FICEMRESEE BN R

KARBILE - IRE - HEehERTEEMNE
ZBERMPESSHNITRE L2 hER
BRERRARBEASEREEZVBRFESF
FIRIR g REARRERFMES HUWEIRE -
HEREREE EMAERDBREREE
HEZERNESEREUREB TN EREER
TR A EE AR B AIRE - e REAEE
BB R EAE -

RE HENERERES EEE%BZ,E,ZH}?JZ
BIREBREA  HBREBRIHRELEL

EEREE - ﬁ%z&%ﬂ?ﬁ%’ﬁi&ii\%
BERMELE - BENTERER L€
E/Dé/\air

ARBEFTSEARRAKERE HE8k
BEEBRREBERBNERET - RELMT
HTASENARHERRBE EFECK
YETHEENM AEERAKERELD

HMANRE HEMREAREE - AKECE
RKEEABBEHTREBRBBERNE M -

EEQRBBELTRAM  2BRNRIEHE
HEREBNEBEEANIRE e kER
EH THEIASENRE a8 kE5
“Hﬂ5Z CEEFGNMEMBITMERE HtekE
aZ B gHIENRBBERESIERNIRE
ﬁé\.&%/ﬁagﬁhﬁ

Ki;%i% T HEkEARRETELERE #
g NE ?iaﬁﬁﬁ IEE$/RT§$
it /E CHRFE CHEREARABSARNAK

N B 49 uk (https://skymission. group/) K&
BMERXSMAERARE ([BBEZ]) HLk
(https://www.hkexnews.hk) 25 ] °
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RIE - HERERRS

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT BEEMFML
Assessment Process EfhBE

A materiality assessment is the process of identifying, refining, and assessing the B Z 4 FETI# B » o= LA G A e 205
potential ESG related issues that could affect a business and/or its stakeholders. — Z#fE K sk R EEE B ERE it
The process involved both employees of different levels and exfernal stakeholders. & M EAHBEERBRE - BIESLREHE
They were identified based on their expertise and working relationship with the T MANBRIzEIEEE - S BIATIHA T ROE%E
Group. REFERREAREBENTERRK-

The materiality assessment process at the Group consists of the following AEBMNEZHTFEBRELEATEE - &
sequential steps: =

¢ Research and

 Senior
Benchmarking

Management

Engagement MEREER

R EEES * Impact Mapping
=21

¢ Internal and External Engagement
BR RSN ERZRER
¢ Analysis

il

As identified by the materiality assessment, the ESG Report covers the overall & EZHFTEH#HBIE - RIE -2 RER
performance, risks, strategies, measures and commitments of the Group in two ¥ 25 iR 2 7 & B 70 W (B 3= 2 25 B <8 18 (B0)
major focus areas, being 1) Environmental and 2) Social. Material and relevant RN 2) (L&) HBEXRIR - A - KEE -
ESG issues are reported through the disclosure of relevant Key Performance iR A&AYE - RIS B BRBERRE &
Indictors ("KPIs), targets and initiatives are as detailed in subsequent sections of R EAWME B EEh i WAERIERE
this ESG Report. MIER ((BARERIER]  BELER B
HREABEENRE HEREAEH-
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The following table summarises the identified ESG issues on materiality

assessment carried out by the Group.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Environmental
IRIE
eUse of resources eEmissions
EREA BERR

eOccupational

eLabour Standard  eSupply Chain
& Employment
ETABGEER MEEEE

RIR  HSRERBRE

TERBEXAEBEFAFAREZEFGHNHE H
BIRE - HERERER -

Social
H=

eDevelopment
and Training
R RIEH

Management

eAnti-Corruption
k&3

REEEZBRER AR Fik 2021/22
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B HEREARS

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

As business activities conducted by the Group involves a variety of counter parties
from upstream to downstream, we actively maintain communication with our
stakeholders to accurately assess any potential ESG impacts to our business
activities. Our basic policy is to focus on communication with our stakeholders
and respond to the expectations. The following tables provide an overview of
the Group’s key stakeholders, their possible area of concerns and the means of
communication.

Customers
=R

Suppliers
ApER

SKY

MISSION GROUR

REEHE

q
[ Media
e

Community
&
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BRABE  BETRMINEERER
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Employees
==

Investors
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Hong Kong
Stock Exchange
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Government
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RIZ - HERERRE

Stakeholders Possible areas of concerns Communications

FE AJRERE R B

Customers Work quality, fair and reasonable pricing, value  Site visits and customer feedbacks
of service, protection for the labour force, work
safety and environmental protection

5P THEmE  RFEBEE  REEE- RSERREFRE
BITRE  TER 2 RIRFERE

Suppliers Payment schedule and supply stability Site visits and research

HEm SESIEEISE Y fal i W15 E R K

Employees Employee rights, salaries, training and Conducting team activities, training, interviews
development, working hours, working with employees, issue of employee manual,
environment and work safety internal memorandum and suggestion box

(= BEREMN FM BIRER - ITESK HEREBKED  HI - BIg#® BMHEL
ITERBERIELR F - AR N B R

Investors Corporate governance, business strategies and  Shareholders” meetings, issue of financial
performance and investment return reports for investors, media and analysts

REE PEER EBRERERRRURKREDR BRRRE AREE  HRESAHIZEN

BimE

Media Corporate governance, environmental Posting of communications on the Hong Kong
protection and human rights Stock Exchange’s and Group’s website

e PEER RERERAE T 75 78 Bt 5 P Ko 7 5 181 48 i 1) 3 SR AR

Government Compliance with laws and regulations, social  Interactions and visits, government inspections,
welfare and prevention of tax evasion tax returns and other information

T BPERER LB R Rk EPRBE  BARE @k IEBER

Hong Kong Stock Exchange
("HKEX")

Fe R s (BT ])

Compliance with the Listing Rules, publishing
of announcements in a timely and accurate
manner

B ETRA REEETIBELS

Training, seminars, programmes, updating of
website and announcements

Bl EE A E - WMuEHEAE

Community

ol

Environmental, employment and community
development, work safety and social welfare
BRE ERAERER  TEZE2UAR
TEREA

Developing community activities and employee

voluntary activities
B REHREEETES
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RIR - HERERRE

1. ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group attaches importance to responsible environmental management and
is committed to reducing the environmental impact of its business activities. We
operate our business in an environmentally conscious manner and advocate
for good practices in our relationship with stakeholders. We are dedicated to
maintain a low level of energy consumption and emission in every single step. We
also strive to enhance operational efficiency and carry out measures to reduce
the impacts of our daily operations on the environment. The Group has made
reference to relevant environmental rules and low-carbon measures suggested
by relevant government departments and organizations, which is strictly adhered
by the employees and subcontractors, these all demonstrates the Group’s efforts
in environmental protection.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not identified any material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong relating to air
and greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that would have a significant
impact on the Group. Therefore, no penalty was imposed on the Group during the
Reporting Period. The relevant laws and regulations include, but are not limited
to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Noise
Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Environmental
Impact Assessment Ordinance (Chapter 499 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (Chapter 132 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

EMISSIONS
Exhaust Gas and Greenhouse Gas (“"GHG”) Emission

With the Group’s primary business engaged in the formwork works business,
there were no material and significant air pollution, noise pollution and water
pollution produced by the Group at present. Despite the fact that noise pollution
confributed by our business operation under the entire construction site was
relatively insignificant compared to other construction processes within the
construction site setting, the Group still adheres to strict practises as required
by the Environmental Protection Department that all our powered mechanical
equipment and construction works are only performed in designated area and
from 7am to 7pm on weekdays. Construction noise permit will be duly obtained
if any of our construction works were to be scheduled outside the prescribed
time frame otherwise. Although GHG emissions are not identified as material
to the Group, we strive to minimize resource consumption and encourage
our employees to adopt environmental best practices across every business
segment, so as to limit indirect emission GHG.
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Air Emissions

Air pollutants, such as nitrogen oxides ("NOx"), sulphur oxides ("SOx"), respiratory
suspended particulates ("RSP*) etc., are mainly generated from the use of vehicles
and machinery through consumption of fuels. The Group does not own any
private cars nor operates its own transportation feam and the operations does
not involve significant use of machinery, thus, no material air pollutants are
produced by the Group.

Greenhouse Gas Emission

The major source of the Group’s GHG emissions were purchased electricity used
(Scope 2) and paper consumed (Scope 3) af office. As the Group does not own
mobile sources to generate electricity nor involve in any direct production process,
there is no direct (Scope 1) GHG emission recorded. The Group has formulated
relevant policies and internal control system to reduce GHG emissions generated
from business activities. Conservation measures are adopted at head office to
minimise electricity consumption.

GHG emissions recorded during the Reporting Period are as detailed below.

B HBREARS

KRR

EREMIEWE - RERBEELEZRS
29 (AR  WAY  FREZRE
KYE) AEBYEFEFEMLEKE N
REEBREBKML - BRMNEET IR
ERARERMK AUEARETEELEART
ENEE Sy

B EREBEN

AEBRERBHMNEZRRERSPAE
MEBAE (BE2) REFRER (HE3) -
HRASEYERA AR ETHREB IR -
B EREREREEBRE - Bt R
B (BEDEBERRBHENR -AEEDHIE
MR B SR M BRI B E - DR A X555 B
EERBREREBEN - NA R AR

A =t ==
8 HERPAEE

RS AR A RERRE = RPN T

Year ended 31 March Units 2022 2021
BE=ZA=1+—HLEE B —EBCF —F-—F
Scope of GHG Emission

BEREHKEE

Scope 1 kgCO,e N/A N/A
= Tr-_AatRES TiE A A E A
Scope 2

g/F2

Indirect Emission ("Purchased Electricity”) kgCO.e 1,515 4,045
MEkR((EBED]) Fr_StiREE

Scope 3

LK)

Indirect Emission (“Paper Consumption”) kgCO.e 3,542 2,640
I BE AR ([ 4ESRIE#E 1) FTrR_ARES

Total GHG Emissions (Scope 2 & 3) kgCO,e 5,057 6,685
BERBHEMEE (FBE2K3) FTR_ARES

Total GHG Emission per floor area kgCO.e/sq. meter 1.78 2.35

BUEHABAERBNEE TrR_S(REE
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RIR - HERERRE

Note:

Scope 1 emissions come from direct GHG emissions from combustion of fuels in stationary
or mobile sources (excluding electrical equipment) to generate electricity, heat or steam,
which is not applicable to our business due to the fact that we do not involve in direct
production.

Scope 2 emissions come from indirect GHG emissions from the generation of purchased
electricity.

Scope 3 emissions include other indirect GHG emissions that occur outside the Company
such as emissions from business travel of employees and paper waste disposed at
landfills.

* Emissions for Nitfrogen oxides (NOx), Sulphur oxides (SOx), and Respirable suspended
particulates (RSP) are not disclosed as the amount is insignificant

Waste Management

Hazardous waste

Due fo the business nature, the Group’s operations do not directly generate
hazardous wastes from its daily operations.

Non-hazardous waste

During the Reporting Period, non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group
mainly come from construction wastes and other domestic waste such as
waste paper. Non-hazardous wasted produced by the Group include mainly
general office waste, timber, plywood, aluminium, and steel that are used in the
formwork.

There is no data available for construction wastes as these wastes are collectively
shared, gathered, recycled, and discarded by the main contractor and sub-
contractors of the construction site.

The Group advocates the principle of “4Rs” via monitoring the selection of
sustainable construction materials. We introduce re-usable and environmentally
friendly materials to construction projects where feasible. Precast reusable
formworks which are made up of aluminium alloy or steel were preferred to be
employed for construction works over traditional timber formworks, as traditional
timber ones have a lower reusability. In addition, worn out aluminium alloy and
steel formworks can be scrapped and recycled with ease. These non-hazardous
wastes were recycled and disposed of properly.

We are also committed to maintain a high standard for waste reduction and we

focus on educating our employees on the importance of waste reduction. As a
result, employees’ waste management awareness has greatly improved.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22

P &E -

FEENPHOR B BE LR B HR (T BEERE)
RELEN AN ETMBERRNERRE
REBHN - ARRMT2EERZLEE - Bk TE
AR ER o

BE PR EELCBENNHEERERIEHN -
HEEIHMEERARRANMEENEMEEEE
RPN flanEE BB EIRNPR RN EER
HEHER -

* REY WAL Y KA RABTRFH
HMEALTEX - B EREAHBE

BENERE
BEEEY

HREBHUEE  AEEZETERHAREE
TEERELEMNBEERY -

[

BEERY)

RBEHME AEEEENEETEREYE
EREBEBEEYMEMAEFERY (AR
) ARBELANEEZERVIEZSE -
R AEERY - BREROAS - IR - 85

ReEWEEHREERZYOARER  JiA
RZEEEVHEETHNAERERRD
BEARGR  WE R REE -

AEBERBEEAFERZEMHNEESG
BIARIRA - HARATERTHAIERE
ERHRFEMESIAZEEE - AIREE R
LR B AT AR TR R R IR B E ST A
EREESANEETE  SERERAME
RE) R EEEAMEEIE - th4h - In s & R
TEARFERS R A B FA S BE I B WA - X 1B
FEYAZELRNERE -

BATBEIRERBLEZDNERE - A
EIRHERETHRLBERMNER -
Hit EENEEVERERSIAEES -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

In order to mitigate emissions and wastages produced in the business operation,
the Group has implemented the following measures:

o Sourcing only Forest Stewardship Council (“FSC”) certified plywood and
timber from various local suppliers in Hong Kong, as they are woods
from FSC certified forests, in which FSC helps achieve sustainable forest
management in the world;

J Reusing and recycling materials whenever applicable;

o Seeking for new materials that are more environmental-friendly to replace
plywood in the future;

o Exploring the possibility to switch from traditional formwork (using timber
and plywood) to system formwork (using aluminum and steel) since
aluminum and steel are more environmental-friendly and can generally be
reused by over 20 times in the construction project;

o Using machinery (for instance, the forklifts) which complies with the Air
Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission) Regulation

(Chapter 311Z of the Laws of Hong Kong) at all construction sites;

o Spraying water on the surface of dusty materials before, during and after
excavation; and

o Washing vehicle to remove any dusty materials before leaving a site.

Energy Consumption

The electricity consumption is mainly for office operations, as shown the following
table.

B HBREARS

RBLEBEEFELNFRIORE K&
BEEEMATHERR :

{2 8 & 80 % K2 b JE i85 B Forest
Stewardship Council ([FSCJ) FRF Hy 3 iR
RARM - REF/BEEARM K ELEFSCR
BHHRM  FSCEBREEARGEANE
BARFENRMER ;

RERIER T EEE R R B #

R T REBRIRHFA B AR

RR B ERER (ERBAM RXRIR) &
BB FGER (L Ma &) BrTeelt -
RARBELEE /RRE REEEAR
PRRAEEER 204 L

RIFERETHERATE(ERISRE
Bl GEBRRBE M) (B0 RO (F
ABIEPISEINZE) B (PIIANE) -

RIZERA - ZRAERZREEED
ENMBREEK: &

BEGS T RS L B IAB R E K BB

REIRH#E

BINTRAT BREEFEANPWAZES o

Year ended 31 March Units 2022 2021
BE=A=+—HLEFE By —E--F T —F
Energy consumption and intensity

BRHEEREE

Electricity consumption kWh 4,095 10,931
FE=S TR

Electricity consumption per floor area kWh/sq. meter 1.44 3.85
BAEZAAERAEE FRE,F 75K
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With an aim to reduce energy consumption and emissions, the Group has
implemented the following energy-saving measures:

o Considering power consumption as one of the evaluation criteria for
purchasing electronic devices, and selecting electronic devices that
consume less power;

o Preferring electronic equipment with Grade 1 energy efficiency labelling
when acquisition requisition is made;

o Maintaining the electronic devices currently in use to ensure that the device
is operating properly and to prevent wastage of electricity due to faulty
operation;

o Switching on air-conditioners only when the air temperature is above
24-degrees Celsius and they should be turned off 30 minutes before the

end of office hour;

o Cleaning the air filter of the air conditioner regularly to prevent dust from
accumulating and reducing the cooling performance of the air conditioner;

o Ensuring that all doors and windows are closed to prevent loss of cool air
and increase the power consumption of air conditioners;

o Switching off all electronic equipment when they are not in operation; and
o Switching off unnecessary lighting facilities during the lunch time, and the

last employee who leave the office must ensure that all lights are switched
off.
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Water Usage

The Group has complied with the Water Pollution Control Ordinance. During
the Reporting Period, minimal water consumption was utilised in the office
and there was no issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. The charge of
water consumption of the Group’s offices was charged as part of our property
management fees payable to the property management company and hence we
are unable to collect the water usage information for the purpose of disclosure.

In order to save water and reduce the pollution of waste water, the Group has
implemented the following efficiency measures:

o Prohibiting any wastage of water;

o Fuse Inspecting and identifying any water leakage, breakage or other
potential damage of water pipes regularly;

o Purchasing detergents which are non-phosphorus, low-toxic, and less
polluting;

o Adhering to the principle of “On when in use, off when not in use” in terms
of water usage in toilets and bathrooms;

o Posting promotional posters and cards in prominent areas of the workplace
to remind employees of saving water; and

o Promoting water-saving education and ideas of water-saving among our
employees.

Use of Packaging Materials

As the Group did not engage in any manufacturing or trading of goods, no
packaging materials were used for our business operations.

RIZ - HERERRE
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USE OF PAPER

Our current operations at office and the increasing number of employees has
resulted in our paper consumption contributing to a significant part of our carbon
footprint. Thus, we have made determined efforts to promote digitalization.

The Group will invest in paperless processes and digital fransformation in our
workplace, and if possible, we avoid the printing of lengthy printed manuals for
our projects.

Digitalization of our documents storage system will be implemented by stages,
targeting fo reduce our consumption of paper in the future. We encourage our
employees to reuse and recycle paper and promote double-sided printing.

USE OF RESOURCES

With challenges brought about by severe climate change globally, we are
aware that optimizing the use of resources, including energy, water and other
materials is critical to reduce carbon footprint. The Group adopts various energy
conservation measures to achieve efficient utilization of energy resources and
continually improve our employees’ awareness in water/waste management.

Target

The ESG Committee has set forth a target to maintain a net decrease in emission
and waste in the coming year, the following steps are undertaken to achieve
these objectives. Comparison will be made across years forming the basis of
future policies and initiatives to achieve target emission reduction.
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BRI HERERRE

Initiatives =i

Maior practices adopted in our office are summarized as follows: RMABEMANEEERFALT
Aspects Maijor practices

BHE FEER

Energy Consumption ° Air conditioning on only when above 24 degrees Celsius

° Turn off lights during off-hours

° Switch off all lighting, electrical appliances and office equipment when they are not in
use

. Procure equipment with “Grade 1" energy labels issued by the Electrical and Mechanical
Service Department (‘EMSD")

EENG=F =4 o BRI R 24BN E A FFIZE R

o RIEP AR i AR AR

U BEMAIFEATHRR  ERRNAERE

e HEEERESIREZ(MEIREDZELI—RIEREHENRE

Water Conservation ° Put up water conservation signs in pantry to raise the awareness on water conservation
° Repair pipes and drainage immediately when there is dripping
£ 49 F 7K e HEFUKRRMEHAAKET  REDLHAKEH
o RIR#EERKEREE
Use of Paper ° Reuse and recycle paper, and promote double-sided printing
o Encourage the use of electronic mailing and electronic filing system
R A o B [EI AR ok AN S B & T 4T ET
e WEERETFHUHLEFEEEERS
Waste Reduction ° Sourcing only Forest Stewardship Council ("FSC”) certified plywood and timber from

various local suppliers in Hong Kong

o Reusing and recycling materials whenever applicable

o Switch from traditional timber formwork to system aluminium and steel formwork

o Using environmentally compliant machineries (e.g. forklifts) at all construction sites

° Spraying water on the surface of dusty materials before, during and after excavation

B REY) o {EBFEB KSR A M FE R 8 Forest Stewardship Council ([FSC)) 32 38 ) 58 ik &

AR#F

o RERBERTEEER KLY

o BESEAMERERA R KRR

e MAAREIMERTARERSRE M (HInXE)

o RIZIEAT - BREIERIZEZH AN BN A R EEK

ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES RERBARAER

The Group commits to minimize its impact on the environment as much as  ANEBAFEZ A LBV HIRBENTE Wi
possible and we actively participate in seeking for ways to limit and recycle our 1R E S SK R #) & Bl REEE W R 75 0% » DAIR
waste to preserve the environment and enhance sustainability. HRIRERREAIFEL -

As a formwork works subcontractor, there is no significant consumption of natural ~ #E &R T2 B AEE W REFEKRE

resources except for timber, plywood and aluminium used in the formworks in B A &R - MR T2 E B ARM - iR

which all these resources can be properly scrapped and recycled. RAEBRAN - B Z S EIREAIE E WE R
1 -

REEBEZRERATE FiR 2021/22
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RIR - HERERRE

The Group engages in responsible procurement and we target to expand the
amount of sustainable timber and plywood products handled and used for our
business operations, driving the enhancement of environmental sustainability.
We target to increase the ratio of FSC-certified or the Programme for the
Endorsement of Forest Certification (“PEFC”) certified plywood and timber products
to be procured. In addition, we aim to reduce the number of printouts in office
by launching the digitalization of document storage by stages, hoping to go
“paperless” in the long run.

The Group’s commitment to corporate and environmental responsibility has
remained unwavering. We will continue to review our environmental policies and
green practices from time to time.

CLIMATE CHANGE

Global warming has been one of the utmost concerned issues in recent
years. It is expected that potential extreme weather conditions, sustained high
temperature, change in environmental-related regulations will eventually change
the working environment for all construction related industry players. Part of our
business operations still utilises traditional plywood for formwork works, although
these wastes have been properly recycled, the upstream lumbering of forest for
the production of these timber products were considered one of the root causes
for our global climate change. As a responsible earth citizen, we strive our best to
play a part in reducing carbon footprint fo the society.

With respect to reducing the timber waste that we produce in the ordinary course
of our business, despite that we have in place a thorough system for these waste
to be recycled, the Group actively explores the possibility to switch from traditional
formwork (using timber and plywood) to system formwork (using aluminium
and steel), hoping fo reduce carbon footprint. For aluminium and steel are more
environmental-friendly and can generally be reused by over 20 times in the
construction project, thereby reducing carbon footprint.

Nonetheless, in our office setting, in order to help promoting environmental
awareness among our employees, we often put up various notices fo remind our
employees our “go green” initiatives. We also encourage our employees to take
part in campaigns like “The Earth Hour” and Tree Planting Events organised by the
Group to raise their awareness on climate change.
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2. SOCIAL

OUR PEOPLE

The Group believes that employees are one of the most valuable assets
and is vital to our sustainable development. We consider human resources
management as an integral part of our overall business strategy to retain a
leading and reputable industry position. We trust and respect our dedicated
and highly competent workforce, and is committed to building a diversified and
inclusive working environment for all employees and investing resources in order
to aftract, motivate and retain talents.

Additionally, we recognise that the health and safety of our employees, customers
and the public is of utmost importance to our Group. Hence, we are committed
to placing a high standard of safety management system to protect our front-line
workers and employees while delivering quality projects. We continuously strive
to promote health and well-being for our employees and the community at large.

EMPLOYMENT

We believe people are our most valuable asset of the Group and our core
competitive advantage. As their employer, we are committed to establish a close
and caring relationship with our people. This includes not only offering employees
fair wages and benefits, but also enriching their lives through training and leisure
activities and keeping them safe at work.

As a responsible employer, the Group complies with all relevant employment
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on it, including but not limited
to the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Factories and
Industrial Undertakings Ordinance (Cap. 59 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Occupiers
Liability Ordinance (Cap. 314 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Immigration Ordinance
(Cap. 115 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and Construction Workers Registration Ordinance (Cap. 583
of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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During the Reporting Period, the total number of employees of the Group ~ RIREHME - AEBREEH 1212 A &
amounted to 1,212. All of the our employees are local employees from Hong 2 EEH AFTBAME T @ MR RF
Kong, the employee profiles by gender and age are shown as follows: BRESHEERBRAT

Total Workforce by Gender
R RIE 5 8 TR

Female
77
= B
Male 1.135
B :

0 200 400 600 800 1,000 1,200
By Gender By Age
=Rl R
1%1%
/; Below 20
2085 AT~
[ 20-39
20Z&395%
M Male 40-64
B 40Z 6455
Female Above 64
- i - 648E 3 £
94% o
By Rank By Employment Type
R AR ZERER

0% 100%

/— 100%

[l Permanent
KA
[ Contract
s a4
1=}
= Part-time
| %T?;fs 3
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Welfare and Benefits

The Group has established a fair and reasonable remuneration policy, adhering
to the principles of fairness, incentive and legality. For effective human resources
management, the Group offers rewards (e.g. promotion) and inflicts punishments
(e.g. warning and dismissal) according to the employees’ performance and
conduct. Employees are entitled to all statutory holidays, leave and welfare as
stipulated in the relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to paid
maternity leave, marriage leave, compassionate leave and annual leave. In
addition, the Group believes that maintaining a good work-life balance is vital
to employees’ physical and mental health. Thus, employees are never forced to
work overtime.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-discrimination

The Group always endeavours to provide a fair working environment where
employees are freated equally and respectfully. All employees are assessed
and remunerated based on their skills and competencies irrespective of their
race, religion, gender, age and disability. Through the enforcement of the policy
of prohibiting discrimination and harassment, the Group strives to create a
workplace free of bullying, belittling and sexual harassment. These policies are
documented in the Employee Handbook, and are strictly complied with relevant
local laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Sex Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 480 of the Laws of Hong Kong], the Disability Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 487 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Family Status Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 527 of the Laws of the Hong Kongl, and the Race Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 602 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Any employees violating the
Equal Employment Opportunity Policy and the Non-discrimination and Anti-
harassment Policy will be subjected to disciplinary actions up to termination of
employment contract.

Recruitment and Remuneration Policies

Employees’ professional skills and experience is a direct reflection of our quality
of service. In such, we promote a fair, open, and non-discriminatory employee
selection process. We provide a fair and safe workplace, promote diversity to our
staff, and provide competitive remuneration, benefits and career development
opportunities based on their merits and performance. To attract and retain the
best candidates, we have developed a comprehensive remuneration, reward,
and performance evaluation framework. The promotion of employees are
determined by appraisal conducted regularly by the Group’s management
referencing to the staff performance. Promotions and pay raise are benchmarked
across prevailing market rate to ensure employees are remunerated according to
their market worth.

B HBREARS

\ENFE

AEBRARQF BEIRAEZZRA - HIE
T—ERFEEZHFMER - RERERA
ZEE AKRERBEERBARITIR/GT
Bl ¥k (FIEAE ) Kb LABR 5 ()0 & K i
&) - BEAZEMBEEARMERRE A
BEERS  RELEHN  BRETNRREA
FER BR BMBREFER- U K&
BRE REILEELEZHTFEHNES
ZHEULREEEHEERE - Wit BERTEH
SR WAL o

FERE ZnRRIER

AEE-BEBNAREERERF ZTHERE
SHWERIRTHBRESEE - 2ER
ZAHERF MR EF 2 REBERBEN M E
mAwmEE 2B - R 1R FiRRE
Ko BBRTREEREBEZEER K&
BishElE—ETR RERMEREZT
E5 - BREFMHAZXZHR - AABE
BT BRAMERINES - BRENRR(E
RIBAR D) (BB EHIE480F) - CRR IR
BARDI) (BB EPIFE AT E) ~ (RE ML
BAGRDI) (BEEMNE527F) - R(BKRKE
B (BB EFE2E) - FMERFE
EEBEBEREREEMRBERENES
R EREE  BREERIEEAL -

1818 5% B B o

BEMNEXREMERDAMREEEN
HZER - Bt HAHRERF - AR MIE
BAR R B TREERiE - WARH AT - &
ENIESHM #BEIZ Tl URER
EFMNREMRREHRELFIOTFH - B
LBEERHE - AR3IRBEKEFHNES
AACBMACHEZEOHM - ZE LB
AEIER - BREEADBHAREEREEL2R
8 THEBUE MR R T IARE - B R0
FURTHIS LR R/ELE  UERFREERE
HEM G EERSHRM -

KESEERBERA R F3k 2021/22

67



68

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R HSRERBRS

Dismissal Policies

Our Employee handbook includes guidelines and policies for compensation
and dismissals. The termination of employment contract is governed by internal
policies to ensure all dismissals comply with relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong. The Group strictly prohibits any kinds of unfair or illegitimate
dismissals, and the management conducts face-to-face interviews with the
resigned staff in order to understand employees’ opinions.

During the Reporting Period, we did not identify material non-compliance against
employment-related laws and regulations in Hong Kong, including but not limited
to the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Cap. 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The following table illustrates the turnover rate by gender and by age. All
employees of our Group are locally employed from Hong Kong.

Turnover Rate by Gender

BRI 2RV R R

REBR

ZHMETFME=H BN RERENE
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B ARBEEEMAEANTAFHAIL
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TRETRRUES RIZFREIDNRALE -
AEEMEREAXERETEAM

Turnover Rate by Age
RERESHRKLLE

6.9%
8.00%
1.40%
Male Female Below 20 20-39 40-64 Above 64
B ZH 20BR AT 20&2395% 40E 645% 64 LA £
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group places emphasis on occupational health and work safety, and
provides safety training to employees covering topics on safety measures.
Due fo the nature of works in the construction sites, there are inherent risks of
accidents or injuries. As such, the Group has established a safety management
system, which is certified to be in compliance with ISO 45001 standards, to
provide the employees with a safe and healthy working environment. The Group
has also engaged external safety auditors to conduct safety audit on our safety
management system in accordance with the requirements of the Factories and
Industrial Undertakings (Safety Management] Regulations.

The Group prepares a safety plan for each project, which is conveyed to the
employees before commencement of works. The purpose of the safety plan is to (i)
assess and identify risks associated with the works and environments associated
with each project; and (i) formulate appropriate measures and works procedures
for implementation. Additionally, the Group would have at least one registered
safety officer to closely monitor the employees following the established safety
policies and regulations when carrying out construction works. The safety officer
also conducts regular site safety inspection and provide safety training to the
employees. If there is any occurrence of work-related accident, the safety officer
is also responsible to conduct accident investigation and report to the Executive
Directors and customers. In the event of work-related injuries, the Group will take
all necessary measures to make sure that proper medical care is offered to the
respective employees.

In addition, the Group remains highly vigilant to the potential impact of health and
safety on its employees due to the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak. Apart
from implementing precautionary measures such as providing surgical masks
and hand sanitisers at office, the Group constantly updates relevant policies to
keep in line with the government's guidelines and ensure the policies have been
communicated to all employees. All workers are required to perform COVID-19
Rapid Antigen Test as precautionary measures for entering construction sites as
required.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not identified any material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong relating fo health
and safety that would have a significant impact on the Group. The relevant
laws and regulations include, but are not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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The Group is pleased to report that there was zero case of fatal injury during
the Reporting Period and in each of the past three years including the Reporting
Period. Total lost days due to work injury amounted to 2,285 days; and a total of
10 work injury cases were reported during the Reporting Period.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group regards employees as the most valuable asset. Thus, the Group
provides ongoing training to employees in relation to construction activities,
including technical skills, knowledge and work safety. The Group believes that
investing in employees through training helps promoting job satisfaction and
employee loyalty. The training provides a learning opportunity for the employees
to enhance their competence, job skills, and knowledge in discharging their
duties. It also helps the employees in achieving their personal goals while
aligning their personal development with the Company’s goals.

The Group has established a performance appraisal system to enable our staffs
to have a better understanding of their strengths, as well as to track progress
against their career goals. We aim to unleash our employees’ potential to the full
and we ensure their dedication in professional development is well rewarded.

During the Reporting Period, 290 out of 1,212 (approximately 24%) of the Group’s
employees received training, with a total of 570 training hours.

Training Participation
2 gzl

Participating Employees:
2HES:

[l Non-participating Employees
FBEES

Participating Employees
28

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22

290

AEBMRAZ®H NBRSHEAERNBE=F
(BREBEHE) SFLERLERGEER
H - ATHBERI(FRRBR22858 kK
HEHRHESAHKIORIERN -

9= e

AEEREEAZRLEEE - Bt A%H
FEERHTABELIDNFEEI - B
RAEE - MBR TR E - AKRERS -
BBREIHETETRERDRES TIFEm
BERBTRABE - BillREERH—ESE
BHe NESRFBEITBEMNESD  TF
R ME - TEHEEERABABR
RS EBAZRERARTNEBRERE—B -

AREBERYLTEREZRER  FETHEAE
T REECHMED - WREBEBFRMH
EE - RMEERNDEEEINEN - L E
FEFEEXERTENNHEITO LR

RERERE - AEE2128ESTH 2905
(#724%) EEZIE I 1J A4 K 28R 570/
B o




Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRSE

The percentage of employees trained by gender and by employment rank are as 12 14 5l &2 1% & 18 & 51 & 2 &9 % FIl & & Lt

follows. U
2022
Category % of employees trained
—ECF
5l ZIEERSH
By Gender
21 R
Male 96.9%
S
Female 3.1%
4
By Employee Category
RIEEER
Executives 100%
EBAE
Others 10.4%
H A
The average training hours completed per employee are as follows. BEEB KA TFIIEIIRENT -
2022
Average training
hours completed
Category per employee
—EZF
EZREETHMN
5 TR 8
By Gender
2R
Male 2 hours
St 2/NBF
Female 2 hours
peqcd 2 /NEF
By Employee Category
RIEEER
Executives 2 hours
BEAER 2 /)NBEF
Others 2 hours
Hh 2/NBF
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LABOUR STANDARD

The Group strictly abides the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and other related labour laws and regulations in Hong Kong fo
strictly prohibit any forced or child labour. If management discovers irregular
employment of child labour or forced labour, the Group will immediately terminate
the contract, ascertains the causes and accountabilities. For new recruits, Human
Resources Department inspects and obtains the copies of workers’ identification
documents, including identity card, green card and construction worker’s
registration card. The employment of forced and child labour is strictly prohibited.

During the Reporting Period, all employees were over the age of 18, and were
properly employed in accordance with the requirements of all applicable laws
and regulations. No confirmed non-compliance incidents or grievances were
noted by the Group.

The Group provides equal employment opportunity which is free from any form of
discrimination or harassment. All employees are assessed based on their ability,
job performance and contribution, irrespective of their nationality, race, religion,
disability, sexual orientation, political opinion, gender, age or family status.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The value of well managed supply chain not only demonstrates corporate’s
ability to survive the competitive environment while maintaining the quality of
service, it also ensures productivity and maximize performance. We believe that
procurement responsibilities of our business should include its business partners
as well as upstream supply chain in the long run to enhance sustainability and
respond fo disruptions.

The Group supports the purchase of environmentally-friendly products to
minimize the environmental impact caused by its business operations. The Group
also closely cooperates with the suppliers o maintain the quality of products and
services provided to the customers.

The Group has incorporated the supplier selection and assessment procedures in
their Internal Control Procedure Manual. Purchasing Department of the Group is
responsible for the supplier management and the suppliers are assessed based
on various factors, including the delivery lead time, claim policies, production
facilities and capacities, prices, communication system and efficiency, repair
services, packaging ability, geographical location and environmental compliance.
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Moreover, the Group closely monitors the performance of the existing suppliers
and selects new suppliers based on defined criteria, such as quality, delivery time
and cost, etc. The approved suppliers are evaluated on a regular basis (at least
once a year) by the Purchasing Department to ensure that the quality of products
and services that the Group purchases are up to standard. Suppliers who are not
up to standard for a prolonged period will be disqualified.

The Group adheres to fair operating practices through structured vender selection
processes, from screening criteria to identifying potential environmental and
social risks along our supply chain. The Group tends to avoid suppliers who
impose severe environmental and social impact, and ESG concerns has become
one of our selection criteria upon vendor selection. Sustainable, fair frade and
environmentally friendly products are preferred and procurement decision are not
solely based on price concern.

For example, we only source FSC certified plywood and timber from various local
suppliers in Hong Kong, as they are woods from FSC certified forests, in which
FSC helps achieve sustainable forest management in the world. The Purchasing
Department will take into account of the ESG concerns on the evaluation of
suppliers each year, and ensure that our purchases are from suppliers who are
up to standard.

Currently, the Group has 30 suppliers and all of the suppliers are located in Hong
Kong.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has encountered no incidents of non-
compliance with all related laws and regulations.

QUALITY ASSURANCE

The Group places a heavy emphasis on the quality of services we provide to our
customers. We aspire to maintain high level of service quality by considering
customer needs and interest throughout our operations. The Group has set up
the comprehensive procedures and guidelines to govern the quality control on
the construction works performed, including the incoming materials control, in-
process control and work done control.

If any defect incoming materials are identified, the Site Operation Manager or
Foreman would inform the Purchasing Department to negotiate with the supplier
for a return or goods exchange depending on the required delivery schedule.

In-process control is carried out by the Site Operation Manager. Completed
formwork construction would be thoroughly inspected before inviting the Main
Contractor to carry out the final inspection.
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RIR - HERERRE

Both Chief Executive Officer and Financial Controller will draw the Director’s
attention if the defects are done by similar human’s mistakes or caused by inferior
material item. The Director is responsible to take immediate action to improve
such situation.

Complaints Handling Procedures

Customers’ opinions and feedback help to drive continuous improvement of the
Group and are vital fo its pursuit of excellence. The Group makes every effort
to promptly investigate and resolve all disputes and complaints lodged by the
customers. Upon the receipt of a complaint, the responsible personnel will
investigate the matter and appropriate action will be taken in a timely manner.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material complaint or damage claim
on our product and service quality from our clients. There were no products
sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons and no related
complaints were received.

Protection of Customers’ Data

The Group places vast effort in protecting the privacy of our customers, partners
and employees during the collection, process and use of personal data. The
Group adheres to the relevant regulations, such as the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap. 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong); ensuring that customers’
personal data is securely kept and processed only for the purpose of which it has
been collected.

Intellectual Property Right, Advertising and labelling

Given the nature of our business, our operations do not involve the use of
intellectual property right owned by other parties. In addition, our business does
not involve research and development, product packaging and labelling activities.
We do not rely heavily on advertising and marketing. The Group will closely
monitor the business environment to identify any significant risks in this area.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any incidents of non-
compliance with relevant regulations and codes concerning health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to the provision of the Group’s
products and services. Simultaneously, received no complaint or litigation due
to violation of any national or regional laws and regulations in relation to the
provision of commercial services.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group upholds fair and responsible procurement under our procurement
policy which obligates suppliers to protect basic right of labour as well as
prevention of corruption. We comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other applicable anti-corruption
laws and regulations. We endeavour to maintain sound corporate governance
and risk management to protect the interest of our stakeholders. Our Code
of Conduct provides guidance in relation to declaration of potential conflict of
interests, business ethics, and prohibit our employees to solicit or accept any form
of interests and gifts. Annual trainings on anti-corruption and potential conflict
of interests were provided to directors and staff to ensure our stance on zero-
tolerance in corruption and bribery are well communicated.

The Group prohibits all forms of bribery and corruption, extortion, fraud and
money laundering. We have in place an anti-corruption policy and it is clearly
communicated fo all employees.

The Group also has the whistle blowing procedures in place for reporting any
concerns about malpractices or improprieties. If employees have any relevant
concerns, they can report to the Human Resources Manager, Financial Controller
and CEO via email, telephone or letter. A full investigation will then be conducted,
disciplinary action will be applied to the employees involved upon confirmation of
the occurrence, and further legal action may be taken depending on the nature
and particular circumstances of each case.

During the Reporting Period, there was no incident of non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group relating
to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

As a formwork subcontractor, a portion of our raw material utilised were timber
and plywood. Although recycling procedures are in place and these materials
have been duly taken care of, we, as a responsible corporate who have
utilised natural timber resources, want to advocate constructive environmental
awareness as much as possible. We wish to promote to our employees that
everyone of us should take part in the conservation of our environment. For
constructive impact to GHG emissions, every little bit counts.

During the Reporting Period, we have organized a tree planting event at the Fung
Yuen Butterfly Reserve for our employees and families to participate. Not only
did we plant trees to conserve the environment, our employees were toured and
provided with precious knowledge about the importance of preserving natural
habitat.
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Going forward, the Group shall focus on its contribution on environmental
protection and promotion of health and safety. We strive to enhancing our ESG
performance through raising employees’ and subcontractors” awareness on
environmental protection, and we aim to organise environmental protection
related volunteer service regularly fo contribute back to our society.
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APPENDIX

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRSE

B 8%

EBBREXRZFBRATCRE - 1
2RERBRERSDARB R

Subject Areas Content Section in the ESG Report
TEHE ES BB HERERREEH
A. Environmental
AR
Al Emissions
AVEERR YD
General Disclosure  Information on: Overview
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
—RREEE FHBRLAERBEHEN  M/KRTHNEET  BEERESEEYYN HE
EEERER
(a) B2 &
b) BEFHEEITABEALERNEBERE LA
HEFL -
KPI Al The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
RASRAARIEIRAL  HERU IS LA SOAE B P EE o B
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions Greenhouse Gas Emissions
(in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
MRAEMIERAL2 B (FEE) kg REE (SE2) )RER gi?ﬁkﬁﬁ((w@ﬁﬁ%) N (WER) RERBHN
HRE(WMAGESEM  BERETE
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, Hazardous waste
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Non-hazardous Wastes
BRERIEIRALS MELAGSEEVHESE (UEGE) R (WER)BE (MNSGESEL - AEREVREZTEED
FIERMETE) o
KPI Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, Hazardous waste
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Non-hazardous Wastes
BB E IR IR ALA Fﬁ?iﬂ%EX%%ﬁ 8 (UMEETE) M (WER) BE (MASEEEM - BEEEVLEZTERY

FIERETE

KPI AL5
FABMEIUEIRALS

Descripiion of emission targets set and steps taken to achieve them.

AR ENBINE B ERRBERZS B IEMERER

Use of Resources

BIREH

KPI A1.6

BB MU IR ALG

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
reduction targets and steps taken to achieve them.
MAEEREERBEEREYN L REARLRRERZZAFMER
HRE$E B ©

Use of Resources

BRER
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R HERERRE

Subject Areas Content Section in the ESG Report
e Rk B HOREAREEN

A2 Use of Resources

A2 EARER

General Disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other ~ Use of Resources
raw materials.

—MRIXER BRERER(BIERIR  KREAMERMEL) BBEE - BIREH

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oill  Energy Consumption
in total (kWh in “000s) and infensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

MRERIEEA2] REARSSWEER HEEER(NE  [aoh) BFE CATET #RER
RRE8E) REE (WABEESN - BERBAE)

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,  Not applicable. Explained in
per facility). Section: Water Usage
MRERIERA22 BFEKERTE (MNSESEN B8ERMTE) - NER - BEREIE K
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve  Not applicable. Explained in
them. Section: Water Usage
BRENIEFA23 AR TNRRERRREFERASERZE B EMRIANERE - NER - BEREIET K
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for Not applicable. Explained in
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Section: Water Usage

BRERIERA24 HASKEUER/KR LA B ERER  AERRENBRKBEERERAE TEM - SHHA - AK
HzE BIEMRRAE S

KPIA2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if Not applicable. Explained
applicable, with reference to per unit produced. in Section Use of Packaging
Material
FARERIERA2S HERG@AASEMANEE (UNEGE) k(ER) BEEE(EE - TER - B&HHA -
R BEME

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

AR R RARER

General Disclosure  Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment Environment and Natural
and natural resources. Resources

—MRIREE WEBTABRBERRAARERENERZENBE - RIBERRAER

KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and Environment and Natural
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. Resources

FRAEMIEIREA] HEAEBEHHURREERANERNEAZERERNEEGHATE RIBRRAER

B1TE °
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Subject Areas
TEHE
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RIE - HERERRSE

Content

ES

Section in the ESG Report
B B REAREELD

A4 Climate Change
A4 RAREZAE

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

Climate Change

— R E%%%'J&JE%TEW ARgHBETAEERENEARGHEBEEDN RIRZ L
R
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, Climate Change

and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage
them.

BREMIEFEAM] HAEKKAIRRSHBETAEEXENEARKEHEEE - REHTT REZE\L
)]
B. Social
B.AtE
B1 Employment
BIE(E
Employment and labour practices
BERE IESR
General Disclosure  Information on: Our People
(a) the policies; and Employment
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating fo compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.
—MRIRE TR E BERSEH  ITHERE RE FE#RE  Zob BMNETL
IR AR A R E At A5 38 AR | &Y EE
(a) B K&
b) EFEHEITABEAZENEBER LR
HEFL -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical ~ Employment
region.
FASAERIEIEBRLY IR EREE - Fiedh Mt REI S HES B - B
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Employment
BB EMIEERL2 MR FhAFIKREDHEERMALLE - B
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RE - HERERTRE
Subject Areas Content Section in the ESG Report
FTEHE FS BRI HE@RERRERLM
B2 Health and Safety
B2 EEAZ 2
General Disclosure  Information on: Health and Safety
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating o providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
—RRIE BRARMZE2TERERREREEREBELBEN (R Riges
() BE: K&
b) EFEHEITABEAXENEBERZ LR
BB K} o
KPIB2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past Health and Safety
three years including the reporting year.
BRENIEEBR.2 BE=F (BREERFE)BFRITHHABRLE - fERER 2
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
BREMIEER22 EAIBGHEAIERH - fRFEELT P
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they  Health and Safety
are implemented and monitored.
RABEMIEEB23 MR B RREE LT 21 HERITRERTE - fRREELT P

B3 Development and Training

B3 % B K 123

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging

duties at work. Description of training activities.

Development and Training

—RREEE BHRRTEEBITIIEBE N MB L RRENBE - ftBIES - EEPS=E]

KPIB3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category Development and Training
(e.g. senior management, middle management).

RABEMIEEBR3)  RUERIREEERN(NSAERERE - PREEE) B0NXIEEAS L o BRERIIET

KPIB.3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and Development and Training
employee category.

BSAERIEEBR32 RUERIREERRES  BRESTAXIIN TR - EEPEE
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Subject Areas Content Section in the ESG Report
TEHE DFS BB HEgRERREEH
B4 Labour Standard
B4 %5 T %8
General Disclosure  Information on: Labour Standard
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.
—MRIKEE BRABTIEE T KRoRHI4 TH) - & TR
(a BE: &
b) BTHIEHITABEARLENEBARE KA
BWEH -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and  Labour Standard
forced labour.
RABERIEEBA)  fadtmsT MR E OB AR R ET REH ST - & T AR
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Labour Standard
RASEAERIEIRBA2 MM EIRE R BN EIR A ISP ERERE 5 o 5 T AR
B5. Supply Chain Management
BS5 fit ESE E IR
General Disclosure  Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Supply Chain Management
—RRIE EEHEENRE T GRMBBE - e eI
KPIB5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
BB IEIRBS  RMESOHEEREE - e gt e e
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers  Supply Chain Management
where the practices are being implemented, how they are implemented
and monitored.
FASEAERIEIEBR5.2 M ABEERHERERMNEN  mERNTEREMNHEREE - B HERER
MITRERTE -
KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks Supply Chain Management
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
FASEAERIEIEB53 M AMEBMNHEEREESERSORER T SRRKNEN  ANBEER HERER
TREEFIE -
KPIB5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable Supply Chain Management
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
RABEMIEEBR54 MAEREHERREEZARRERLRBHOEL - LRBEEHRT HERER

NMEZERTT e
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Subject Areas Content Section in the ESG Report
e Rk B HOREAREEN

B6 Product Responsibility

Be EmE(E
General Disclosure  Information on: Health and Safety in
(a) the policies; and Intellectual Property Right,
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Advertising and labelling
impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
—RRIE BRMRHERMBRBNREELZ S  BE  SEELEFEEALE RBEEZZHMHMERE &
R R HERRH
(a) BR: K&
b) EFHEITABERTZENERER LR
BB o
KPIB6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subiject to recalls for safety and  Complaints Handling
health reasons. Procedures
FARENIEIEB6) CEEXCDEXERBAHTRL2ERFEEHMAGLNAEDL BFRERT
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they ~ Complaints Handling
are dealt with. Procedures
RABLE IR EB6.2  ERIERNE KRS IR FEE A R EH 50X - BFRERT
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual Intellectual Property Right,
property rights. Advertising and labelling
BABENIEEB6.3 G R REMBEREEHNIED - HBERE BEENEHR
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Quality Assurance
BRENIERB6A HMBESREFBEREMBOIRF ° BERE
KPIB6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are  Protection of Customers’ Data
implemented and monitored.
BABEMIEEB6.S RMUHBEEMNRERLEBRE  HERTRERSE - BERPERNORE
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Content

ES

B HBREARS

Section in the ESG Report
B B REAREELD

B7 Anti-corruption
B7RES

General Disclosure

Information on:
(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Anti-Corruption

—MRIKE BV ILWHE B1R  BEFRIEREN R&ES
(a BX: &
b) BTHEITABERZENHBEAZ KA
BEH -
KPIB7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought Anti-corruption

BASR AR IR IR BT

against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the

outcomes of the cases.

RBERHEETASIERERHY D RENESHFARTNHRE

MRARAER o

RES

KPIB7.2

RASE A5 WIEIE BT .2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how
they are implemented and monitored.
Py S HE MR R AE - MBAMIT RERTE -

Anti-corruption

RES

KPIB7.3
BB UEIRBT.3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.
HimESERE TIRENRETHF

Anti-corruption
RES

Community
HE

B8 Community Investment

B8t ERE

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities” interests.

Community Investment

—RRIWE BERAUNHEBESERTEHTALENCELRFTENEREZK LTS HRRERE
SEELENEOHEE

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of confribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour  Community Investment
needs, health, culture, sport).

BREMIEEBRS) FEIERER (NHE  REEEH BIFR -BR- HRIRE
XAE - 88F) ©

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community Investment

FASENIEER82 CHEIGEBMBAER(NEENRKHE) - HRIKRE
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Directors’ Report
EEEWmE

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2022.

SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated on 31 May 2019 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Shares were listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 29 September 2020. For details of the
share offer, please refer to the Prospectus.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

Information regarding use of net proceeds from listing was disclosed in the
paragraph headed “Use of Net Proceeds from Listing” under “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is
principally engaged in provision of formwork works services in Hong Kong. The
details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements. There was no significant change in the Group’s
principal activities during FY2022.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on 31
May 2019. The Company’s registered office is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company’s
principal place of business is situated at Room 3312, 33/F., Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi
Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION
In preparation for the Listing, the Group underwent a reorganisation. For details

of the reorganisation please refer to the section headed “History, Reorganisation
and Corporate Structure” in the Prospectus.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for FY2022 by operating segment is set
out in note 3 fo the consolidated financial statements.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 7 September
2020. The Dividend Policy is to ensure that the Board maintains an appropriate
procedure on declaring and recommending the dividend payment of the
Company. Accordingly, the Dividend Policy aims to allow the Shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to
capture future growth opportunities.

According to the Dividend Policy, the declaration and recommendation of

dividends is subject to the decision of the Board after considering the Company’s
ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon the following factors:

° the Group'’s financial results;

o the Group’s cashflow;

o the Group’s Shareholders’ interest;

o general business conditions and strategies;

o the Group’s current and future operations;

o the Group's liquidity and capital requirements;

° taxation considerations;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

o any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a dividend, and subject
to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable. Even if the Board decides to
recommend and pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend
upon the operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general
financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors of and affecting the

Group.

The Board may also consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in
addition to the interim and/or final dividends.

The Board will continue to review and reassess the Dividend Policy and its
effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for FY2022 and the statement of financial position of the
Company and the Group as at 31 March 2022 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements and the consolidated statement of financial
position in this annual report respectively.

The Board does not recommend, at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company, the payment of a final dividend (2021: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting is scheduled to be held on Friday, 23
September 2022 (the "AGM"). To determine the entitlement of the Shareholders
to aftend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, 20 September 2022 to Friday, 23 September 2022, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to attend and vote at the AGM, all share transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the branch
share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong (its
address will be changed to 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong with effect from 15 August 2022), for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on Monday, 19 September 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the Group’s business for FY2022 and the discussion on the Group’s
future business development are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 8 to 9 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 10 to 17 of this annual report. The description of principal risks and
uncertainties the Group is facing and key performance indicators are set out in
the section headed, “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are set out in
note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to minimising the adverse impact to the environment
caused by business operations. In order to comply with the applicable
environmental protection laws and regulations, the Group established
an environmental management policy to ensure proper management of
environmental protection and compliance of environmental laws and regulations
by both employees and workers of the subcontractors on, among others, air
pollution, noise control and waste disposal. The Group will continue to reduce the
impacts of its operation on the environment and continue fo make efforts to save
energy.

A report on the ESG aspects prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules has been incorporated in this annual report..

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During FY2022, there was no material breach or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulation by the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group treasures the relationship with all of its stakeholders and attempts to
engage them through different initiatives. Human capital is the most valuable
asset of the Group. The Group provides and reviews regularly the remuneration
packages, training programmes, and staff engagement activities to keep it
competitive and to attract, nurture and retain talents and employees.

A long-term good relationship with business partners (as well as suppliers and
customers) brings benefits for the Group and is important in accomplishing its
immediate and long-term goals.

Apart from the connection in business relationship, the Group also engages
its customers and suppliers to collaborate and strive for better performance
in business operation, environment, and community investment. The Group
encourages employees to engage in community activities voluntarily.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
FY2022 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ Report
EEEWE

REBRRERE

AREEZNRBEREXHREEHIRIRE
R TFZE - BETERRRREEIZR
MO REBEDRIIRIRERBRABRYL
EEERRREREERDBAN T AR (K
FEE)ERSR BREEGREYEES
BTREEARLRD - AEBFEEREE
EBHRFEIHE  WHEBS KR -

Rz ET R B8R 27 BB RIESG 7 T 2 ¥R
FEEMARFER -

18 <7 1E B8 A D) K A8 )

REFEMA ARECETHARE XK
FREBBEEATENABAN LRD - K=
T__FHBEFERE AKEYESRNERS
PETERED KRB -

%ﬁ%ﬁ%‘%NE&Emm%ﬁ%EZ%
1%

AEEDREMERNE cBAEREMNE
BIFRREEREAE - ANEARAEHE
REBZEE - ARBIEHI T B 6 H M
$8 WBIFEREI2EEE  FRRE
BENLRS] - BERBREATRES -

AEBEEBPERH UARHERRER) Z
FABRRAEEERMNE - THERER
EREBBFEFEE -

BEBMRZMHEN  REBTRESUR
HERHAIEABREBHLE  BERLRR
BEvBERR - ASEHBHE T ARSHL
A -

E B

AEER-_ZF__FURFEZYE BE
REZHHBFRAN R E P B HRRMEZ -

KESEERBERA R F3k 2021/22

87



88

Directors’ Report
EEERE

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of movements in the interest-bearing borrowings of the Group during
FY2022 are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company’s total issued share capital as at 31 March 2022 was 1,600,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each.

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company during FY2022 are set
out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
FY2022 are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to owners
comprising the aggregate amount of share premium less accumulated losses,
amounted to approximately HK$88,382,000.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 176. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during FY2022 and up to the date of this annual report were as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Yam Cheung (Chairman)
Mr. Leung Wing Hoi (CEO) (appointed as CEO with effect from
10 January 2022)
Mr. Leung Wing Chun
Mr. Cheung Kit Hung (former CEO) (resigned on 10 January 2022)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Yau Sheung Hang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Lin Fung

Mr. Chu Hau Lim

Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu (refired on 24 September 2021)

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Directors’ biographical details which is required to be disclosed pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules are sef out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 18 to 24 of this annual report.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, all Directors will retire at the 2022 AGM
and, all being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2022 AGMW.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors
an annual written confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2022 AGM has an unexpired
service contract with the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries, which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions and
Connected Transactions” in this report, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which any of the Company’s Director or
an entity connected with the Director or controlling shareholder or its subsidiaries
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
FY2022 or at any time during FY2022.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during FY2022 or at the end of FY2022 was the Company, its
subsidiaries, its holding company or the subsidiaries of its holding company, a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

At no time during FY2022 or at the end of FY2022 was the Company a party to
any equity-linked agreements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

To the knowledge of the Board, as at 31 March 2022, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (a) which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (b) which were
required, under Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to in
that section, or (c) which were required under the Model Code fo be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Interests in shares of the Company

Name of Director Nature of interest
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Notes:

(1) The lefter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares of the Company/the
associated corporate.

(2)  These 1,200,000,000 Shares are held by Sky Mission, a company incorporated in the
BVI and owned as to 100% by Mr. Leung Yam Cheung. Therefore, Mr. Leung Yam
Cheung is deemed to be interested in all of the 1,200,000,000 Shares held by Sky
Mission for the purposes of the SFO.

(3)  As at 31 March 2022, the issued share capital of the Company was 1,600,000,000
Shares.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
March 2022, there were no interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or were required, under Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred fo in that section, or were required under the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN THE SHARES

So far as the Directors are aware, as of 31 March 2022, the following
corporations/persons (other than Directors and chief executive of the Company)
had interests of 5% or more in the issued Shares or underlying shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Name of shareholder Nature of interest
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() The lefter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  Sky Mission is beneficially and wholly-owned by Mr. Leung Yam Cheung. Therefore,
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung is deemed to be interested in all the 1,200,000,000 Shares
held by Sky Mission for the purposes of the SFO.

(3)  As at 31 March 2022, the issued share capital of the Company was 1,600,000,000
Shares.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
March 2022, no other persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive
of the Company) owned interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO or interests or short positions required to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant o Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

No share option was adopted by the Company.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group’s related party/connected transactions are set out in note 23
to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefit scheme are set out in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for service contracts, no other contracts, relating to the management and/
or administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or subsisting during FY2022.

COMPETING BUSINESSES

During FY2022, none of the Directors or the controlling Shareholders of the
Company and their respective close associates had any interests in a business,
apart from the business of the Group, which competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group which would be
required to be disclosed under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities secured or sustained by him as a Director in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is given
in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed 1,212 employees. The Group continues
to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its workforce by providing them with
adequate and regular training. The Group remunerates its employees mainly
based on industry practices and individual's performance and experience. On top
of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus may be granted to eligible staff by
reference to the Group’s performance as well as individual's performance.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and chief executives, and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group for FY2022 are set out in notes 7 and 8 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles or the
laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on
a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders of the Company.

DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donation during FY2022 and FY2021.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on information publicly
available to the Company, throughout FY2022 and as at the date of this annual
report, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained a sufficient public float
of at least 25% in the issued share capital of the Company as required under the
Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2022.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER FY2022

No important events affecting the Company occurred since 31 March 2022 and
up to the date of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During FY2022, the Group's five largest customers accounted for approximately
77.0% (FY2021: 73.2%) of the total revenue of the Group and the largest customer
of the Group accounted for approximately 23.2% (FY2021: 27.3%) of the total
revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

During FY2022, the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 59.7% (FY2021:
87.2%) of the total purchases of the Group and the largest supplier of the Group
accounted for 26.3% (FY2021: 48.3%) of the total purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
corporate governance report on pages 27 to 48 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2022 were audited by
Mazars CPA Limited. A resolution for the re-appointment of Mazars CPA Limited
as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the 2022 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Leung Yam Cheung
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

m

To the members of
Skymission Group Holdings Limited
lincorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Skymission Group
Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages 104 to 175, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the “Audlifor’s Responsibilities for the Audiit of the Consolidated
financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

B A REN RS

Mazars CPA LIMITED

o 3 R ER (W ) o o s 7 R
42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

T VS H AT U Y 2 1 8% b IR SR 4 248

Tel Fifi : (852) 2909 5555

Fax {1 : (852) 2810 0032

Email % : info@mazars.hk

Website A1k : www.mazars.hk
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B XA RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BARET S

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were E@ﬁ%%?r%léﬁ%?ﬂ%ﬁﬁW§¥¥|J§ﬁ CRE

of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for ¥T$HHZ B BERENETZREENSE
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of EZ%%IEEAﬁfFﬁ% ETEESEMBmE
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion &tﬂﬁ*ﬁ BERREE mEMTeRZSE

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

BRETSE

FEEHEBER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EARESFNIREEREN SR

Refer to notes 2 and 4 to The consolidated financial statements
BEMEEUEHRERNE2 X4

Recognition of revenue and costs from construction contracts

BREESOAEENBAR KA

The Group’s revenue from construction contracts is recognised
over time using the output method, based on direct measurements
of the value transferred by the Group to the customer with
reference to the certified value of work performed up to the end
of the reporting period and the estimated total revenue for the
contracts entered into by the Group. The Group’s contract costs are
recognised when work is performed, together with any provisions
for onerous contracts.

R E%.ﬁfﬁ'ﬁ@éﬁiﬁﬂﬂianﬁzlf’ﬁﬁq AR EE
§ REBREIA N BHERAMEETEE 2 BED
BEHE EEEMREA QKA TR R L LM E
R BEEMEONARET TIERERTAERAS QR
BIF L HER -

We identified the recognition of revenue and costs for construction
contracts as a key audit matter as significant management’s
estimations and judgements are required in determining the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation and the outcome of the construction contracts.

BN AEETE TRBETTROETHAERBLNERS AR
EREFIEREAM RAE - Eﬁzﬁzﬁﬁﬂﬂiﬁ ZHRAKBK
AR BB RS TRt T
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Our key audit procedures, on sample basis where appropriate,
in relation to the recognition of revenue and costs for
construction contracts includes:

BPIBEEREZES QWA RKA Z B E 12 A
B (WER) 8%

° Understanding and evaluating the Group’s processes
and controls over contract revenue and confract costs
recognition and budget estimation;

o TEHWEFE BEREHAHNRARAHKEHER
BB EIRAE A RIEH

° Agreeing the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation to the latest certificates
issued by the customers before and after the year end;

s RHZTKETEANEEINERBATEEPNER
RREANSHES

o Assessing the management's estimate of the impact
to revenue arising from scope changes made to the
original contracts, claim and disputes with reference to
supporting documents including variation orders and
correspondence among the Group and customers;

« BBBET EREFRARESMOENRXE (2
BTREREDREE) FEEEEHEANT
ERMAZE  RERSHSERIUAOTE

° Assessing the reasonableness of the gross margin
during the year by comparing with the budgeted gross
margin of the whole construction project; and

. BMEEERZEFEANAEENTETLE - 5FE
ZF%F‘%%'JTE’JAEEIEE K

° Checking construction costs incurred during the year by
tracing to supporting documents.

o  FBREBHNHREFAELEMRBENRK -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

BRET B

Independent Auditor’s Report
R R CTE S

BARESTEIE (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAaES O RIE R ENSEIR

Refer to notes 2 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements
BB E VB HRRME2 X225

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets

EZRERR RSN EENRETE

The Group applied the simplified approach to calculate the
expected credit loss ("ECL") for trade receivables and contract
assets which is based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date.
Management, with the assistance of independent professional
valuer (the “Valuer”), performed a detailed analysis which
considered customers’ ageing profile, credit history, historical
payment pattern and forward-looking information for the
estimation of ECL on its trade receivable and contract assets.

SRECH . BEEERSHEMEEEE (AHEE
%ED@%@M&%%%%%W%% AW AENARE T
BiE By BB (HES ) R R mO e
GO AP NERES SRS BN R
ARMIEIAR - Sk SRR R A AR R
HEIHE °

We identified the impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets as a key audit matter due to the significance of
the balances. Furthermore, a significant degree of mono?emem
estimation is required in assessing ECL of trade receivables and
contract assets which may affect their carrying amounts.
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Our key audit procedures in relation to the recoverability of
trade receivables and contract assets includes:

BHEBEZRUER K

BHEENRKRE ML 2 FBERE

D+%ﬂ£$ FL?E

Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s credit
risk management and practices and assessing the
Group’s process, policy and key controls relating to the
monitoring of trade receivables in accordance with the
requirements of applicable accounting standards;

I BEEZEERBERRER  WREEH
EORS: JEZJGWE SEEEE RS S RERRE
BH AL - Eﬁwﬁ&?%fﬂ BE I

Evaluating the judgements and estimates made by
management and the Valuer regarding the factors
considered during the ECL assessments of trade
receivables and contract assets with reference fo the
historical payment records, public available information,
credit history of the Group’s customers and forward-
looking information;

%

GREBENTNG  ABTEEL . BEEEF
EORERAREEAN JHERERABN S
SIS RS O 22 LR H b 8
B = Ve 1 e 1 8 e 1

Assessing the competence, capabilities and ot:jecﬂvify of
the Valuer who assisted the management to determine
the ECL;

HpHEREETEMEREBROMEMNEER -
ﬂ&%%ﬁ\”ﬂ&ﬁpﬂéﬁ

Checking the accuracy of the ageing categories of frade
receivables and contract assets, on a sample basis;

%ﬁ RE B 5 R R E KB Em KRR D RN %E

Testing the subsequent setftlements to bank remittance
and the latest amounts of revenue certified by customers,
on a sample basis; and

TMM@'J JEZETTE AN BRBEEE R TP ERNRITK

Checking the calculation of ECL based on the
methodology adopted by the Group and adequacy of
the Group’s disclosures in relation to credit risk in the
consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the 2021/22 annual report of
the Company but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required fo
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors of the
Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease fo continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 June 2022

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is:

Law Lai Ting

Practising Certificate number: P07322
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
reBakHMRERER

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

2022 2021

—Eg-= —E-—F

Note HK$000 HK$'000

Bt THET FHET

Revenue A 4 538,355 534,280
Cost of services PR 75 A A< (482,213) (462,381)
Gross profit EA 56,142 71,899
Other income HaA 5 = 21,458
Administrative and other operating expenses 1T N H fih &8 & 5 % (20,532) (17,303)
Finance costs BT AR 6 (1,145) (468
Listing expenses W& - (5,679)
Profit before tax R AR R 6 34,465 69,907
Income tax expenses FTiS B 6 < 9 (5,678) (9,299)

Profit and total comprehensive income for the AR 2 BA#EHE A BEFERER R

year attributable to owners of the Company 2 HEHWHLEE 28,787 60,608
Earnings per share BRER HK cents HK cents
Bl JEML

Basic and diluted BER K% 10 1.80 4.32

]04 Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e IR R

As at 31 March 2022
RZEZZF=A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M FE FExT FHETT

Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WBE L&A 12 38,476 45,470
Deferred tax assets BEERIAE E 19 357 357
38,833 45,827

Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 PR T B b FE U BR 3R 13 268,730 230,063
Contract assefs BHEAE 14 94,057 92,359
Contract costs A KA 15 7,469 4,053
Income tax receivable FEURFT ISR 3,285 -
Bank balances and cash RITEHRMES 32,372 56,676
405,913 383,151
Current liabilities RBEE

Trade and other payables B 5 e BRI H b B A BR 3K 16 32,696 47,848
Interest-bearing borrowings ATEEE 17 51,202 42,135
Income tax payable FEATFR 1SR - 5,834
Lease liabilities HEAE 18 588 1,122
84,486 96,939
Net current assets REBEEFE 321,427 286,212
Total assets less current liabilities BEERMEBERE 360,260 332,039

Non-current liabilities IRBERE
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIEEE 19 = 159
Lease liabilities HEBE 18 69 476
69 635
NET ASSETS EEFE 360,191 331,404

Capital and reserves BEAXRRHE
Share capital A% 7% 20 16,000 16,000
Reserves fE 344,191 315,404
TOTAL EQUITY e AR 360,191 331,404

These consolidated financial statements on pages 104 to 175 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2022 and signed on its

behalf by:

Leung Yam Cheung
REF
Director

EF

BREIVAZTSBEZEEGYBREEN =
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FRAZTNRABESZSHELR

BTE  BAUATESARES

Leung Wing Hoi

Direcfor

BEF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

- \ Z Q“'ﬁ
A 1‘ mF B
Year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATER AEWL
Reserves
fkfE
Share Share Capital  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve profits equity
A ROEE EXEE  BIFEN ERAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FET FET FET
(Note 20)  (Note 21(a)l  (Note 21(b))
(BIzE20)  (BEE21a)  (BIEE21(0))
At1 April 2020 RZE-EFNMA—H = - 30 163,701 163,731
Profit and total comprehensive income £ 3 | &2 & 1 W i
for the year BE - - - 60,608 60,608
Transactions with owners HiES AZE N5
Contributions and distributions HERS
Issue of shares pursuant to Share Offer 18 & % 1 E#TRD
(Note 20(c) (P 3E 20(c)> 4,000 136,000 - - 140,000
Issue of shares pursuant to the BB E R EITET
Capitalisation Issue (Note 20(bl) P& 17 (Pt 5% 20(0)) 12,000 (12,000) - - -
Transaction cost attributable to BITROBIERFHA
issue of shares (Note 20(c) (BfzE20(c) - (32,935) - - (32,935)
16,000 91,065 - - 107,065
At 31 March 2021 R-B=Z-F
=A=+-H 16,000 91,065 30 224,309 331,404
A1 April 2021 RZE-_-FMAE—H 16,000 91,065 30 224,309 331,404
Profit and total comprehensive income & RUE | K 2 @ W 2
for the year ik - - - 28,787 28,787
At 31 March 2022 RZBZZF=A
=+—H 16,000 91,065 30 253,096 360,191
* Represent amounts less than HK$1,000. * & FEAHN,000 BT ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= ==
mERERER
Year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-—_FZA=+—RALEE

2022 2021
—=E=-= —E-—4F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B FTART FAET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KRy
Cash used in operations KRR G 22 (8,263) (45,096)
Income tax paid BEAEEH (14,956) (29,683)
Finance cost paid RS R IP N (1,145) (468)
Net cash used in operating activities RETEFMARSTFE (24,364) (75,247)
INVESTING ACTIVITY REZH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME  WFERZE (7,838) (44,933)
Net cash used in investing activity RETHARSEHE (7,838) (44,933)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEE
Addition of interest-bearing borrowings HEEEEM 59,194 39,900
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings BEHEEE (50,127) (12,865)
Repayment to the Ultimate Controlling Party BEZEERT HRIE - (174)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEEE 24(b) (1,169) (926)
Issue of shares pursuant fo Share Offer BB B E BTN - 140,000
Transaction cost atfributable to issue of shares BITRMDEGER S - (32,935)
Net cash generated from financing activities METHMEESFH 7,898 133,000
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash ReRRSEEWORL)1EM
equivalents e (24,304) 12,820
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FUReRESEEY
of the year 56,676 43,856
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year, ERBERIRSEEY -
represented by bank balances and cash BERITHEMRRERE 32,372 56,676
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GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

Skymission Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability, and its shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Company’s registered office is located at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.
The Company’s principal place of business is situated at Room 3312, 33/F.,
Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and together with
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in provision of formwork works services in Hong Kong.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate and ultimate
holding company of the Company is Sky Mission Group Limited (“Sky
Mission”), a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI"). The ultimate controlling party is Mr. Leung Yam Cheung
(the “Ultimate Controlling Party”).

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$”) and all amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand
("HK$'000"), unless otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis
consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the 2021 consolidated
financial statements except for the adoption of the following new/revised
HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and effective from the current year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES /conTINUED)

Changes in accounting policies of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/revised HKFRSs
that are relevant to the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
HKFRSs 4, 7,9 and 16 Phase 2

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRSs 4, 7, 9 and 16: Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2

The amendments address issues that might affect financial reporting when
a company replaces the old interest rate benchmark with an alternative
benchmark rate as a result of the interest rate benchmark reform (the
“Reform”). The amendments complement those issued in November 2019
and relate to:

o changes to contractual cash flows — a company will not have to
derecognise or adjust the carrying amount of financial instruments for
changes required by the Reform, but will instead update the effective
interest rate to reflect the change to the alternative benchmark rate;

o hedge accounting — a company will not have to discontinue its hedge
accounting solely because it makes changes required by the Reform,
if the hedge meets other hedge accounting criteria; and

° disclosures — a company will be required to disclose information
about new risks arising from the Reform and how it manages the
transition to alternative benchmark rates.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the Group in
preparing the consolidated financial statements is set out below.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements is the historical cost basis.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprises the financial statements
of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The financial statements of
the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the
Company using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses and profits
and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the
Company and the non-controlling interest even if this results in the non-
controlling interest having a deficit balance.

The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group’s ownership inferest in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity fransactions. The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Changes in ownership interest (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest
determined at the date when control is lost and (i) the carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwilll, and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the disposed
subsidiary are accounted for on the same basis as would be required if
the parent had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any
investment retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by or
to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset, associate,
joint venture or others as appropriate from the date when control is lost.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is presented within
these notes, investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost less impairment
loss. The carrying amount of the investment is reduced to its recoverable
amount on an individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividends received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2022
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly aftributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during
the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated impairment
losses of property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives as
set out below from the date on which they are available for use and after
taking info account their estimated residual values, using the straight-line
method. Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
and depreciated separately:

Right-of-use assets Shorter of assets useful lives or

lease term
Metal scaffold equipment and 4 years
related parts
Motor vehicles 4 years
Decoration 4-10 years
Computer equipment 4 years
Furniture and fixtures 4 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the year in which
the item is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments and on a trade date
basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s
contractual rights to future cash flows from the financial asset expire or (i)
the Group transfers the financial asset and either (a) it fransfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial asset but it does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset,
the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant financing
component) are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case
of financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets. Such trade receivables are initially measured at their
fransaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured at
amortised cost; (ii) debt investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income; (i) equity investment measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income; or (iv) measured at FVPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2022
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assefs (Confinued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the financial
asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial assetfs are not
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes
its business model for managing them, in which case all affected financial
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting period
following the change in the business model.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the
following conditions and is not designated as FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose obijective is to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
arising from impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation process
are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include trade and other
receivables, contract assets and bank balances and cash.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability is
extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in the relevant contract
is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case
of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, fransaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, interest-
bearing borrowings and lease liabilities. All financial liabilities, except
for financial liabilities at FVPL and lease liabilities, are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting would be
insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses ("ECL")
on financial assets that are measured at amortised cost. Except for the
specific treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the Group
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal
to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value
of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference
between the contractual cash flows that are due to an entity under the
contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument while 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments
are grouped based on the following one or more shared credit risk
characteristics:

(il nature of financial instruments;

(il  past-due status;

(i)  nature, size and industry of debtors; and

(iv)  external credit risk ratings where available.

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in
the financial instrument's credit risk and loss since initial recognition. The
resulting changes in the loss allowance are recognised as an impairment

gain or loss in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Confinued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for
internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience indicates
that the Group may not receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
if the financial asset that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group); or

(i) thereis a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2022
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in crediit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort. In particular, the following
information is taken into account in the assessment:

o the debtor's failure to make payments of principal or interest on the
due dates;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument's external or internal credit rating (if available);

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; and

° actual or expected changes in the technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have or may have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor's ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes
that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate otherwise.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition
if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Low crediit risk

Afinancial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:
(i ithas alow risk of default;

(il the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term; and

(il adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

As detailed in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements, other
receivables and bank balances and cash are determined to have low credit
risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables and contract assets without significant financing
components or otherwise for which the Group applies the practical
expedient not to account for the significant financing components, the
Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL. The Group
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date
and has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Confinued)

Impairment of financial assets (Confinued)
Crediit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, having granted fo the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation;

e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties; or

()l the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount
that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable
expectations of recovering the contractual cash flows on a financial asset
in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group expects no significant recovery
from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off
could still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s procedures
for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if appropriate.
Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
equivalents represent short-term highly liquid investments which are

readily convertible info known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

The Group adopts a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations

in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is provision of
formwork works services.

Identification of performance obligations
At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services promised

in a contract with a customer and identifies as a performance obligation
each promise to transfer to the customer either:

(a)  agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or

(b)  a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same
and that have the same pattern of transfer to the customer.

e SRR RE

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE

TESTHBER#E)
ReSEY
IEARERERME  REFEY

BErRERERRENERES BE
BEEHEBRIANEHSRBIERE

LN

FEEMBHREENESRANERLA
LN

A E BN ATER A AL

F1F . BRIEFEPFIVMNAH

F2F: BRIANTHNENEL

F3F: EBEXRPE

F4%: BRHEIEEANTHE
WEME

F£5F: RAKEEKBEHEETE
(S Btut) HERWA

Em e RFIEE

AEBERHEERIREOELE BRRH
R TR -

I ERI R (T

EAA%’JETiZ?)] CAEEFEERR

PR EFNERIRE  TERE
}ELE%LATZ W ESEEESR A —
HEHEMT:

(@ HRTAMERIRH (4
Em R ¢ 3

bl —ZRFREMER L AERRAE

FETEPNERTRNE MER
ir%o

AEEEERABRA R F3k 2021/22

121



122

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R RMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Identification of performance obligations (Continued)

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of the
following criteria are met:

(a)  the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own
or together with other resources that are readily available to the
customer (i.e. the good or service is capable of being distinct); and

(b)  the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer
is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract (i.e. the
promise to transfer the good or service is distinct within the context of
the contract).

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring a promised good or service (i.e. an asset) to a
customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control
of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore,
satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one
of the following criteria is met:

(a)  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

(b)  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset (for example,
work in progress) that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

(c)  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative

use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group satisfies
the performance obligation at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the promised asset. In determining when the transfer of control
occurs, the Group considers the concept of control and such indicators
as legal title, physical possession, right to payment, significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Revenue from provision of formwork works services is recognised over time
using the output method (as explained below).

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15, provided the outcome
of the performance obligation can be reasonably measured, the Group
applies the output method (i.e. based on the direct measurements of
the value to the customer of the goods or services transferred to date
relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract) to
measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation because the method provides a faithful depiction of the Group’s
performance and reliable information is available to the Group to apply the
method. Otherwise, revenue is recognised only to the extent of the costs
incurred until such time that it can reasonably measure the outcome of the
performance obligation.

Variable consideration

If the consideration promised in a contract includes a variable amount
(variations in contract work), the Group estimates the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised goods or services to a customer. The variable consideration is
estimated by using either the expected-value or the most-likely-amount
method whichever is better to predict the entitled amount. The estimated
variable consideration is then included in the transaction price only to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised of the contract will not occur when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T--_F=A=+—HILFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component (i.e. the
customer or the Group is provided with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer), in determining the
transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised consideration for the
effects of the time value of money. The effect of the significant financing
component is recognised as an interest income or interest expense
separately from revenue from contracts with customers in profit or loss.

The Group determines the interest rate that is commensurate with the
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing fransaction between
the Group and its customer at contract inception by reference to, where
appropriate, the interest rate implicit in the contract (i.e. the interest rate that
discounts the cash selling price of the goods or services to the amount paid
in advance or arrears), the prevailing market interest rates, the Group's
borrowing rates and other relevant creditworthiness information of the
customer of the Group.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS
15 and does not adjust the consideration for the effect of the significant
financing component if the period of financing is one year or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e.
the gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired
financial assets.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer
before the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, the
contract is presented as a contract asset, excluding any amounts presented
as a receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration, or the Group
has a right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract is presented
as a contract liability when the payment is made or the payment is due
(whichever is earlier). A receivable is the Group's right to consideration that
is unconditional or only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. Contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

For the business of provision of formwork works services, in accordance
with the standard payment schedules of the Group and the contracts
with the customers, payments are normally not due or received from the
customer until the services are completed or when the goods are delivered
and certified by the customers. However, for such transactions, revenue
is recognised over time and therefore, a contract asset is recognised until
it becomes a receivable or payments are received. During that period,
any significant financing components, if applicable, will be included in the
contract asset and recognised as interest income.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Contract costs

Contract costs are costs (other than those that are accounted for as
property, plant and equipment) to fulfil contracts with customers.
Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses.

The costs to fulfil contracts are capitalised if the costs relate directly to
an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated confract,
generate or enhance resources that will be used to provide goods or
services in the future, and are expected to be recovered. Other costs of
fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant
and equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as incurred. The costs
are amortised on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services under the specific existing and
anticipated confracts to which the costs relate.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset exceeds (a) the remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange for the goods
or services to which the asset relates; less (b) the costs that relate directly to
providing those goods or services and that have not been recognised as
expenses. A reversal of impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
the impairment conditions no longer exist or have improved provided the
increased carrying amount of the asset shall not exceed the amount that
would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised
previously.

Foreign currency translation

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities
are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The Company’s
functional currency is HK$.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the franslation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal and
external sources of information to assess whether there is any indication
that property, plant and equipment and the Company’s investment in
subsidiaries may be impaired or impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that
generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or
cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses are recognised as an expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount of the
asset or cash-generating unit that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversal of impairment
loss is recognised as an income in profit or loss immediately.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on the temporary
investment of the specific borrowings, that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T--_F=A=+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation
can be made. Expenditures for which a provision has been recognised are
charged against the related provision in the year in which the expenditures
are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the
time value of money is material, the amount provided is the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. Where
the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain.

Leases
The Group as lessee

The Group leases various offices and warehouses. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of one to three years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants,
but leased assets may be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset (included in property, plant
and equipment) and corresponding liability af the date of which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit
or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the

following lease payments that are not paid:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any
lease incentives receivable;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise that option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the followings:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentive received;

any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs unless those costs are incurred to produce
invenfories.

Payments associated with short-term leases or leases of low-value assets
are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term as an expense
in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less. Low-value assets comprise small items of office furniture with
individual value below HK$39,000.

The Group as lessor

The Group leases certain of its property, plant and equipment, comprising
metal scaffold equipment and related parts to other third parties.

Rental income from leases is recognised in revenue on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging a lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

e MR RMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE

FEESHBE#E)
HE (&)
AEBEBEBA (F)

MEEEWNEERABMSRRER
ESFE - HEABBREAUATANEE
R IR{EH 58 -

o BEEMNK(BHRELREENR) R
L A7 FE Y HE 5 2R R

o  IRBEMTEER (WAEAA
EEEITEZEN) « &

o XMKIEEEMETR (WEE K
PR B TEENKEHE) -

EREEERKANE - BRATEE:
s HEREMVISIESER:

o RFA A M Z ATFTER E M
BN BEMFSHEAEES
B

o EMUMBMEEKAE R

o BERAE BRIFZXEXNARR/EL
FEmM#ELE

HEHHEXREEEEMERED
RN EMARES NIZEREER
RAX - EHEEEEMS2MEA K
UTWHE - KEBEEEERFEMERNE
{B{E72 39,0008 TR H AR AL/ N1

AEBERHEA

AEEMHEME=THEEETYE
BB KR Bite B mas ki
AT

MENHESKRANEREEFHRZ
HREERKARER - E8 MR8
MEEENTBERRANARESR
EMRREEXAERNIREREEREDT -

RESEZERER AR F¥ 2021/22

129



130

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, the cost of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme
in Hong Kong are recognised as expense in profit or loss as incurred. The
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group’s entities
established in Hong Kong in an independently administered fund.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income over the years necessary to match the
grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.
When the grants relates to an asset, the fair value is recognised as a
deduction from the carrying amount of the relevant asset and is released
to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments.

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the year as
adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of each reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, any deferred tax arising from initial
recognition of goodwill; or other asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is recovered or the
liability is seftled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be utilised.
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investment
in subsidiaries, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the
Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(il has significant influence over the Group; or

[iiil  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of the holding company of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES [CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each holding company, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity
is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group.
If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified
in {al.

A person identified in (alli) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a holding company of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or
to the holding company of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity and include:

(a)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

()  dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries of the
associate and a joint venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the consolidated financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s chief operating decision-
maker, namely the executive directors, for the purpose of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines
of business and geographical locations.

Operating segments that meet the quantitative thresholds are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Other operating segments may be aggregated if
they share a maijority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements
are made by the management in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses,
and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and
are based on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Where appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
il Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The management determines the estimated useful lives of the
Group's property, plant and equipment based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of the relevant assets of similar
nature and functions. The estimated useful lives could be different
as a result of technical innovations which could affect the related
depreciation charges included in profit or loss.

(il Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The management determines whether the Group’s property, plant
and equipment are impaired when an indication of impairment
exists. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the
property, plant and equipment, which is equal to the higher of fair
value less cost of disposal or the value in use. Estimating the value in
use requires the management to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the property, plant and equipment and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. Any impairment will be charged to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES /conTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Loss allowance for ECL

The management of the Group estimates the loss allowance for
trade receivables and contract assets by using various inputs and
assumptions including risk of a default and expected loss rate. The
estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which is based on the
Group’s historical information, existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying amount of trade receivables and contract
assets.

Revenue recognition from construction works

As explained in the paragraph headed “Revenue recognition” in note
2 to the consolidated financial statements, management measures
the value of completed construction work based on output method,
which is to recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurement
of the value of construction works transferred to the customer to
date relative to the remaining construction works promised to be
completed under the construction contracts. Because of the nature
of the activity undertaken in construction contracts, the date at
which the confract activity is entered into and the date when the
activity is completed usually fall into different accounting periods
and the scope of work may change during the construction period.
The management's estimate of revenue and the completion status
of construction works requires significant judgement and has a
significant impact on the amount and timing of revenue recognised.
The Group has the quantity surveyor to periodically measure the value
of the construction works completed for each construction project
and issue the interim payment applications. The construction works
performed by the Group would also be certified by the customers
periodically according fo the construction contracts. The management
reviews and revises the estimation of contract revenue prepared for
each construction contract as the contract progress based on the
interim payment applications and the payment certificate issued by
the customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES /conTINUED)

Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of approving the consolidated financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued the following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for
the year ended 31 March 2022, which the Group has not early adopted:

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use !
Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fuffilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs  2018-2020 Cycle!

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies ?

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates ?

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related fo Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction 2

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and

HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture *

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

8 The effective date to be determined

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the adoption of the
new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will have any material impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The directors of the Company have determined that the Group has only one
operating and reportable segment throughout the reporting periods, as
the Group manages its business as a whole as the provision of formwork
works services in Hong Kong and the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision-makers of the Group, regularly review
the internal financial reports on the same basis for the purposes of
allocating resources and assessing performance of the Group. Segment
information is not presented accordingly.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal place
of the Group’s operation is in Hong Kong. All of the Group’s revenue from
external customers during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 is
derived from Hong Kong and all of the Group’s assets and liabilities are
located in Hong Kong.

Information about major customers

Details of the customers (including entities under common control)
individually accounting for 10% or more of aggregate revenue of the Group
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as follows:
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FRATEEFNEN
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A0% A EREFE (B EREGT
MER)FBHT :

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FBT FHET

Customer A =FEA 114,621 145,667
Customer B =FB N/A 7 35 f Note izt 75,495
Customer C ®FEC 58,889 72,201
Customer D ZFED 124,994 61,838
Customer E =FE 57,076  N/AZiE g Notelfiix
Customer F =FF 59,005 N/AZ i f NoteflsE

Note: The customers contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of the Group for
the reporting period.
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Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T--_F=A=+—HILFE

4.

REVENUE

4{a)

4(b)

4c)

Analysis of the Group’s revenue

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, all of the Group’s
revenue was arising from provision of formwork works services. All of
the Group’s revenue from provision of formwork works services was
recognised over time.

Performance obligation for contracts with customers

The Groups provides formwork works services to customers. The
revenue of such services is recognised over time as the Group
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
assets is created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised for these
construction services based on the value of completed construction
work using output method.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same contract,
is recognised over the period in which the construction services are
performed representing the Group’s right to consideration for the
services performed because the rights are conditioned upon the
satisfaction by the customers on the construction work completed
by the Group and the work is pending for the certification by the
customers. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at the time
the Group obtains the certification of the completion construction
work from the customers.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) (upon taken into
account adjustments and variation orders) as at 31 March 2022
amounted to approximately HK$481,000,000 (2021: HK$526,000,000).
Management expects that all the remaining performance obligations
will be recognised as revenue ranging from 1to 3 years from the end
of the year (2021: 110 3 years).
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6.

OTHER INCOME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE

HAA

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F

HK$000 HK$'000
TiERT TAT

Subsidy income Notel

Others

il B M A )

Hith

= 21,329
= 129

= 21,458

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised government
grants of approximately HK$21,329,000 in respect of anti-epidemic fund (the
“Employment Support Scheme” and “Employment Support Scheme for the
Construction Sector (Casual Employees|’) provided by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. In the opinion of the management
of the Group, there were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to
these grants. No government grants were recognised for the year ended 31

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

March 2022.

This is stated after charging (crediting):

Wi REZE_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—
BILFEE  ASEREEFT
HEBRNRENTEESER
BFmEE (R %8 k12
BEERBEE (BREEE)D
#921,329,0007 7T ° AN £ B E B
BRA WEHEZSHEARN
M AR ZE AR S A EIE - RNE,
E-T-—f#=-A=+—AL
FEEWEFERBTH -

BR A= A

LB ER (FEA) THI%IA

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET
a)  Finance costs a B
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 54 81
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings STEEERNE 1,091 387
1,145 468
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T--_F=A=+—HILFE

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX [CONTINUED)

This is stated after charging (crediting): (Continued)

6. BRBLANER (#)

HEMER GEA) THEIRE : ()

2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT T
b)  Staff costs, including directors’ by EBIRK(BIFEZESHH)
remuneration
Salaries, allowances, discretionary bonus e RAL - MIBEA R EAM
and other benefits in kind EWE 341,787 319,455
Contributions to defined contribution plans TE BB RET B A R 9,750 10,096
Nofe Bt 351,537 329,551
¢  Otheritems o HtbEA
Auditor's remuneration 1% R 7 B 1,500 1,500
Cost of materials recognised as cost of T 3R 7 BR 7 B AR B A1 KA AR
services 86,068 105,411
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREREBTE
equipment (included in “cost of services” GTATRBEA] R
and “administrative and other operating [T R E b 4 2 B 7 |
expenses’, as appropriate) (fwi@A)) 15,060 7,558
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEME  BREREHEZER
equipment - 15
Reversal of loss allowance for trade 2 5 EWAR KB BB E R
receivables (included in administrative GrFATTB R EMEEFRE)
and other operating expenses) (2,655) (510)
Provision for (Reversal of) loss allowance for AHEEBBREBTRE (D)
confract assets (included in administrative GIATTB R EMEEFE)
and other operating expenses) 46 (1,092)
Subcontracting fees recognised as cost of WRAREEEE D BE
services 24,898 12,094
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2022, total staff costs of HK$341,867,000 Miad REBEEZ_Z-__F=A=+—H1

(2021: HK$321,008,000) were included in the cost of services. The remaining
staff costs were recognised in administrative and other operating expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e I

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS 7. EZERBSTBRAEME
Certain directors of the Company received remuneration from the entities RARMETESEREHE-S ==
of the Group during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 for their —E-—FZA=Z+—HILFEE
appointment as employees of these entities. The aggregate amounts of EARENERBUNDREZERERAZSE
remuneration received and receivable by the directors of the Company EREENFMN BHE_T-__FK
during the years ended 31 Mach 2022 and 2021 are set out below. 2 4F=ZA=+—HLEFE &K
ARAEFCWRERFT LS ER
P o
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE-_Z-__Ff=B=+—HLEE
Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other to defined
Directors’ benefitsin  Discretionary ~ contribution
fees kind bonus plans Total
E e A=
REHAM TE B
EEHE EMEA BBTE4l  SrEIMMER #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET FTAT TET FTART FAERT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung REFRE - 1,800 - 18 1,818
Mr. Leung Wing Chun REHESE - 960 - 18 978
Mr. Leung Wing Hoi REBEE - 960 - 18 978
Mr. Cheung Kit Hung Mie? 8R4 4 4 (it - 119 - 15 1134

Non-executive director FHITES
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang ErfEE 120 - - - 120

Independent non-executive B IFHITES

director
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu e? A& Jk 5 A 1152 125 - - = 125
Mr. Ng Lin Fung REEFRE 250 - = - 250
Mr. Chu Hau Lim REREE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Leung Ka Ho BRESE 120 - - _ 120

765 4,839 = 69 5,673

*EEERRaRAR £5 202122 14]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R RMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

7. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS continuep) 7. BEERBESTHASEME (&)
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE-_Z-_—F=A=+—BLEE
Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other to defined
Directors’ benefitsin  Discretionary ~ contribution
fees kind bonus plans Total
e R
R E At FEFR MR
EE 2k EWaEF BISMEAL  FTEIMER fst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET FET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung RIEHLEE - 1,800 - 18 1,818
Mr. Leung Wing Chun R E - 960 - 18 978
Mr. Leung Wing Hoi REBLE - 960 - 18 978
Mr. Cheung Kit Hung SRR A - 1,440 - 18 1,458
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang EHEEE 60 - - - 60
Independent non-executive B I ITES
directors
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEIREE 125 - - - 125
Mr. Ng Lin Fung REBRLE 125 - - - 125
Mr. Chu Hau Lim RERELE 75 - - - 75
Mr. Leung Ka Ho REBELE 60 - - - 60
445 5,160 - 72 5,677
Notes: Bt 5
1. Mr. Cheung Kit Hung refired as an executive director of the Company on 10 1. REBEER T -__F—HF+H
January 2022. RERNBRITES o
2. Mr. Lam Kwong Siu resigned as an independent non-executive director of the 2. MBEXEER-_Z_—FHAAZ=T+H

Company on 24 September 2021.

Mr. Cheung Kit Hung cease to be the chief executive officer of the Group
with effect from 10 January 2022, and the Group appointed Mr. Leung Wing
Hoi as the chief executive officer with effect from 10 January 2022. Both of
the emoluments disclosed above included those for services rendered by

them as chief executive officer during the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any of these directors as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office. There was
no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

An analysis of the five highest paid individuals during the years is as
follows:

e SRR RE

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE

EBENBESTHAEME &)

BE-ZT-_—_FRZFT=_—F=H
=+ —BHLFE AEERERTW
WEEELZMNE - 1EARWSIHEZ N
NSNS &R B s 1) 22 B sl BEBR # (2 o
BE_SE-_—_E#Kx-_FT-—F=A
—t+—BHLFE BEEEHEXR
EMERWEFMMAOZHE -

hERSHMA L

RER  DBERHFMA LTI :

Number of individuals

AE
2022 2021
s B
Director = 3 Notefffit 2
Non-director FEE 2 3
5 5

Note: Two directors received the same amount of remuneration during the year
ended 31 March 2022 which were ranked as the fifth highest paid individual
of the Group. However, only one director was listed in the above 5 highest
paid individuals information.

Details of the remuneration of the above highest paid non-director
individuals are as follows:

M MEBEEFRBE_T__F=A
=+ —HIEFENHHRER - BEL
JIREEEREHZESHIMAL AW -
bFisERaHFMALHEAER S
BIH—REE-

LR FHIFESATOHFHFBE
™

2022 2021

g B

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Salaries, allowances and other benefits in kind ¥4 - 285 & H b & #4187 2,509 4,298
Contributions to defined contribution plans TE R EGTBIM 3K 36 54
2,545 4,352

AEEEERABRA R F3k 2021/22
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR AR MR

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

8. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED) 8.

The number of these non-director individuals whose emoluments fell within
the following emoluments band is as follows:

EEBEFMAL

HEFEEATHHEN F TN
BEEIM AT

Number of individuals

AH
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7% 7T = -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001,%8 7T £ 1,500,000 7% 7T 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T Z 2,000,000 7% 7T - 2
2 3

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no remuneration were
paid by the Group to any of these highest paid non-director individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as a compensation
for loss of office. There was no arrangement under which any of these
highest paid non-director individuals waived or has agreed to waive any
emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

HE_ZT-_—_F#R-_ZFT-_—F=A
Z+—BLFE AEERERTR
hEERFHFEESATIMNEHN £
ﬁwaﬁWMA&MAKEIMMﬁ
B ERmE - HE T _—F K=
T F=ZRA=+—HILFE #HE
TAHEESHIIEEEAIHESE
B ERETMBES L -

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 9. FBBiIRAX
2022 2021
—E- —E-—%F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current tax BOERBL 1R
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEENEH
— current year —KREEZ 5,977 9,335
— over provision in prior year —RAFEBEEE (140) (36)
Deferred tax IEERIE
Origination and reversal of temporary AR EE RER (FFFE19)
differences (Note 19) (159) -
Income tax expenses PSRRI X 5,678 9.299

The Group entities established in the Cayman Islands and the BVI are
exempted from income tax.
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Notes to the Consolidated

INCOME TAX EXPENSES /(CONTINUED) 9.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime with effect from the year of
assessment 2018/2019, the first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of
qualifying group entity are taxed at 8.25%, and the assessable profits
above HK$2,000,000 are taxed at 16.5%. The assessable profits of entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime continue to be
taxed at 16.5%. For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, Hong Kong
profits tax of a subsidiary of the Group is calculated in accordance with the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime.

Reconciliation of income tax expenses

Financial Statements
e B RS ER R MR

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE

Frig®if s (@)

BEE-_Z—N\F /- NLFRM
FREBAERNORBFNERHE - & &K
SEEEERY R M A H 2,000,000
BILH A BRI E 58.25% @ BB
2,000,000 7 7T B J& 2R 5 155 71422 16.5% 4
i o EESAER PR T M T/ & AR
FIS B HIA ZE sk - B BT %16.5%
B - EBE_E-_—FER_FE-—F
“A=+—BHLEFE A£E—HW
BRRMEBFEH IR EMREFE
TRBIFETHE -

FriS %X H IR

2022 2021

—E-= T —F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Profit before tax B 3% Bl i A 34,465 69,907
Income tax at applicable income tax rate BREAMEHNEFTENREH 5,687 11,534
Non-deductible expenses AT 07 A 32 253 1,161
Tax exempt revenue o B ER (438) (3,789)
Tax concession B ER (175) (175)
Over provision in prior year BEFERERE (140) (36)
Unrecognised tax losses ANERIEE S 488 406
Others HAh 3 198
Income fax expenses PS5 B X 5,678 9,299

AEEEERABRA R F3k 2021/22
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE 10. BRER
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the RATHEBAEBEERERRN TR
Company is based on the following data: AT EURETE -
2022 2021
—Eg=-= —E-—F
Profit: A
Profit attributable to owners of the Company RARHE ANEMERF (FHET)
(HK$000) 28,787 60,608
Number of shares: ROEE :
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B 317 & @A N4 FH & (T %)
in issue ('000) 1,600,000 1,401,644
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit BRERNBANDHERAAARRRHE
attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted average number ANEBRREN B ET SRR METS
of ordinary shares in issue during the period. HEH -
Diluted earnings per share are same as the basic earnings per share as BHRBE_Z-__FR-_F-_—F=
there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during the A=+—RI-FEEETaEINGS
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. BAELER WEREEFRFNHEAGR

EARBHMER -

1. DIVIDENDS n KR
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect for EFEUTERENEE T -__F=
the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil). A=+—BLEFERNEFARE(ZF
—F )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

= A\
e

B R AR BT AE

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE

12. % BERRE

Metal
scaffold
equipment
and Furniture
Right-of-use related and Computer
assefs parts fixtures Decoration equipment Total
SEEE
FER
EREEE BHEZH  BRREE £ B %A @Er
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TET TET FET TET THT TET
(Note 12(a))
(B &E12(a))
Reconciliation of carrying ~ BRE{E %8R —
amount - 31 March 2021  —Z=—#
=ZRA=t-H
At April 2020 R-F-EENA—A 1,585 5157 28 407 14 7191
Additions HNE 919 44,423 100 410 - 45,852
Disposal e - - - (15) - 15)
Depreciation e (962) (6,446) (25) 21 (4) (7,558)
At 31 March 2021 R-B-—&
=A=+—H 1,542 43,134 103 681 10 45,470
Reconciliation of carrying ~ BRE{E ¥ BR—
amount-31March 2022 —Z==f&
=B=t+-H
At April 2021 RZZE-Z—FNA—H 1,542 43134 103 681 10 45,470
Additions NE 228 7,778 60 - - 8,066
Depreciation e (1,142) (13,675) (43) (190) (10) (15,060)
At 31 March 2022 RZZ2ZZ
=B=+—-H 628 37,237 120 491 - 38,476
At 31 March 2021 R_Z_—%F
—A=+—H
Cost PR 3,02 55,700 173 1,035 33 60,043
Accumulated depreciation 23t E (1,560) 12,566 (70) (354) (23) 14,573)
1,542 43134 103 681 10 45,470
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF
=ZA=t-H
Cost XA 2,758 55,581 233 1,035 33 59,640
Accumulated depreciaion 25t E (2,130) (18,344) ma) (544) (33) (21,164)
628 37,237 120 491 - 38,476

RESEZERER AR F¥ 2021/22
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R RMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
12(a) Right-of-use assets

The analysis of right-of-use assets by class of underlying assets is as

12.

M BMERRE @)

2() FHEEE

RIEHEED BNEREEERN

follows: ST :
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Offices /NS 263 845
Warehouses BE 365 697
628 1,542
The analysis of expense items in relation to right-of-use assets RiEmREREAEHEEER BN
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: FXIEERSTIAT
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets £ I iEE EWITEE A
Offices WAE 1,085 403
Warehouses BE 57 559
1,142 962

The Group’s right-of-use assets represents leases of various offices

AEENEREEERAREAR
LEHEZEALNEENRAE
LRE BN FR-—E=F-
HEGRIZERNELERER LB
=LA R R 1 - HE
I e pEAT 2255 -

and warehouses located in Hong Kong for its daily operations
and with lease terms ranging from 1to 3 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain similar terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants.

148

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22



13.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

e B HRRMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE

13. B BRI H 1 FE W BR X

2022 2021

—Eg-= —E-—F

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

M3 FHET FHET

Trade receivables of construction works ZEE T2 E 5 EU R 264,289 219,852
Less: Allowance for ECL B TBEEEEERE 13(b) (2,329) (4,984)
13(a) 261,960 214,868

Other receivables H i FE UL BR X

Deposits and other receivables Re Kk H b FE YR K 326 570
Prepayment to suppliers [r) 54 7 TR AT R 6,319 14,273
Other prepaid expenses HmERRAX 125 352
6,770 15,195

268,730 230,063

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks for trade and other
receivables is included in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

13(a) Trade receivables of construction works

The Group would normally require the customers to certify the
construction works completed and make payments within 35 to 45
days from the date of issuance of the Group’s payment applications.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for ECL)
based on the date of issuance of the Group’s payment applications
at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

EHAEEE 5 WKL HE MR
RRARZEERBRNERERGES
8 75 AR BT RE 25.

1B(a) EETEE S BUERM

AEBBREEREPZBE THK
B TIR WAL
FEE 7 B35 E 45 B ARTFR -

RMEBRR  ERRNEEE K
EAFEBENE S ERERZR 0
BRIEHEEEEREB NERED
M :

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Within 30 days 30K - -
3110 60 days 31E60H 26,715 43,061
6110 90 days 61290 H 28,067 45,413
Over 90 days but less than 1year H@BIORER—FN 185,142 112,351
Over 1year HBIA—F 22,036 14,043
261,960 214,868
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T--_F=A=+—HILFE

13.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 13. B 5 EWRR N HAth FE UL BR =X
(&)

13(a) Trade receivables of construction works (Continued) WBlo) BETREEZBBIRM (Z)
At the end of each reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade REMEHR - JHAHEFE
receivables (net of allowance by ECL) by due date is as follows: WERR (BB EEBEERE)

R DT
2022 2021
—E—-_= —E - —F
HK$000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Not yet due REIH] 7,937 7,780
Past due: B

Within 30 days 30 A & 26,058 41769
31to 60 days 312 60H 27,964 52,677
61to0 90 days 61290 H 45,962 38,689
Over 90 days but less than 1year BB HER—FR 143,525 60,026
Over 1year il —F 10,514 13,927
254,023 207,088
261,960 214,868

The Group does not hold any collateral over the frade receivables. REBAVARE HERKESRFR

EfER R -
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13.

14.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES /(CONTINUED)

13(b) Allowance for ECL

The movement in the provision for loss allowance for trade

e B HRRMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE

13. &5 BUWARFR R H b B U BRFR
(#&)
13(b) FEHIE EE R RE

B 5 i R R R B R

receivables is as follows: EJLUNNE
2022 2021
—E2-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAT
At the beginning of the reporting period RS H ) 4,984 5,494
Reversal of loss allowance e RO (2,655) (510)
At the end of the reporting period & B 2,329 4,984
CONTRACT ASSETS 4. 5HEE
2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET AT
Analysed as current: DB RE :
Unbilled revenue of construction works AHEBEZETREIA 33,343 44,389
Retention money receivables of construction Z5 TR EINIRE €
works 60,806 48,016
94,149 92,405
Less: Allowance for ECL B TEHEEBERE 14(b) (92) (46)
94,057 92,359

AEEEERABRA R F3k 2021/22
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

14.  CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks for contract assets is
included in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

14.

BREE#)

BRAKBERANEEMAEERNEER
AR E R BN A B MR 2S5 ©

Notes: P&t

(i) Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the Group’s right to (i) ERNEETHRAERAELRE
receive consideration for work completed and not yet billed because the rights B2 5T TE m AR E e T2 KER
are conditional upon the satisfaction by the customers on the construction BHERN  REAAE@ENAGRR
works completed by the Group and the works are pending for the certification MEAEBE TR EETRES A
by the customers. The contract assets are fransferred to the frade receivables EEEEHIRAKEPRE a4
when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at the time the BEREFKRAEGRERFGEERAR
Group obtains the certification of the completion construction works from the EEREFPNEDRIRETERN
customers. RER) EREE S BRI -

il Retention money receivables included in contract assets represents the il BHNEEPHERRBSELRSE
Group's right fo receive consideration for work performed because the rights REETHIRKBMRENES - R
are conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers REBENERZEPRALQMA
over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts. The contract assets are ENETHEANHREEEREER
transferred to the trade receivables when the rights become unconditional, FAMEE - GHEERENKAER
which is typically at the expiry date of the period for the provision of assurance HREBEANEEG EEITHESE
by the Group on the service quality of the construction works performed by the T2 MRISE SRR F K HIBR 2 me)
Group. HREE SRR o

lil ~ The movement (excluding those arising from increase and decrease both i) RAEFERBHMGREEREI55R
occurred within the same year) of contract assets from contracts with AEZBRFAENEEZ2E (TRIE
customers within HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows: B — & & N E 4 2380 KR 4 Fr sl

BeEH)WT
2022 2021
—=-— —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
At the beginning of the reporting period RS ER A 92,359 142,822
Transfer fo frade receivables BEREE D EWERR (51,543) (116,536)
Recognition of revenue Wz iR 53,287 64,981
(Provision for) Reversal of loss allowance EBEEE (GHR) B o (46) 1,092
At the end of the reporting period R HR R 94,057 92,359

14(a) Expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract 14(0) S EERFEHIRE 245
assets B

The Group classifies these confract assets as current because the
Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle. At 31
March 2022, the unbilled revenue and retention money receivables
included in the contract assets that are expected to be recovered
after more than 12 months are approximately HK$24,106,000 (2021:
HK$25,149,000).
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14.

15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B HRRMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE

CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED) 4. EHREE®E
14(b) Allowance for ECL Ab) FHEIEEBIRBE
The movement in the provision for loss allowance for contract assets BREAEBEREBNBREBEZS N
is as follows: N
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
FTHET FHIT
At the beginning of the reporting period MRS H ) 46 1,138
Provision for (Reversal of] loss allowance B R T IE () 46 (1,092)
At the end of the reporting period R E B 92 46
CONTRACT COSTS 15. BHMA
2022 2021
—Eg-= B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Cost fo fulfil contracts: BRI :
Materials kil 7,469 4,053

Contract costs capitalised relate to materials acquired to be used in
satisfying or continuing to satisfy performance obligations of respective
construction contracts in the future. Contract costs are recognised as part
of cost of services in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the year in which revenue from the related
construction contracts is recognised.

BB KBRS AR AR BT
BEEGTERESNOBNORTHE
o 0 FTUCR O 1 EL A B © 2 KOBCAR IR
RRIEMRES HRAT NREA R
AR AR EBRARARR BB
R~ -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T--_F=A=+—HILFE

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 16. B EMARAREAMESRMX
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Note HK$000 HK$'000
B 5t FHET FAT
Trade payables B 5 ETIR™A 16(a) 4,712 10,471
Other payables H A RS BR X
Salaries and other employee benefits  F& < 3 Bl &2 H {th & & 18 7
payables 25,679 34,390
Accruals and other payables FEETB A R EAMmEM R 2,305 2,987
27,984 37,377
32,696 47,848
16(a) Trade payables 16(a) & 5 IR
The trade payables are non-interest bearing and the Group is BHRNERARE  MAKH
normally granted with credit term up 1o 90 days. —RERRZIOEMEER-
At the end of the year, the ageing analysis of the trade payables RER EREZHHNEFHE
based on invoice date is as follows: MR EREDITNT
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FiERT FAT
Within 60 days 60BN 1,309 5,544
6110 90 days 61290 H 1,340 3,337
Over 90 days #3890 H 2,063 1,590
4,712 10,471
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B HRRMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-—_FZA=+—RALEE

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 7. stEEBE
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT
Current TED
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand B 4% B Sk £ 2 (&8 7 SRIT{E
clause 51,202 42,135

In November 2019 and February 2020, the Group had drawn down loans
from the bank with principal amounts of HK$5,000,000 and HK$11,821,000
respectively which bear interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
("HIBOR") plus 3% per annum and HIBOR plus 1.5% per annum respectively.
The loans were repaid in full during the year ended 31 March 2022.

In February and March 2021, the Group had drawn down loans from the
bank with principal amount of HK$20,000,000 and HK$19,900,000, which
bear interest at HIBOR plus 3% per annum and 2.67% per annum and
maturing in February 2022 and June 2022 respectively. However, the loans
were repaid in full during the year ended 31 March 2022 even one of the
loans was not matured.

In June 2021, the Group had drawn down a revolving loan from the bank
with principal amount of HK$20,000,000 maturing in June 2022 and bear
interest at HIBOR plus 3% per annum.

In November, November and December 2021, the Group had drawn down
loans from the bank with principal amount of HK$9,850,000, HK$9,850,000
and HK$10,000,000, which all bear interest at HIBOR plus 1.5% per
annum, and maturing in November 2022, January 2023 and March 2023
respectively.

RZBE—NF+—AR-E=-FTF =
A $Elﬁfﬁﬁﬁm$i%§ B A
5,000,000 % 7T % 11,821,000 7T 2 &
o oRREBBRTEERE (5
IRITRIZEIRB ) IN3% B FFI=R & FE
RITRIEFRBIISLHFER R E -
ZEEROCRBE-_E- =7
=t HILEFEEEEE -

RZEBE-Z—F-_AR=ZR ~XEEM
FITIR VA € B8 9 Bl A 20,000,000 %5
JC 519,900,000 T 2 B3 - 2 BB
817 [F) 2 9 2 00 3% K2 2.67% HY 4 FI| &
FEERDRARZEZ_F_AR=E
ZZFENAHB AN REERE
RBE-_ZTE-__F=ZA=+—HIEF

EREEE BFEEF-—HEFER
FIEf -
RZEBE-—FXA AEBEBETIR

B AN 4 %8 /420,000,000 T 2 fEiE &
TOOERZZEZ__FXNAFEHLIRE
BIRITREREMIBHFFRE -

RZBZ—F+—H +T—Ak+=
A AEBMRRITIRRASED R
79,850,000 7T + 9,850,000/ 7T &
10,000,000 8 7T 2 B 5%+ IR B A RIT
BEEFBE IS FR KRB R
RZEZ=ZF+—RB ZF=Z=F—
AR_-_Z_=F=RA%H-

RESEZERER AR F¥ 2021/22
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Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T--_F=A=+—HILFE

17.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

In March 2022, the Group was granted a tax loan from the bank with
principal amount of approximately HK$9,494,000, which bears interest at
HIBOR plus 2.5% per annum and is fully repayable in March 2023.

The above interest-bearing borrowings are secured by corporate
guarantee provided by the Company.

At 31 March 2022, the weighted average effective interest rate on the
interest-bearing borrowings is 2.6% (2021: 3.8%) per annum.

Interest-bearing borrowings of HK$51,202,000 at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$42,135,000), with a clause in their terms that gives the lender an
overriding right to demand repayment without notice or with notice period
of less than 12 months at its sole discretion, are classified as current
liabilities even though the directors do not expect that the lenders would
exercise their rights to demand repayment.

Analysis of the amount due based on scheduled payment dates set out
in the loan agreement (ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand
clause) is as follow:

17.

STEREE @)

RZB-_F=f AEBEERLXS
#249739,494,000/8 TR TR IA & 7 - 4%
B IRITREFEIR BN 2.5% 8 F A =5+
BUWEAR_ZT_=ZF=FAFHEE-

PR BEERAABRGZEEE
REIEI -

KRB —F=ZA=+—H 5B
EZMEFHEBRNEAEEF2.6%(=
T —4 :38%)

R-ZE-_—F=ZA=+—H TE#
B 551,202,000/ T (ZF — —4F:
421350008 7) - AR BE —KkEE
BERETFTERABEEUR L EBN
SR+ —EAABMPNERT 24
MEELREEE BREESEHE
RARGITEEEFREREE  HE
EBEENCREARDAE -

HEREMNF AR MO B NER
B (BEEMRERERZZE)
LN

2022 2021

—E=-= T —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one year —FRr 51,202 22,235
In the second year = - 19,900
51,202 42,135

During the year, the Group entered into a credit facility with a bank for
an aggregate amount of HK$18,000,000 that was secured by personal
guarantees given by a director of the Company. No loan has been drawn
down in relation to it.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has available and unutilised facilities from
the bank amounted to HK$46,498,000 (2021: HK$20,100,000).
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e B HRRMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE

LEASES LIABILITIES 18. HEA®E

The Group as lessee: AEEERREA :

2022 2021
s —E-—

HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Current portion ENE S 588 1,122
Non-current portion FEMRENE D 69 476
657 1,598

The Group has recognised the following amounts for the year:

AERBERFABIUTRE

2022 2021

—E-—= —E-—F

HK$000 HK$'000

FERT T

Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAR 1,169 926
Interest expenses MEF 54 81
Total cash outflow for leases HMER e R BT 1,223 1,007

The Group discounted lease payment using its incremental borrowing rate

of 5% (2021: 5%).

7R SR [ {5 R HOE SR B K

ME5% (==

——F 5% BRBRAEENR -

AEEEERABRA R F3k 2021/22
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Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T--_F=A=+—HILFE

19. DEFERRED TAXATION 19. IEIERBIE
The following is the analysis of recognised deferred tax assets (liabilities) for MUBHREMES U TAEEREE
financial reporting purposes: MIBAE (BB O :
Assets Liabilities
BE =N
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E- —E-—F Z—ZE-C T —F
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET FERT T
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) BERIREE (BE) 3,750 4,492 (3,393) (4,294)
Offsetting Ci (3,393) (4,135) 3,393 4,135
Net deferred tax assefs (liabilities)  EEFIBEE (BE)
R 357 357 = (159)

The following is the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised and
movements thereon during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021:

MTE@i_EZZE&_Y_ $
A+ BLEFENEERE
ERIEEE (BE) RHEZE) !

Depreciation
Tax losses ECL  allowances Total
TE B

BiIEE e FEEE mERE et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TFET TAT FTAT
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-_TF=H

=+—H - 357 (159) 198

Credit to profit or loss FFAEZ 4135 - (4,135) -
At 31 March 2021 and 1April 2021 R-ZT - —F= )EJ

—t—BRZZT=—F

mAH—H 4,135 357 (4,294) 198

Credit o profit or loss FFAEE (742) - 901 159
At 31 March 2022 MR-ZZT-——F=H1

=+—H 3,393 357 (3,393) 357

The Group has not recognised tax losses of HK$5,819,000 (2021:
HK$2,461,000) as deferred tax assets as it is not probable that sufficient
profits will be available to allow the tax losses to be utilised in the
foreseeable future. The tax losses do not expire under current tax
legislation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 March 2022

BE-_Z-_—_F=A=1+—RHILEE

20. SHARE CAPITAL 20. BRZA
Number of
shares Amount
BHEE -t
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREENEBITHNEBER Note HK$'000
M3 FAET
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2020 R-ZZE-_FFIMAH—H 38,000,000 380
Increase in authorised share capital A RERR AN IE AN 20(a) 3,962,000,000 39,620
At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and R-E-_—F==+—H "
31 March 2022 —E-_—FWPA—HK
—E-_F=H=+—H 4,000,000,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITRHAR:
At 1 April 2020 R-ZZE-_FTFIMAH—H 1,100 —*
Issue of shares pursuant to the RIER D EEHTRD
Share Offer 20(c) 400,000,000 4,000
Issue of shares pursuant to the BIEE N BITEITIRG
Capitalisation Issue 20(b) 1,199,998,900 12,000
At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and R-_E-_—F=A=+—H "
31 March 2022 —E-—FMYA—BK
—E-—F=H=+—H 1,600,000,000 16,000
* Represent amounts less than HK$1,000. * S FEMN0008 T
20(a)Pursuant to the resolution in writing of the Company’s shareholders 0B BERARAIRER-_ZT_ZTF
passed on 7 September 2020, inter-alia, the authorised share HhE+BEBHNEEMAZE
capital of the Company was increased from HK$380,000 divided info (EhAaE) XD M ETR
38,000,000 shares of par value of HK$0.01 each to HK$40,000,000 2K 3% 8 % Hh 88 58 3962 000,000
divided into 4,000,000,000 shares of par value of HK$0.01 each B RE 15 £5380,00058 7T (5 5B

by the creation of an additional 3,962,000,000 shares and the

38,000,000 A% & % m (& 0.0175 7t
Capitalisation Issue (as defined below) was conditionally approved. B R o

79 A% 17 ) 3 Z= 40,000,000 % 7T (5
7 4,000,000,000 % & A% M & 0.01
BITERD) REGEREER
{LET(EERT) °

FEEERRERAR £5 202122 159
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Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T--_F=A=+—HILFE

20. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 20. BRAR (&)

20b)REARBABRRR_-_F_FFN

20(b)Pursuant to the resolution in writing of the Company’s shareholders

passed on 7 September 2020, subject to the share premium account
of the Company being credited as a result of the offering of the
Company’s shares, the directors of the Company were authorised
to allot and issue a tfotal of 1,199,998,900 shares of HK$0.01 each
to the existing shareholders, credited as fully paid at par by way of
capitalisation of the sum of HK$11,999,989 standing to be credit of the
share premium account of the Company (the “Capitalisation Issue”)
and the shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to this resolution
shall carry the same rights as all shares in issue (save for the right to
participate in the Capitalisation Issue). The Capitalisation Issue was
fully completed on 29 September 2020.

20(c) On 29 September 2020, the shares of the Company were listed on

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and 400,000,000 new ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each were issued at HK$0.35 per share by way of
share offer ("Share Offer”). The gross proceeds from the Share Offer
amounted to HK$140,000,000. The expenses attributable to issues of
shares pursuant to the Share Offer of approximately HK$32,935,000
were recognised in the share premium account of the Company.

RESERVES

21(a) Share Premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds from
issuance of the Company’s shares over its par value. Under the laws
of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s Articles of Association,
it is distributable to the Company’s shareholders provided that the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

21(b) Capital reserve

Capital reserve of the Group represents the aggregate amount of
the issued and paid-up share capital of the entities now comprising
the Group before completion of the reorganisation for the listing of
the Company’s shares in 2020 less consideration paid to acquire the
relevant interests (if any) in relation to the reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R RMEE

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE

22. CASH USED IN OPERATIONS . REARSE
2022 2021
—E2-= B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Profit before tax B 4 AT S A 34,465 69,907
Adjustments for: MATEBEELAE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - = MR ETE 15,060 7,558
Finance costs BF 75 PR AR 1,145 468
Reversal of impairment loss on Z 5 W RSB REEE R
trade receivables (2,655) (510)
Provision for (Reversal of) impairment losson & %94 & R (B 85 18 B 55 (3¢ [a1)
contract assets 46 (1,092
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - HEREHHEE
equipment - 15
Operating cash flows before movement in HEECEPAINKERERE
working capital 48,061 76,346
Change in working capital: EEECED:
Increase in frade and other receivables 2 5 R R R H At
JRE UK BR SR N (36,012) (86,647)
(Increase) Decrease in contract assets BHAERE (EM) L (1,744) 51,555
Increase in contract costs B KIS N (3,416) (1,614)
Decrease in trade and other payables B SRR R EAM
FETER FUR A (15,152) (84,736)
Cash used in operations REMMAE (8,263) (45,096)

AEEEERABRA R F3k 2021/22
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Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T--_F=A=+—HILFE

23. RELATED PARTY/CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 23. BBt BERS
(a) Related party transactions () BAEEA RSB

The Group has following related party transactions during the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021:

AEERBEE_ZE-_—_FK-_F
—T—F=ZA=+—BLFEEM
TR AR :

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Repayment of lease liabilitiesto a group of  M—#HLFAABERERE - &
lessors in which a director of the Company & * ARG EE LKA RAE R —
and certain family members of another BEFRZETRIEK BRI
director of the Company have ownership & E A Fr A HEHE LS
interest in an underlying asset 480 435
(b) Remuneration for key management personnel (including b) AEEEFEEBAS(BEE
directors) of the Group ) &
2022 2021
—Eg-= T —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FiExT FAT
Salaries, allowances and other benefits in -~ ¥4 -~ 3285 R H i ¥4E 7
kind 7,247 7,497
Discrefionary bonus BB IEAL = -
Contributions to defined contribution plans & %8 Z T &I A 70 105 126
7,352 7,623

Further details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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e IS ERERMIGE

Year ended 31 March 2022

BE-_Z-_—_F=A=1+—RHILEE

24. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS 24. BeREWHMER
(@) Maijor non-cash transactions ) FEFRLXH
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group entered BE_ZE_—_F#r-_FT-—
into lease arrangements in respect of right-of-use assets with a —“A=1+—HBLtFE KxEER
total capital value at the inception of the leases of approximately HERBKRERNLEINOR
HK$228,000 and HK$919,000 respectively. 228,000 7 7T & 919,000 % 7T #

REEETLHERH -

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities b) METFHELNEEYHER
The movements in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing AEEREETHEENBERE
activities during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as 2T E-FR_FT-—F=H
follows: =t+—HLEFENEHOT

Non-cash changes
FREEH

Additions to

property,
At 1 April Net plant and At 31 March
2021 cash flows equipment 2022
R-ZEZ-% Reng REME RZIBZZF
mA—H #E  BERRE Z=ZA=t-8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
T TET TERT TERT

Year ended 31 March 2022 HE-Z--F=R
=t-ALEE

Inferest-bearing borrowings HTEEE 42,135 9,067 = 51,202
Lease liabilities HEAR 1,598 (1,169) 228 657
43,733 7,898 228 51,859
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Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T--_F=A=+—HILFE

24. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) 24. BeEREVEMER (&)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities b) METHELENEEHIERE)
(Continued)
Non-cash changes
FEEED
Additions to
property,

At April Net plant and At 31 March

2020 cash flows equipment 2021

R-Z_FF HeRg  AEME RIF-—F

MA—H 8 BER®RHE =RA=t+-8

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

TET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE-Z--f=A

=t-BLFE

Due fo the Ultimate Controlling Party &1 & 4% 2% 7 7008 174 (174) - -

Inferest-bearing borrowings FEEE 15,100 27,035 - 42,135

Lease liabilities HERE 1,605 (926 919 1,598

16,879 25,935 919 43,733

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 25. BIEKREEBERBER

The Group’s financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables,
contract assets, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables,
lease liabilities and interest-bearing borrowings. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management of the Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a
timely and effective manner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[CONTINUED)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group does not have any written
risk management policies and guidelines. However, the management
meets regularly and co-operates closely with key management to identify
and evaluate risks and generally adopts conservative strategies on its risk
management and limits the Group’s exposure to these risks to a minimum
as follows:

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates
primarily to the Company’s bank balances and cash and interest-bearing
borrowings. The Company’s policy is to manage its inferest cost using the
source of funds with the most favourable terms and befter monitor its cash
flow by eliminating unnecessary finance costs.

Sensitivity analysis has not been disclosed because the directors consider
that any reasonable changes in interest rates would not have a significant
impact on the results and equity of the Group for the year.

Credit risk

Credit risk is defined as the risk that one party to a financial instrument
will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an
obligation. The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position, which is net of impairment
losses, represents the Group’s exposure to credit risk without taking into
account the value of any collateral held or other credit enhancements. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily aftributable to trade and other receivables,
confract assets and bank balances and cash.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with customers

The Group frades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group monitored on
an ongoing basis and follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In this regard, the management considers that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

25.

e B HRRMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE
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Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with customers
(Continued)

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer. The default risk of the industry and
country in which customers operate also has an influence on credit risk but
to a lesser extent. Credit evaluations focus on the customer’s past history
of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer operates.

At 31 March 2022, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as
approximately 23% (2021: 33%) of the total frade receivables and contract
assets was due from the Group’s largest trade debtor, and approximately
80% (2021: 82%) of the total trade receivables and contract assets was due
from the Group’s five largest trade debtors.

The Group’s customer base consists of a wide range of customers and
the trade receivables and contract assets are categorised by common
risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities to
pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. The Group
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets and recognises loss allowances based on lifetime ECL at
each reporting date and has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment. The expected loss
rate used in the provision matrix is calculated for each category based on
actual credit loss experience over the expected lives of the trade receivables
and contract assefs and adjusted for current and forward-looking factors
to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over
which the historical data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s estimate on future economic conditions over the expected lives
of the financial assets. There was no change in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions made during years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 March 2022

BE-_Z-_—_F=A=1+—RHILEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 25. KEMEEEERBEKR ®)
(CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued) =EREE(E)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with customers BEHRBERREFEHNEENELN
(Continued) BEE)

The information about the exposure to credit risk for frade receivables and FREBGREELENEBRE ZEIER
contract assets using a provision matrix is summarised below: FREHNEEFERRNERNT

Gross  Impairment

Average carrying loss Credit-

loss rate amounts allowance impaired
WERE

FHERE REALE BB FERE

HK$000 HK$000
TERT TiERT

At 31 March 2022 R-ZBZZHF=ZA=+—H
Trade receivables Z 5 EBARR
— Not past due — 3 % 380 HA 0.10% 7,945 (8) No £
— Less than 30 days past due — @ H > 30 H 0.10% 26,083 (25) No £
— 3110 60 days past due —#HI31E 60 H 0.10% 27,991 (27) No &
— 6110 90 days past due —EH61E 90 R 0.32% 46,110 (148) No &
— Past due over 90 days but —# R M 90 BB

less than 1year NS 0.36% 144,045 (520) No &
—Past due over 1year (Note (i) — %0 ER#B @145 (MIEE () 13.22% 12,115 (1,601) Yes B
Total frade receivables (Note 13) & 5 F& Ya BR 3R 48 %8 (M4 7E13) 264,289 (2,329)
Contract assefs (Note 14) &R EE (MixE14) 0.10% 94,149 (92) No &

358,438 (2,421)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R RMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HILFE

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 25. B EREREBERBUER#)
(CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued) S8R ()
Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with customers BEORBERREFEHNEENELN
(Continued) BEE)
Gross  Impairment
Average carrying loss Credit-
loss rate amounts allowance impaired
DERENSEC
FHEEE REAE B EERE
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
At 31 March 2021 R-ZB=-Z—-5=ZB=+—H
Trade receivables B 5 AR K
— Not past due — 3 f 60 HA 0.05% 7,784 (4) No £&
— Less than 30 days past due —# A 30 A 0.05% 41,790 (21) No #&
- 3110 60 days past due —#Hf31E 60 H 0.05% 52,703 (26) No £&
- 6110 90 days past due —BHI61E 90 H 0.27% 38,794 (105) No £
— Past due over 90 days but —m EAHEA90 A 1B
less than 1year DI1EF 0.27% 60,189 (163) No #&
—Past due over 1year (Note (i)~ — 8 EAFB 3814 (M 5E() 25.09% 18,592 (4,665) YesH
Total trade receivables (Note 13) & 5 & Y B 7k 48 58 (FF7E13) 219,852 (4,984)
Contract assefs (Note 14) BB E (H14) 0.05% 92,405 (46) No f&
312,257 (5,030)

Note (i): Included credit-impaired (but not purchased or originated) of HK$1,452,000

as at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$4,390,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)
Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Company’s other financial assets carried at amortised cost include
bank balances and cash and other receivables in the consolidated
statements of financial position. The impairment loss of other financial
assets carried at amortised cost is measured based on the 12-month
expected credit loss. The 12-month expected credit loss is the portion of
lifetime expected credit loss that results from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within twelve months after the reporting date.
However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime expected credit
loss. Management considered the bank balances and cash and other
receivables are determined to have low credit risk as counterparties have
a strong capacity to meet their contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term.

Majority of the Company’s bank balances are deposited in major
financial institutions located in Hong Kong, which are of high credit rating.
Management does not expect any losses arising from non-performance by
these counterparties.

Therefore, the Company has assessed that the expected credit losses for
these financial assets carried at amortised cost were insignificant under
12-month expected credit loss method, and therefore no provision was
recognised.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or significant
assumptions made during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

e B HRRMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 25.

(CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk

Management of the Group aims at maintaining sufficient level of cash
and cash equivalents to finance the Group’s operations and expected
expansion. The Group’s primary cash requirements include payments for
operating expenses and additions or upgrades of property, plant and
equipment. The Group finances its working capital requirements mainly by
the funds generated from operations.

The Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities at the end of each reporting
period based on contractual undiscounted payments are summarised

B ERERE B ERBUER (#)

REBE2ER

AEEEREEEER EHKTHNR
CRATEEY URAEENES
&ﬁ%ﬁ%%Tﬁ%o$%@mI£
BeRREREERIARRERTT
BYME- -BEERBHMNR  NEE
ITEREREMGERRMEHEE
BeFERe

AEEREREMRENAHARR
e T AR BERAmT

below:
Total
Total  contractual Less than
carrying undiscounted 1year or
amount cash flow  on demand 1-2 years
BRARER
BERE 1T
REAE BME RRER 1226
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHERT FHET
At 31 March 2022 R-ZBZZH=A=+—H
Trade and other payables Z S EMNERRREAM
FETBR R 7,017 7,017 7,017 -
Interest-bearing borrowings ATEEE 51,202 51,202 51,202 =
Lease liabilities HERE 657 672 602 70
58,876 58,891 58,821 70
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e B HRRMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 25. KEMEEEERBEKR ®)
(CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (Confinued) REBELEMR ()
Total
Total  contractual Less than
carrying undiscounted 1year or
amount cash flow  on demand 1-2 years
BHRIRALER
RERE TFLAT
RE#E G FIRER 1224
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET FHET
At 31 March 2021 R-ZBZ-F=ZB=+—H
Trade and other payables B o EMNERRREAM
e BR X 13,458 13,458 13,458 -
Interest-bearing borrowings ATEEE 42,135 42,135 42,135 -
Lease liabilities HERE 1,598 1,665 1173 492
57,191 57,258 56,766 492

The amounts repayable under loan agreement that include a clause
that gives the lenders the unconditional right to call the loan at any time
are classified under the “on demand”. In this regard, interest-bearing
borrowings of HK$51,202,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$42,135,000)
have been so classified even though the directors do not expect that the
lenders would exercise their rights to demand repayment and thus these
borrowings (including the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows)
would be repaid according to the following schedule as set out in the loan

agreement:

EXpR (BEh TERAREMAE
BEWE R EEERERNZ G E
TRZREEESESBEAIIERENRE
El-BUhmE BEEEHEHEX
AT EITHEREESERZER
MR B —F=ZA=+—HZ:E
f& B 51,202,000 8L (Z T = —4F :
42,135,000 70) E &S E - At - it
ZEE(BEASEMNERSRTEE)
BIRBEERWBZEET 2 A T ZHER

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT

Interest-bearing borrowings FTEEE
Within one year —F R 51,663 23,141
In the second year MNE=F - 20,032
51,663 43,173

AEEEERABRA R F3k 2021/22
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BB HRR M

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-T-_—_F=RA=+—HILLFE

25.

26.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
[CONTINUED)

Fair value of financial instruments

In the opinion of management of the Group, the carrying amounts of the
financial assets and liabilities of the Group carried at amounts are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard
its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital and to support the Group’s
stability and growth. The management considers the total equity as
disclosed in the consolidated statements of financial position as the Group’s
capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder returns, taking into
consideration the future capital requirements of the Group. In order to
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or return capital
to shareholders. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Pursuant to the disclosure requirement of the Companies Ordinance, the
statement of financial position of the Company and the movements in its

reserves are set out below:

e B HRRMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHFE

27. RRBFHARREK

BREBARGHNRESR T AAAN
MBRRKR R EFERESEHI T

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
Note HK$000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FHExT FHET
Non-current assets FRBERE
Investment in subsidiaries RETBARMIRE 27(a) —* —*
Current assets RBEE
Amount due from immediate holding & E % 12 i% A A1 708
company 27(b) = =*
Amount due from a subsidiary FE M —FE B B A B 5k IR 27(b) 104,387 103,794
Bank balance and cash WITHB LIRS 195 2,196
104,582 105,990
Current liability REAE
Other payable H e IR 200 200
NET ASSETS EEFE 104,382 105,790
Capital and Reserve BERRFE
Share capital [ 20 16,000 16,000
Reserves & 27(c) 88,382 89,790
TOTAL EQUITY B 104,382 105,790
* Represent amounts less than HK$1,000. * ©FAHN,0008 T ©
The statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022 was approved and HE_ZT-_—_F=A=1+—HB2¥%

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2022 and signed

on its behalf by

Leung Yam Cheung

PR
Director

EF

HREER -_E-——&FXA=-+1H
EEEoHETRERE  BEAUT
BERKRER:

Leung Wing Hoi

R
Director

EF

AEEEERABRA R F3k 2021/22
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e R RMEE
Year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HILFE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

[CONTINUED)

27(a)Investment in subsidiaries

27.

Investment in subsidiaries represents 100% of the issued share
capital of Evergreen, Everbright and Evergrow (as defined in note 28
to the consolidated financial statements) together with the par value
of the shares issued by the Company pursuant to the Reorganisation.

27(b) Amount due from immediate holding company/a

subsidiary

The amounts due are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free

and repayable on demand.

RAB I AR TR (42

27(a) RIIE R BIHVIRE

H B E & RI#Y % & 15 Evergreen
Everbright } Evergrow (i€ & R 45
G BHFEWE28) B BITRA
B100%:E R BHEEAARALQEE
BITIRIDEVEE -

27b) B EEEZER AR,
—FEM B 2RI

EZ,?#XIEEJE‘”%IEE A
géu%\&//\?ﬁztj:15 R

27(c) Reserves of the Company 27(c) A X BIRIE1E
Share Share Accumulated
capital premium profits  Total equity
[N IR 1R E E- iyl R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
(Note 20)  (Note 21(al)
(BF5E20) (BT 210a)
At 1 April 2020 R-ZZE-ZFWA—H —* - —* —*
Loss and fotal comprehensive  FAEE R 2E K2
income for the year & - - (1,275) (1,275)
Transactions with owners EHEBAETHRS
Contributions and distributions 11 & R 5 /LE
Issue of shares pursuant to Share 18 1% % 17 2%
Offer 4,000 136,000 - 140,000
Issue of shares pursuant to the 1R & B AL 36173617 /%
Capitalisation Issue ) 12,000 (12,000) - -
Transaction cost atfributable to B 77 A {7 FEA5 52 5 Ak A
issue of shares - (32,935) - (32,935)
16,000 91,065 - 107,065
At 31 March 2021 RZE=Z—F=A
=+—H 16,000 91,065 (1,275) 105,790
At 1 April 2021 RZE-Z—FMHA—H 16,000 91,065 (1,275) 105,790
Loss and total comprehensive AT E 1B &k 2 W&
income for the year FEk - - (1,408) (1,408)
i S
At 31 March 2022 =+—H 16,000 91,065 (2,683) 104,382
* Represent amounts less than HK$1,000. * S FDF1,0008 7T ©
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28. SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries at end of the reporting period are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R RMEE

Year ended 31 March 2022

BE-_ZT-—_FZA=+—RALEE

28. MIEB~E]

RBEMRMBABNFITEINAT

Place of
incorporation Equity interests held by
and operations  Paid up capital the Company Principal activities
i 1t 2 BERA AR REHFAE N R E FTEEK
Directly Indirectly
HiE fE

Evergreen Construction The BVI Nil 100% - Investment holding
Development Holding Limited /@B Z Bt S i KEERK
(‘Evergreen”) ([ Evergreen |)

Everbright Construction The BVI Nil 100% - Investment holding
Engineering Holding Limited ~ B R Z B S i REER
(“Everbright”) ([ Everbright ])

Evergrow Construction Equipment The BVI Nil 100% — Investment holding
Holding Limited (‘Evergrow’)  HREBE XA S s KEERK
(TEvergrow])

Temmex Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Provision of formwork
(“Temmex’) B 10,000 % 7T works services

REIRABRAF(TRED RAERIR T2 R

Temmex Brothers Engineering Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Provision of formwork
Limited (“Temmex Brothers”) B8 10,0007 T works services

REALBIRERERAA REER TRERS
(TRERZE]D

Kennex Scaffolding System Co.,  Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Supply of metal scaffold
Limited ("Kennex”) E 10,0005 7T equipment and

BENBRAFRBERRAR]
(sl

related parts
HETBBRRER
HESH

RESEZERER AR F¥ 2021/22
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Five-year Financial Summary

FEMFEHE
Year ended 31 March
BEZ=ZA=1+—HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—ZE—-- 2o —F ZE2-FTF ZT-hF ZE—N\HF
HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&T FHET FHET FET FET
Result B
Revenue WA 538,355 534,280 434,624 505,188 415,323
Cost of services AR 7% B A< (482,213) (462,381) (355,377) (416,686) (358,196)
Gross profit EF 56,142 71,899 79,247 88,502 57,127
Other income HadA - 21,458 261 1,060 6
Administrative and other TR EMEE
operating expenses F (20,532) (17,303) (12,334) (9,807) (7,259)
Finance costs B 7% B AR (1,145) (468) (176) (48) (39)
Listing expenses eyl - (5,679) (18,136) (2,128) -
Profit before tax BR 3 A0 % F) 34,465 69,907 48,862 77,579 49,835
Income tax expenses Fris i (5,678) (9,299) (10,856) (13,103) (8,081)
Profit and total comprehensive FREFMREZE
income for the year U 4858 28,787 60,608 38,006 64,476 41,754
Attributable to: LU A LAk
The owners of the Company ZAN/NSIETF DN 28,787 60,608 38,006 64,476 41,754
Non-controlling interests SEfE R A - - - - -
28,787 60,608 38,006 64,476 41,754
As at 31 March
R=R=+—-H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—ZE-- 2o —F ZEZTF —T-hhEF ZE-N\HF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&T FHET FET FET FET
Assets and Liabilities EEREE
Non-current assets IERBEE 38,833 45,827 7,548 10,944 16,569
Current assets MENEE 405,913 383,151 332,023 170,175 146,214
Total Assets BERE 444,746 428,978 339,571 181,119 162,783
Current liabilities RBaE 84,486 96,939 174,677 54,571 63,752
Non-current liabilities EREBAE 69 635 1163 823 1,782
Total Liabilities BEMARE 84,555 97,574 175,840 55,394 65,534
Net assets BEFE 360,191 331,404 163,731 125,725 97,249
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